Official No. : A. G. 1946

Geneva, October 1945.

LEAGUE OF NATIONS

REPORT

ON THE

WORK OF THE LEAGUE DURING THE WAR

submitted to the Assembly by the Acting Secretary-General

Series of League of Nations Publications
GENERAL
1945. 2.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction
I. ECONOMIC, FINANCIAL AND TRANSIT QUESTIONS
1. The Machinery of International Economic Co-
operation
2. War-time Re-orientation of Work
3. The Princeton Mission
4. Economic Intelligence Work
5. Studies relating to Post-war Problems
6. The Work of the Delegation on Economic Depressions
7. The Work of the Standing Committees
8. Relations with Governments and Intergovernmental
Agencies
9. Work in hand or contemplated
10. Communications and Transit
II. QUESTIONS OF A SOCIAL AND HUMANITARIAN CHARACTER:
1. Health Ouestions
2. Control of the Drug Traffic:
Present International Organisation
I. Situation at the Outbreak of War
II. Measures to safeguard Drug Control in War-
time and to adapt the Work to War Conditions
III. Summary of Work during the War Period . 8
IV. Special Developments during the War
3. Social Questions
4. Slavery

5. International Assistance to Refugees 110 6. Settlement of the Assyrians of Iraq 115

Page

	Nations and China	11
	(a) Anti-epidemic Work	11
	(b) Other Aspects of Technical Collaboration in	
	1939 and 1940	11
	(c) Liquidation	11
ш.	Mandates	12
IV.	Intellectual Co-operation	12
v.	QUESTIONS OF A LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE CHARACTER:	
	1. Legal Questions:	
	(a) Registration and Publication of Treaties and International Engagements	12
	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of	13
	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations	13
	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of	
	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations (d) League of Nations Committees	13 13 13
	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations	13
VI.	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations (d) League of Nations Committees	13 13 13
vı.	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspiece of the League of Nations (z) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations	13 13 13 13
vı.	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspieces of the League of Nations	13 13 13 13 13
VI.	Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspiese of the League of Nations . (c) Powers confurred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations Committees (c) Study of the Legal Status of Women 2. League Budget . 3. The Staff of the Secretariat . Lunaarv . 1. Collections	13 13 13 13 14

INTRODUCTION

The peoples of the world, searching for means to avoid the inhumanity and felly of war constantly becoming more terrible and destructive, made a covenant and a league of peace. They did not keep the covenant; they broke the league; and a new warms smashed across Europe and leagued the oceans. Aggression and ambition, on one side, timidity of Governments and short-righted vision of the peoples themselves, on the other, led straight to the statetrophe.

The League of Nations as an organisation no doubt had faults. but it is dangerous nonsense to say that war came because of those faults. The League did not fail; it was the nations which failed to use it. That is the lesson of the last ten years and it is a vital and terrible warning for the next ten years. The old League of Nations is going and the new League takes the centre of the world's stage. Whether, in many respects, it is better than the machine which is being discarded is not the most important thing. Success will depend on how it is used, on the justice, wisdom and courage of leaders and, above all, on the vision and determination of the common people. Such truisms cannot be too often repeated in view of the immensity of the task which again faces humanity. The new generation of builders and makers must not be misled into thinking that any defect in the ideals or organisation of the League of Nations was the cause of humanity's tragic failure. That failure was due rather to the statesmen and peoples of the League of Nations that contented themselves with lip-service, that could not face the lesser sacrifices to avoid the greater, and to those peoples and States which foolishly imagined they could be lookers-on. That will be the verdict of history, simplified though it may appear in the welter and tangle of international relations.

The United Nations Organisation, launched only a few months ago, is already a vital and great reality. Its Charter points the way

to peace and freedom and progress. There is no alternative to this way; it is a continuation of the first effort to organise nations to help and to protect themselves and others. The League might have been reconstructed, thus avoiding many complications, but that was apparently impossible for political reasons. A start is again made, with a new name, a new Covenant, possibly a new seat : but the problems remain the same, the objects are unchanged, and methods cannot greatly differ. Above all, the United Nations will begin its work with the superlative advantage of the co-operation of all the World Powers-including, for the first time, the United States of America. Whatever clouds may cross the sky of international affairs, the future is assured while their neonles are inspired by the principles of the preamble to the Charter and contribute their force, their genius and their political maturity to the common cause. On these peoples, above all, responsibility rests, but the less powerful nations must take their share of duties just as they will and must assert their rights in a free world. All this is now possible. We must have hope and belief, but we cannot rely on these alone; each must give his share in creating confidence in one another; and the onward march of humanity, stirred by ideals and guided by moral principles, will be resumed.

Until the agreement of Dumbarton Oaks, enlarged and confirmed by the Conference of San Francisco, the future of the League was uncertain. Apart from the valuable services being given in the non-political field, it was necessary to keep the framework of the organisation in reserve, even though many political provisions in the Covenant were virtually in suspense. Only on the adoption of the Charter of the United Nations in 1945 did the possible political value of the League disappear. The necessity for the so-called "technical" services—economic, financial, transit, health, narcotic drugs, etc.-being pursued remained as great as ever. It was on these services that the contributions received during the war were expended, and results have fully justified the policy which brought them, useful and active, through the war-years. The continuation of such activities-apart from their momentary or durable intrinsic value-was also to some extent a challenge to the forces of disorder and would, it was expected, ultimately help to provide a basis for a reconstructed world organisation.

. . .

Transfer Problems.

The creation of the United Nations by fifty States (including altrivity-two Members of the League) means the services must non cease or be absorbed into the new organisation. The latter is the policy desired by the San Francisco Conference, which laid on the Preparatory Commission of the United Nations the duty to—

" formulate recommendations concerning the possible transfer of certain functions, activities, and assets of the League of Nations which it may be considered desirable for the new Organisation to take over on terms to be arranged".

The Executive Committee of the United Nations, which has been preparing in recent months for decisions on this subject, has been supplied with any information it required from the League Secretariat. While a majority of League Members constitutes also a majority of United Nations Members, it is, however, recognised that any decisions as to the future of League assets and activities must be taken by the League of Nations. The Acting Secretary-General had therefore to anticipate that a stage would be reached when discussions on the formulation of terms of transfer would be necessary. Authority from the Governments would be needed and it was first contemplated that a session of the League Assembly would be immediately summoned. Such an early meeting, however, would have been able to do little more than give the necessary authorisation for discussions and would have necessitated a second meeting shortly afterwards. After discussion with the President of the Assembly (M. C. J. Hambro), with the last President of the Council (M. Costa du Rels), and with the members of the Supervisory Commission, the Acting Secretary-General on September 20th sent the following telegram to Governments:

"States Members League Nations are aware of decisions taken at San Prancisco which onvisings replacement of League by United Nations. Executive Committee of United Nations is the Committee of United Nations of United Nations is tions concerning possible transfer of certain functions activities and assets of League which it may be considered desirable for enew Organisation to take over on terms to be arranged." The Executive Committee is at present vitting in London and it all the Committee of the Committee of the Committee provisional terms delay discuss and so far as feasible formulate provisional terms

of transfer. Those including disposal of material assets such as funds and buildings would be subject to final decision of League Assembly. I feel I shall be expressing wishes of States Members in suggesting Supervisory Commission should undertake this duty. It is specially competent in view of its knowledge of and association with League affairs under powers it has exercised in virtue of resolutions adopted by the Assembly in 1938 and confirmed in 1939. I have ascertained that subject to concurrence of States Members Supervisory Commission is willing to accept this responsibility. The Assembly will be convened early in coming year to review position and take final decisions concerning League activities. If the Governments agree with above programme it is hoped a second session of Assembly may be avoided and post-Assembly responsibilities transferred to competent body designated by the Assembly. In addition to essential preparatory work Supervisory Commission will also in pursuance of its emergency powers adopt budget for 1946 including credits for Assembly meeting. The Secretariat budget would provide for the maintenance of present non-political activities. Date of transfer is uncertain and contributing States would be credited with any unused part of their contributions appropriated for the transferred services. Provision has also to be made for terminal charges for Secretariat and Permanent Court and for full year's activity of the International Labour Organisation. In view of urgency of matter would welcome telegraphic acknowledgment of above communication with any observations Members of the League may wish to submit. As early action may be required it is desirable that I be informed if States Members agree with programme outlined above with concurrence President of Assembly and Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Supervisory Commission. Unless therefore I receive replies from Governments before October 5th I shall assume their assent to programme."

The proposed procedure proved to be acceptable and on October 15th, 195t, the Executive Committee of the United Nations was informed that a competent organ had been appointed to represent the League in my preliminary discussions which might be required, the Assembly described not to meet again after giving eneral decisions on the policy to be pursued, it will be appreciated that the application of these decisions, the solution of problem unavoidably left in suspense, will necessitate the nomination of an authority (such other properties of the contraction of the contraction of the observed to conolett the Assembly's work.

The Chairman and members of the Supervisory Commission, who throughout the war have given such distinguished and devoted

service to the interests of States Members, have not hesitated to undertake a new task in examining the proposals to be made by the United Nations Committee. The responsibilities placed upon the Commission and on the Principal Officers of the League Organisations by the Assembly when it met at the beginning of the war have been carefully and wisely discharged. The members of the Commission have added to their already considerable national burdens, political and supervisory duties, thereby placing Governments greatly in their debt. Their intimate knowledge of affairs of the League administrations indicates their special competence for the new duty they have now undertaken. It will not be a simple task, whatever method is adopted, for, while it is desirable to expedite the transfer or termination of League functions, it is unlikely that a worldwide organisation covering many fields of human activity can be closed down with the speed and procedure of a limited liability company. Political, legal and administrative problems will arise and, in most cases, satisfactory solutions must be found before the organs of the League and the Permanent Court of International Justice are replaced and the International Labour Organisation is established on a new foundation.

The League has many assets which should be preserved for the hearlist of its necessor and for the hearlist of world competation. Its present financial position is sound, as will be seen in the latest report of the Supervisory Commission. This is due to the palicy loop of drastic economy and careful administration and, above all, it is is due to those States—including some which how the heaviest own war expenses—which regularly and loyally carried out their undertakings to any contributions to the organisation.²

The substantial properties of the Lague, its numerous office and building specially constructed for housing a great international organization, its magnificent Library, represent a considerable in the international field which should be preserved for similar in the international field which should be preserved for similar purposes. It seems natural, moreover, that those States which have faithfully discharged their financial obligations should have their special rights in Lague assets fully protected.

٠.

¹ Document A.5.1946.X.

Work during the War.

During the war, the Members of the League were kept informed by the Secretary-General's annual reports of the work being done. This information was supplemented by regular reports of the Supervisory Commission and of other Committees as well as by the circulation of many Secretariat documents and studies. In spite of the military situation in 1940, it was considered that headquarters in Geneva should not be abandoned, but precautions had to be taken to safeguard some League activities. As has now been officially disclosed. Switzerland was, for several years, in constant danger of invasion. In this situation a numerous mission of economic and financial experts was in 1940 sent to the United States of America, where generous friends at Princeton, New Jersey, welcomed them and beloed them to establish a base for observation and intensive research work. 1 Under Dr. Alexander Loveday's unflagging inspiration, this mission did excellent work and earned high praise for its notable services to League and other governments. Branches of the Narcotic Drugs organs were established in Washington, D.C. Later in the same year, the Treasurer of the League, Mr. Seymour Jacklin, made a long and adventurous journey in order to reach London, which was felt to be the best seat for Treasury operations in financing the Secretariat and its missions abroad, the International Labour Office in Montreal, and the Permanent Court of International Justice. With a small staff, he shared all the dangers of life in the British capital and without his steadfast and distinguished service it is doubtful if the League could have carried on. The presence of these missions in America and Britain also served as valuable additional links with Governments in view of the facilities afforded for direct and often personal contacts. Another mission by the officer in charge of the

The Initiative was taken by Pinciente University, the Institute for Advanced Many, and the Redwickfells teredithen for Advanced Souly, part occolient of the Institute for Advanced Souly, part occolient offices of the Institute for Advanced Souly, part occolient offices at the Pincient of the Institute for Advanced Souly, part occolient offices and the use of the University Liberary. A generous assumal grant by University and the use of the University Liberary. A generous assumal grant by Carlon Control of the Institute of Inst

Lague Health Service was able to give valuable assistance to Governments and organisations when visiting the United Kingdom and Allows (Kingdom and Service) and the Contract of the Contract The Hagee was the American continent. The seat of the Court at The Hagee was temporarily abandomed when the Netherlands was invaded in 1940, of the President, one of the Judges and the Registrar with a few officials coming to Geneva.

In the meantime, at Geneva normal work had to be pursued in spite of some feeling of isolation not leasemed by the presence of undriendly forces about ten minutes' walk from the Palais dee Nations. Valuable statistics of all kinds—financial, economic, transit, health, narcotic drugs, etc.—were collected and disseminated; work was shared with the missions in America; decounsest of current and future value were prepared and published; the framework of the League was ministancial and the work was kept going in the heart of a continent vitarsilly controlled by artsagnistic forces, many controlled to the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the presence of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the meant of the controlled of the controlled of the controlled of the meant of the controlled of the

The years were heavy one for the doministration. The fallow of some Government to pay their contributions, the impractive demand for economy in order to reduce charge on Governments, added to the problems. The Secretaria budget was soon brought down to 20% of that of 1939, and the general budget for all organiations to 31%. This situation is more fully described in a note by the Acting Secretary-General published as an amous to the state of the contribution of the contribution of the contribution that note, the Acting Secretary-General published as an amous to the

"Only those who have had a similar experience could realise the quality of the task of reducing a great organisation to 20%, of its effectives and at the same time reorganising what remained to carry on its work. It will be understood that, particularly in control of the cont

pressure on the Administration for economics remained so insistent, and in some respects so necessary, that the expenditure on every item, however small, had to be squeezed to the absolute minimum. The general instruction was to live within actual income and avoid increasing the total demand on States Members. The record in the preceding pages shows how successful has been the accomplishment of this side of the Administration's task : it will also be understood. however, that the imposition of this severe policy was at times the subject of grave doubt when the political and practical value of the maintenance of the first world organisation at a still higher degree of effectiveness was placed in the balance. However the value of this administrative work may be assessed in the future, the Acting Secretary-General offers in this brief record a tribute to the devotion of his colleagues and to their loyalty to the international service. This applies equally to those who have been re-engaged in what must for the present be treated as a temporary employment.

"While the object throughout has been to combine great economies with the maintenance of an effective machine, the Secretariat of the League has not only survived but has been performing vital and most valuable duties. It is perhaps desirable again to state this in concluding a memorandum designed rather to show the substantial character of the reductions in actual expenditure. The negative fight for existence rapidly passed into a positive, real, and continuing contribution to the needs of States Members and of other Governments. This of course would have been impossible had it not been for the broad vision and constant faith shown by the leaders of a substantial number of States Members. In spite of upparalleled preoccupation with the terrific tasks imposed upon them by the world war, these Members have looked beyond the turmoil; they have not only assessed the real value of substantial immediate services being rendered but have made it materially possible for the three organs of the League of Nations-the Secretariat, the International Labour Organisation, and the International Court-to remain as a beacon and a guide until the peoples of the world had again found faith in a future of ordered peace and justice. and had an opportunity to consider the best means of reorganising international co-operation for these objects,"

The time is now approaching when the Supervisory Commission and the Principal Offices can report back to the Assembly on the discharge of the duties laid upon them in 1939 and 1940. Many things will have greatly changed and the importance of such tables were possible will therefore now be differently assessed. The belief that the foundering of the Longue in the "hack years", as a result of physical or moral shortcoming, would have meant failing on the solitical front was an inscrincing conviction.

"The fact", wrote one statesman, then carrying a great war burden, that you are still keeping the flag flying at Geneva has, quite apart from the technical work which the Secretariat can still usefully do, a moral and political significance which could perhaps only be accurately measured if you were obliged to haul it down.

This aspect of the situation, however important, had to be kept in the background, and all the monies available and all the energy of willing and loyal colleagues had to be directed into non-political channels, the extent and value of which may be partly estimated from the list of publications at the end of this Report.

Assets and Activities.

Whatever the problems connected with the transfer of activities, assets and liabilities from one international organisation to another, it is thought that Governments generally will recognise the value of the heritage. Men and women who have been trained for years to serve internationally will be available for service with the United Nations. Whether they are still in the Secretaria or the Court Service or have left for national work, their unusual experience will no doubt commend them to the new authorities.

There seems to be no reason why the archives of the Leagueter result of twenty-few years of collecting, classification, and study—should not be a foundation stone for the new Secretariat. This work of elicids and commissions can be a starting-point for the fine programme of international co-operation outlined in the Canter and should be an additional help in ensuring plant there is considered to the contract of the contract

The League Harry, it has often been said, it unique in Europe The League Harry, it has often been said, it unique in Europe and the said of the said of the said of the said of the Landson and the said of the said of the said of the said landson, the said of the said of the said of the said of the landson and the said of the said of the said of the said motern permises. Its solutetons, including, in particular, official said of the said yaccossible centre for the study of international diffrais as well as an instrument for international organisations. Its dispersion would be a great loss. The other League buildings, specially erected for international purposes after ten years' painful experience in makeshift buildings, have been kept in excellent order. If they are not immediately wanted, they might be maintained for similar use in the future and their preservation ensured, if necessary, by adequate financial provision.

As for the method by which the Mandates system can be replaced by the Trusteeship scheme outlined in the Charter, it is expected that Governments will make proposals during the League Assembly meeting. The Mandates Commission has not met for several years, but the high standard of its work has earned the graittude of all Governments. A useful survey of achievements of the Mandates system was published by the Secretarist this years.

It has been thought useful to draw up and circulate to Governmenta alist of League Commissions and Committees. * They have, without exception, earned due recognition for services rendered in international work. Some have been able to meet during the war; those which have been established by international conventions will very likely continue to exist.

very lacely continue to exact.

An important problem facing Covernments is the question of
An important problem facing Covernments is the question of
An important problem of the Laggad by internalizate treative.

Certain resulties provide only that secretarial or ministerial functions
will be failfilled by the League; the functions attributed to it by
other treatise form part of their operation. The latter at present
depends on the existence of League organs, or organs appointed by
the League. The question has been studied in two documents
used by the Secretariat *Powers and Duiss attributed us the League
of Nations to Harandsonal Terestics* and List of Conventions attribute
in Powers to the Leagues. The Executive Committee of the United
Nations is aware of the importance of the problem and will very
thely propose a system that will pound of the amendment of treation
conventions on the control of traffic in opium and other narcotic
drugs are a more obvious instance of such conventions.

¹ The Mandates System: Origin—Principles—Application (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.VI.A.I).

Document C.99.M.99.1945.V.
 Document G.3.M.3.1944.V.

¹ Document C 100 M 100 1945 V

The Court and the International Labour Organisation.

The Fernanent Court of International Justice will be replaced by the new International Court of Justice, which, like its predecessor, will at in the city of The Hague, a centre of the noblest peace efforts, one recurgent after five long years of oppression. To a great extent, and procedure, be the old Court under a new name. No greater homage could, it seems, be plot to the judiciary organ of the League and to the Assembly which drafted its Statute after taking the opinion of emisonic juriets. Certain questions, legal and financial, connected with the windingeny of the activities of the Permanent when the reconsidered of the Linted Nations are known.

The International Labour Organisation also is closely connected with the League. According to its Constitution, it was established at the seat of the League as part of the organisation of the League Moreover, membership of the League carrise with it membership of the International Labour Organisation and various functions are attributed to the Council and the Secretary-General is connection with the Organisation. There are also close financial ties, as the expenses of the International Labour Office and of the meetings of the Conference or Governing Body are paid to the Director of the International Labour Office and of the International Labour Office and of the League. The budget of the International Labour Office and trapt of the general budget of the League. As Government's contributions to this general budget were paid, tip reportionate share we muitted to the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International Labour Week's to rein the England of the International

entitled to ask for advances out of the League working Lapital rund.

During the war, the Supervisory Commission, acting under the

emergency powers conferred upon it by the Assembly, continued

every year to approve budgets of the International Labour Organ
isation as parts of the general budgets of the League, and monies

have never cased to be collected and remitted to the Director,

The question of legal and other links between the League and the International Labour Organisation is at present being study by the International Labour Conference. The Assembly of the League also will, it seems, have to examine the question, as well as to deal with various administrative and financial problems of interest to the International Labour Organisation. Meanwhile, the Supervisory Commission will have approved the general budget for the coming year, the greater part of which, as in recent years, consists of appropriations for the work of the International Labour Organisation. The latter should accordingly be in a normal position to pursue its activities during 1946.

Regarding the preceding and similar questions, only preparatory examination of a provisional character can be made, pending the proposals which may be transmitted by the United Nations, and of which the Assembly will be seized. The chapters of the present Report accordingly deal exclusively with the work done by various League Committees and by the Secretariat since 1940. 1 Its purpose is mainly to show how League organs have adapted themselves to war conditions, what services they have in recent years been able to render to Governments and to other international organisations, and what value can be assessed to activities which so far have been maintained.

The Report makes it clear that, contrary to what proved to be the case with the political system of the Covenant, there has been no breakdown in the so-called technical domains. The rather scanty provisions for non-political international co-operation contained in that instrument had during twenty years been so developed by League organs that they were not swept away by the war. They have, in fact, re-emerged, strengthened and extended, in the Charter of the United Nations.

٠.

The new World Organisation is, in many respects, able to "take over " from the old. When the new International Court of Justice begins functioning, it will even inherit, in virtue of Articles 36 and 37 of its Statute, part of the present competence of the Permanent Court of International Justice. The allocation of work between the Security Council and the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations has been made on lines which, to a great extent, correspond to the recommendations made by the "Bruce Committee" and adopted by the League in 1939. There are several features of the Mandates system created by the Covenant and developed by the League which reappear in the International Trusteeship scheme

¹ Sec. also. documents. 'C.41.M.38.1941, C.35.M.35.1942, C.25.M.25.1943, C.14.M.14.1945.

adopted by the San Francisco Conference. In the provisions relating to international peace and security, as well as in the respective rôles of the General Assembly and Security Council also, the experience of the League has been taken into account, and, side by side with evident divergencies, obvious similarities can be found between the Charter and the Covenant.

The first "great experiment" in international co-operation for peace and human progress has been made. Its lessons must now contribute to the success of the second experiment. The powers of

destruction which would be let loose in a new conflict do not permit the envisaging of a possible failure.

Sean LESTER.



I. ECONOMIC, FINANCIAL AND TRANSIT OUESTIONS

In 1939, the Assembly observed that "the present condition of the world renders is all the more necessary that the economic and social work of the League.... should continue on a broad a basis as possible." This chapter records the manner and the measure in which this objective has been realized as regards economic, financial and traint question. The social work is dealt with in Chapter II. The past six years have been a period of great activity for the way re-crientate, and in some discretions greated week-guest.

In 1940, the Director and certain other senior officials were transferred on mission to the United States of America and it was in consequence possible to organise a number of meetings of three of the standing committees of the Organisation and sub-committee meetings of the fourth, whilst one of the most important of the meetings of the fourth, whilst one of the most important of the Dipposition—has been called to rapplet to severk. The key peritsdical publications of the Department have been maintained and an impressive series of reports and studies, both on current commine developments and on post-war economic problems, has been prepared and published. Helstimships with Governments and with interpresentmental organisations have been cast as working and and with innovatant work in hand.

These developments will be described below: but first a word must be said about the fate of the proposals of what is generally known as the "Bruce Committee", which engaged the special attention of the 1939 Assembly, for the reorganisation of the machinery of the economic and social work of the Learne.

1. THE MACHINERY OF INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION

The 1939 Assembly had before it the Report of the Special Committee for the Development of International Cooperation in Economic and Social Affairs (the Bruce Committee), which proposed the creation of a Central Committee to unify the economic and social work of the League and take over the functions which the Council had previously excreted in regards to that work. The Bruce Committee's Report was approved by the Assembly as a "first step in the adaptation of the existing machinery of interorder of the world"; and the Assembly Bureau was requested to set up the Central Committee.

The Bureau thereupon appointed an Organising Committee, which was to form the nucleus of the future Central Committee. the States represented being the Argentine, Australia, Belgium, the United Kingdom, France, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Switzerland and Turkey. A meeting of this organising body, under the chairmanship of the late Dr. H. Coliin, was held at The Hague in February 1940, and it was proposed to hold a second meeting in the same capital in the early summer to settle the remaining appointments to the Central Committee. This intention was frustrated by the advance of the German armies. The League's efforts to reconstruct the machinery of international economic and social co-operation were, however, not lost; for the Economic and Social Council, which is to be set up under the Charter of the United Nations, is based directly on the League's experience and is, in its conception, similar to the Central Committee projected by the League in 1939/40.

2. War-time Re-orientation of Work

The Assembly discussions of the proposals of the Bruce Committee revealed a concensus of opinion among League Members:

(a) That the work of the Economic Intelligence Service, which was not only of current value but likely to be of vital importance when the time came for the reconstruction of the world's economic life after the war, must be continued;

(b) That the lessons of the twenty-years experience of the Economic and Financial Organisation should be studied and set out for future guidance; and (c) That, so far as possible, the Organisation itself should be kept intact and its programme of Committee work carried forward.

It was left to the Secretary-General, with both staff and budgetary appropriations greatly reduced, to make whatever arrangements seemed most appropriate to achieve these three desiderata. With reference to the first, it was clear that, owing to the fundamental changes caused by the war, a re-orientation of the work on current economic developments was required. Moreover, owing to the reduced volume of statistical and other information available, it would in any case have been impossible to continue the preparation of the various specialised memoranda 1 that had regularly appeared before the war. It was accordingly decided to concentrate the work on current events in the three key periodical publications of the Department-namely, the World Economic Survey, the Monthly Bulletin of Statistics and the Statistical Year-Book-and to supplement these at intervals by the detailed statistics of commercial and central banks which had previously been published as part of the memoranda on Money and Banking ; and finally, to undertake special studies of selected subjects of immediate or ultimate importance. How this plan has been carried out is discussed below in Section 4.

The second task mentioned above called for the claboration of a programme of studies dealing with international experience of major conomic problems that, in one form or another, were likely to present themselves after the var. A preliminary plan was drafted in the early months of 1940 by the Director of the Economic in the rary months of 1940 by the Director of the Economic and Committee of Various countries, and work on the preparation of a number of studies was quickly begon. The plan, which in a slightly modified form was approved by the Economic and Financial Committees in 1942, was based upon three guiding principles:

mmittees in 1942, was based upon three guiding principles: First, that the future must inevitably be built on the past;

Secondly, that the relevant evidence as to the past must be supported by adequate bases of fact, and the causal relationships between those facts carefully analysed;

¹ International Trade Statistics, International Trade in Certain Row Materials and Foodstuffs, Weeld Production and Prices, Review of World Trade, Balances of Payments, Monetary Review, Sursey of National Nutrities Policies.

Thirdly, that the core of the post-war social and economic issues is likely to be the problem of economic security, and that the means by which such security may be achieved must therefore constitute the central thread of all constructive thinking for the future.

The broad aim of the programme was set out by the Economic and Financial Committees in the following terms:

"... the organs of the League should provide such experi guidance as they can to assist Governments in implementing the policies formulated in the Atlantic Charter—the enjoyment by all States of access on equal terms to the trade and raw materials of the world, the fullest collaboration between all nations with the object of securing for all improved labour standards, economic advancement and social security, the assurance that all men in all lands may live out their lives in freedom from for and want."

Section 5 below contains a description of the studies that have so far been perpared and published under the above programme, including studies on demographic problems which have been undertaken in pursuance of the plan of work laid down by the Demographic Committee in 1939.

How the task of carrying forward the work of the other Committees of the Organization was appreached is discussed in Sections of and 7. When the Assembly mer in 1939, that task seemed well-night hopeless, owing a fonce to the mounting difficulties of calling together any representative international meetings in Europe, and to the departure of many official delegates from Geneva. Big. as will be shown, these difficulties were largely overcome by the transfer of the Committee of

3. THE PRINCETON MISSION

In May 1940, the staff of the Economic, Financial and Transit. Department was considerably reduced. By that date also, communications between Geneva and the outside world had become highly precarsious, and it seemed essential, both for the efficiency of the work and as a precaution against the risk of complete isolation, to move part of the staff deswhere.

In June, Princeton University, the Institute for Advanced Study and the Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research were good enough to invite the Secretary-General to send the technical services of the League to Princeton, where they offered to provide offices and other facilities. In response to this invitation, the Director and part of the staff of the Department were, as stated above, sent to Princeton in August and were furnished with excellent and very convenient offices by the Institute for Advanced Study. Other officials from Generacy joined them in 1941, and a staff of economists and statistical and secretarial assistants was gradually recruited to the staff of the staff of a generacy grant from the Rockefeller Econodition.

The decision to send the mission to Princeton quickly justified. Our hosts in Princeton did everything in their power to facilitate the work of the Department; new and valuable contacts were established, old contacts were renewed, and these contacts proved of vital importance. Studies relating to past-war problems advisers and expects of many countries stationed in the United States or visiting the country in connection with their official dutaes. The Organisation could more effectively make its services available to co-operating Governments, he represented at international Conferences, establish working relations with international agencies, and maintain the necessary contacts with the International Labour

4. ECONOMIC INTRILICENCE WORK

The division of the staff was also of great advantage to the conomic intelligence work of the Department. Arrangements could be made for obtaining in Princeton statistical and other information from four of the vice continents and in Genera from Europe. The statistical archives were reproduced in Princeton by means of inmicrofilins brought from Genera and, between the two centres, these archives have been kept up to date. The members of the staff of who remained in Genera were able to concentrate on following developments within Europe and to co-operate usefully with their collearuse in Americane.

Before this division of the Department was effected and after the outbreak of war, a number of publications were issued many of which had been begun earlier in 1939. Amongst these may be mentioned: Balances of Payments, 1938: International Trade Statistics, 1938; International Trade in Certain Raw Materials and Foodstuffs by Countries of Origin and Consumption, 1938; and the Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1939/40.

The first of the publications issued after the reorganisation of the work in order to meet war-time requirements was a statistical handbook on raw materials entitled Raw Haterials and Foodstaffs: Production by Countries, 1935 and 1938, which was issued early in 1940.

After the division of the Department was effected, Geneva tended to concentrate on the purely statistical volumes, and the Mission in Princeton, while collecting and transmitting to Geneva statistical information for the greater part of the world, devoted its attention to descriptive and analytical volumes and to the programme of post-war studies referred to about

Thus the other three war-time editions of the Statistical Year-Book have been published in Geneva, and in Geneva also the Monthly Bulletin of Statistics has continued to be compiled and issued month by month without interruption. The usefulness of the Monthly Bulletin of Statistics, however, as a source of current information became increasingly impaired by difficulties in the transmission of the Bulletin from Geneva to oversea countries. When Switzerland became totally encircled by the Axis Powers in 1942, those difficulties were greatly increased and it was decided to issue a separate edition of the Bulletin from Princeton as from January 1943. Two editions accordingly appeared regularly from that date until the late autumn of 1945, when, owing to the improvement in communications, it became possible to terminate the Princeton edition. Postal difficulties also made it necessary to reproduce by the photo-offset process a Statistical Year-Rook in the United States for distribution to extra-European countries. The 1941/42 edition reproduced by photo-offset process in Princeton contained an addendum prepared by the Mission comprising a number of supplementary series and bringing certain of the Geneva series up to date.

It is worth noting that, in spite of the "statistical black-out" prevailing throughout the greater part of the war, the information which it has been possible to give in the Year-Book and the Bulletin has been perhaps unexpectedly comprehensive. For example, the latest eldrin of the Year-Book, issued in Geneva in the summer of 1945, contains 108 tables, giving statistics regarding population, employment and unemployment, agricultural, mineral and industrial

production, international trade, currency and banking, interest rates, prices and cost of living, and public finance; and all countries of the world are included.

But Governments which stopped the publication of many statistics for purposes of security have not been as prompt in resuming their publication as might be wished.

Attention is naturally devoted, in the Year-Book, to subjects of immediate interest, such as territorial changes which have occurred at various stages of the war, Covernment receipts, expenditures and indebtedness (including war expenditure in the principal beligerent countries), currency measures adopted and currency equivalent established—more particularly in the former occupied territories of Europe, Africa, and Asia.

Europe, Atrica, and Asia.

Among the subjects for which relatively complete national
statistics continued to be available during the war were currency and
banking. A compendium of the world's central and commercial
banking statistics entitled Money and Banking was accordingly issued
from Princeton in 1943, and again in 1945, each issue embracing
approximately fifty countries.

The work on the World Economic Survey was also undertaken in Princeton. Every effort was made to produce this publication at relatively frequent intervals in view of the importance, for the formulation of economic policy, of keeping in proper perspective the profound changes both in national and international economic structure and in economic trends which were being produced by the war. Three issues have been published since the outbreak of war, each containing not only a general review of the world economic developments in the period covered but also special chapters on raw materials, industrial and food production, on consumption and rationing. on finance and banking, on price movements and price control, on international trade, on the transport situation, etc. It is believed that the latest issue—to quote its preface—" may derive a special interest from the fact that it deals with the world economic situation on the eve of the United Nations' victory-a situation which will inevitably form the point of departure for much of the work of postwar reconstruction ".

The most important of the special factual studies prepared by the Department have dealt with rationing, consumption and food supplies. War-time Rationing and Consumption, the first comprehensive work that had appeared on the subject, covering all types of

rationing and the experience of a very large number of countries, was published late in 1942. This study was brought up to date, and expanded by an analysis of the food supply situation, in Food Rationing and Supply, 1943-1944, published in 1944. As mentioned in Section 9 below, a further volume in this series, which will bear the title Rationing and Relief. 1939-1945, is now being prepared.

5. STUDIES RELATING TO POST-WAR PROBLEMS

The programme of work in connection with the post-war problems fell under four general headings;

- (1) Reconstruction and relief;
 - (2) Trade and trade policy;
 - Economic security;
 Demographic questions.

The publications issued fall into two distinct classes—namely, those which were oledy analytical or descriptive and those which were prepared with the express purpose of drawing conclusions from the experience of the past likely to be useful for the formulation of post-war policies. The demographic and one or two other volumes fall into the first class; but the great majority of the economic studies were pragmatic in character.

The studies published, or in preparation, under each of these headings are set out below and the purposes and contents of the completed studies are briefly summarised:

(1) Reconstruction and Relief.

Apart from the Report of the Delegation on Economic Depressions [Part 1: The Transition from War or Deene Economy (1981). Part II: Economic Stability in the Past-uar World (1945), which is discussed in the next Science, the following five studies dealing with relief and reconstruction have been prepared and published by the Economic, Financial and Transit Department; 164(1) Delivers on Melity Louis, 1919-192 (1945), Europek Ourreas North, 1919-1920, and how Table 1914-1918 Wer and the Reconstruction Paried (1945), Inter-the 1914-1918 Wer and the Reconstruction Paried (1945), Inter-

national Currency Experience (1944), and The League of Nations Reconstruction Schemes in the Inter-war Period (1945).

A study on the Control of Inflation after the 1914-1918 war is in preparation.

Relief Deliveries and Relief Leans, 1919-1923: This volume, after describing the great humanitarian effort that was undertaken after the 1918 Armistice, ends like most of the other volumes in this series with a chapter of conclusions based on this past experience. It was one of the earliest studies to be published, as it was felt that relief would inevitably arise as one of the first and most urgent problems to be dealt, with after the was.

Europe's Overseas Needs, 1919-1920, and how They were met: The preface to this volume opens with the following observations, which adequately describe its nature:

"After the last war a system was organised for the provision of relief to the impoverished regions of Europe which has been described in a companion study to this, entitled Relief Deliceries and Relief Lossa, 1919-1923. No parallel system to restore conomic activity in these regions was organised. Indeed, reconstruction was never seriously conducted us an international issue regulating was never seriously conducted to an international issue regulating

"The purpose of this pamphlet is to consider what were the effects of this lack of policy and how and to what extent in the absence of concerted action Europe was able to provide itself with the raw materials and other essential goods that it needed."

The League of Nations Reconstruction Schema in the Internaction Period: One result of the lack of any priorid: One result of the lack of any for reconstruction was the complete financial collapse of the weakers of the reconstruction was the complete financial collapse of the weakers of the weakers of the reconstruction in the priority of the weakers of the schema and hyper-financial collapse of the weakers of the schema and hyper-financial collapse of the schema and the sc

All the League reconstruction schemes aimed at re-establishing on sound bases the public finance and the currencies of the countries concerned: some, in addition to having that object, were devised to secure the orderly settlement in the countries of reception of large masses of refuges. Although conserved on common principles, these plans reflected the features peculiar to the special problems in each The measures adopted and their consequences are set forth in detail, as are also the successive phases of the collaboration, which continued over a long term of years between the authorities of the countries in question and the competent organs of the League of Nations.

Agricultural Production in Continental Europe during the 1914-1918 War and the Reconstruction Perceits' After the last war, it was widely believed that European agriculture would recover rapidly and that relief on any considerable scale would be required only to bridge the gap between the Armstitee, in November 1918, and the summer harvest of 1919. The first purpose of this volume was to ascertain how long it actually took to restore production to preven beek and it is shown that seven years dispute before creat production was effectively as restored. The factors all the contribution that the contribution of the contribution of the contribution was effectively as restored.

International Currency Experience: The purpose of this volume was to consider the leasons that might be learnt from the story of international monetary relations during the interewar period. No tother period of equal duration affords so great a variety of experience; in no other period were so many experiments deliberately experience of the contraction of the contraction of the contraction of extracross events on monetary relations or of monetary policy on cosmonic conditions greater.

This study examines, accordingly, the operation and breakdown of the gold and gold-exchange standard; it was of gold reserves and foreign balances for international settlements; devaluation and fluctuating exchanges; the emergence of currency groups such as the sterling area, the gold blee, etc.; the trend of central banking exchanges the sense of the control to t

(2) Trade and Trade Policy.

Five studies have been prepared and issued by the Department on the subject of trade and trade policy: Europe's Trade [1941]. The Network of World Trade (1942), Commercial Policy in the Inservor Period (1942), Quantizative Trade Controls (1943), and Tradeadra Relations between Free-market and Controlled Economics (1943), A report on Commercial Policy in the Post-sear World was issued by the Economic and Financial Committees in 1945. That report will be discussed in Section 7 below for

In addition to the above completed volumes, a study on Industrialisation and Foreign Trade is in the press, and studies on Customs Unions, on Balances of Payments and on International Cartels are in preparation (see Section 9).

Europe's Trade was an attempt to consider what was the part played by Europe in the trade of the world and in the international transfer of funds in the 'thirties, how far Europe was dependent on external markets, and how far one area in Europe was complementary to another.

In sepul, The Network of World Trade, is primarily concerned with the constraint unity of world trade and with the worldwide with the constraint and the trade of the the worldwide system by which payment transfers were effected. This system, as also the pattern which it formed, was determined largely by the distribution of natural resources and foreign capital investments throughout the world. Failure to understand the functioning of the system, and the indirect routes by which payments were effected, it is pointed out, was responsible in on small measure for the disruption of trade and the accentration of the depression to which the commercial notices unwared in the Whitrite Isd.

The purpose of Camaercial Policy in the Intervace Period is to compare the commercial policies pursued in the intervace period incompared with the recommendations made or the action agreed upon by with the recommendations made or the action agreed upon by the reasons for the frequent discrepancy between the policies proposed and those actually pursued and, in general, the reasons for the necessor or failure of the recommendations made, and to draw, from the experience of these twenty years, leasons which it is hoped may be be of value for the future. In the final chapter, the conclusions reached both regarding policy and regarding procedure are summarised. In Quantitative Trade Controls, which was prepared by Professor.

6. Haberler in collaboration with a member of the Economic,
Financial and Transit Department, consideration is given to the
questions: What were the forces that induced Governments to adopt
quantitative trade controls (quotas, etc.) in the inter-war periol 2
What are the relative advantages and disadvantages of such measures
compared with tardfs? Were quantitative controls the most suitable
intrument to meet the special circumstances that fed to their
imposition and, if so, why were they so generally condemned both
by international conferences and by economistr 2 Wby, if they
rat? Finally, if the circumstances which led to their adoption
arise again, what policies should be pursued?

Trada Relations between Free-market and Controlled Economics. by Professor Jacob Winer, deals with what may prove to be one of the major problems of commercial policy—namely, that of the trading relationships between countries if some subject their foreign trade to direct regulation and others desire to avoid such control and to influence the free play of the price mechanism only or mainly by tariffs. In his hast chapter, Professor Viner akterbox the bread major and the property of the property of the property of graphs of the property of the property of the property of graphs of property of the property of graphs of of

(3) Economic Security.

This subject is, of course, the central theme of the Report of the Delegation on Economic Depressions discussed below. The theoretical basis of much of this report was cetablished in Professor G. Haberler's Prosperity and Depression, of which a revised and enlarged edition appeared in 1941. A background study to the problems of transition was provided in Economic Fluctuations in the United States and the United Kingdom, 1918-1923, published in 1942.

That study is concerned with the problem that arose immediately after the 1914-1918 war of assuring the re-employment of men demobilised from the armies or munitions factories. In fact, "the major problem of the transition from war to peace economy proved itself (in these two countries) to be not use of getting demo-bilised men and machines re-employed, but one of the cyclical effects of the perhaps unavoidably bumpy nature of post-war pent-up.

demand". The work deals, consequently, rather with cyclical movements in economic activity than with the detailed proposals that were made to facilitate re-employment.

(4) Demographic Problems.

Arrangements were made by the Mission in Princeton under which the major part of the programme of demographic studies laid down by the Demographic Committee in 1939 was taken over by the Office of Pepulation Research of Princeton University, under the general editorship of the Director of the Economic, Financial and Tensit Denortment.

Four volumes have been published or are in an advanced stage of preparation:

- (i) The Future Population of Europe and the Soviet Union: Population Projections. 1940-1970, by Professor Frank W. Notestein and his collaborators (published in 1943).
 - (ii) Economic Demography of Eastern and Southern Europe, by Professor W. E. Moore (in the press).
 - (iii) The Population of the Soviet Union, by Dr. F. Lorimer (in the press).
 - (iv) Europe's Population in the Inter-war Period, by Dr. Dudley Kirk, the manuscript of which is almost completed.

The Future Population of Europe and the Societ Union. Pole the pollutation of this volume, been bad been little systematic international analysis of demographic phenomena similar to the analysis of common phenomena that had been made by the League of Nations during the last twenty years. The authors were thus breaking new ground. This study is the most detailed analysis and interpretation yet attempted of the growth potential of European populations. It indicates that the balance of population in Europe will shift rapidly eastwarf in the coming decades, with all countries in North, Western and Central Europe passing the high-countries in North, Western and Central Europe passing the high-countries in North, Western and Central Europe passing the high-countries in North Western and Central Europe passing the high-countries in North Western and Central Europe passing the high-countries in North Schotz, and the No

The causes and meaning of these changes are carefully analysed on the basis of factors implicit in the vital trends and age structures of the inter-war population. The political, economic and social significance of probable efforts to forestall the projected developments is considered and the need for prompt action to relieve the growing pressures in Eastern Europe is emphasised.

6. THE WORK OF THE DELEGATION ON ECONOMIC DEPRESSIONS

I have mentioned above that, in formulating the Department's plan of studies, emphasis was laid on the central issue of economic security, and more especially the problem of controlling fluctuations in economic activity, and of preventing or mitigating economic depressions. Not only dose this problem underlie and conditions every national scheme of necial security, but the whole course of future economic policy and the character of future economic relationhis between State deepend in large measure on its solution.

The task of recommending policies that might be employed "for preventing or mitigating economic depressions" was entrusted by the Council to a small Delegation under the claimanship of Sir Frederick Phillips in 1938. This action was a natural development of the work of the Economic and Financial Organisation, which had, for a number of years, been carrying out a programme of research into the nature and causes of economic fluctuations.

or research mits the nature and classes or commont inclusions.

or research mits the nature and classes or common inclusions and the problems with which it was required to deal were altered and rendered more difficult. The war caused upheavals, not only affecting the control of commont fluctuations in peace-time had to be examined, the control of commont fluctuations in peace-time had to be examined, but also greatly insensifying the forces leading to instability in the post-own words. It becames clear that the first task of the Delegation are considered from which the deletion of the control of the deletion of the

A draft report on this subject was prepared by the Secretariat and approved by the Delegation in April 1943. The final text was published under the title The Transition from War to Peace Economy.

The Transition from War to Peace Economy is notable for two main reasons. In the first place, no other League document in recent years has met with such wide publicity or, it is safe to say, has so much influenced the thinking of statesmen and officials concerned with economic notices. In the second place, it represents a very remarkable development in the economic and social doctrine associated with the League, the Delegation postulating that the objectives of economic policy should be to assure:

- "(1) That the fullest possible use is made of the resources of production, human and material, of the skill and enterprise of the individual, of available scientific discoveries and inventions so as to attain and maintain in all countries a stable economy
- and rising standards of living;

 "(2) That, in so far as possible, no man or woman able and willing to work should be unable to obtain employment for periods of time longer than is needed to transfer from one
- occupation to another or, when necessary, to acquire a new skill;

 "(3) That, in the use of these productive resources, the
 provision of goods and service to meet the essential physiological
 needs of all classes of the population in food, clothing, houseroom and medical care is a prime consideration:
- "(4) That society distribute, as far as possible, the risk to the individual resulting from interruption or reduction of earningpower;
- "(5) That the liberty of each individual to choose his own occupation is respected and is promoted by equal educational opportunities:
- "(6) That the liberty of each country to share in the markets of the world and thus to obtain access to the raw materials and manufactured goods bought and sold on those markets is promoted by the progressive removal of obstructions to trade;
- "(7) That the benefits of modern methods of production are made available to all peoples both by the progressive removal of obstructions to trade and by courageous international measures of reconstruction and development.

After the completion of this first report, the Department set to work to prepare the basis for a second report dealing with the longer-term problem of securing economie stability and the fullest possible use of productive resources after the period of transition. This was done by the autumn of 1944, and five sessions of the Delegation—was assumed by M.W. Winfeld W. Rideller, Perfessors at the Institute for Advanced Study and former United States Minister in London—were held between October of that year and February 1945. The report, as finally approved—a document of one 340 pages—was published in Agel 1945, under the title Economic Solidhiy is de

Unlike most other studies of this subject, this report emphasises the essentially international character of business cycles and the need, therefore, for collective action to prevent or mitigate economic depressions. As the Delegation observes:

"Depressions may have many causes. They vary in nature and may require the adoption of different policies on different occasions. There is no single simple remedy or specific. Morrow, they are international phenomenon, or national phenomenon, and the second of the second of the phenomenon of the second of the

The Delegation emphasises also the crucial part played in depressions by fluctuations in investment and in the spread of depressions from country to country by fluctuations in foreign investment and by the exceptional sensitiveness of the prices of raw materials and other crude products.

"Depressions arise", the Delegation points out, "in industrial countries mainly owing to the fact that changes in investment plans do not always synchronise with decisions to save. When savings outrun investment, they go to waste and unemployment is caused.

" If demand falls off in investment industries, unemployment will be caused and can be overcome only if that demand is made good or some other demand takes its place.

"Aggregate demand may conveniently be classified under:

- " (i) private consumption ;
- "(ii) private investment;
 "(iii) public expenditure on current goods and services;
- " (iv) public investment expenditure; and
- "(v) net foreign investment.

"The object of anti-depression policy must be to maintain aggregate demand. Any one of these constituents of aggregate demand can theoretically make good a falling-off in any other."

The report accordingly proceeds to consider the means by which demand may be kept stable or stimulated in any one of these different sectors of national economics.

But, it is emphasised, no country can hope to pursue its policies in isolation without seriously impairing its standard of living.

"Unless national policies are carried out by common agreement and after joint and continuous consultation, there is a danger that they will run counter to each other, that one country will tend to spread depression abroad in order to avoid it at home, and that the world will be divided into a number of autarkie pugnacious national units."

The international action recommended falls under five heads:

(a) The adoption of more liberal and dynamic commercial and economic policies; (b) The creation of an international monetary mechanism:

- (c) The creation of an international institution which will stimulate and encourage the international movement of capital for productive purposes and will, so far as possible, impart a contra-cyclical character to this movement :
 - (d) The creation of a buffer-stock agency:
- (e) The international co-ordination of national policies for the maintenance of a high and stable level of employment,

The co-ordination of national policies should, it is recommended, be achieved by "the appointment of a central advisory body of recognised competence as a part of the general international organisation; this body should meet at frequent intervals and be charged with the tasks of:

- (i) studying the policies pursued by different Governments affecting economic activity;
- (ii) studying the fluctuations which take place in economic activity locally or universally and analysing their causes;
- (iii) keeping Governments and the general public informed concerning its findings and making available to Governments its views about policies which might be pursued in order to revive or maintain economic activity :
- (iv) arranging, when necessary, for joint discussions between itself and representatives of Governments and of international bodies concerned with economic policy;
 - (v) recommending to the appropriate organ of the United Nations joint discussions among Governments, when such a course proves advisable with a view to formulating common policies against the common enemy which depressions constitute. "

7 THE WORK OF THE STANDING COMMITTEES

1. The Economic and Financial Committees were convexed in joint session in Landon under the chairmanship of Sir Frederick. Leith-Ress during the months of April and May 1942, on the occasion of a visit to England by the Director of the Department. This was followed by a meeting at Princeton in August, under the chairmanship of Mr. Henry F. Graby, starteded mainly by members muship of Mr. Henry F. Graby, starteded mainly by members invited in a consultative capacity from countries of expectation in a consultative capacity from countries the expectated in the members.

an the indimensity of confinitive violentic was seen concerned.

This first wave-time session of the two Committees was concerned with the Department's programme of settings was concerned to the construction. At a second joint session held at Princeton in December 1943, other aspects of past-war policy were considered, in particular monetary policy, including the problems of sexharge stabilisation and capital movements, foreign investment and international trade needless.

national trade policy.²
On the last of these questions, it was decided that the Committees should issue a comprehensive report which should make available to Governments the conclusions from the Committee's uncertainty of the committee of the committee's uncertainty of the committee of

A draft report prepared by the Secretariat was submitted to a joint session of the Committees held at Princeton in April 1945, just after the announcement of the United States' proposal for the calling of a conference of the world's principal trading nations. The report, as family approved by the Committees, was published in July under the title Commercial Policy in the Post-war World.

Detailed recommendations are made in the report covering not specific problems such as State trading monopolies, exchange control and quota restrictions, most-favoured-nation and preforential arrangements, commodity regulation schemes, international cartels, Customs unions and regional Customs agreements, but also

¹ Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session, London-Princeton, 1942 (document C.52.M.52.1942.H.A).
⁸ Report to the Council on the Work of the 1943 Joint Session, Princeton, 1943 (document C.1.M.1.1944.H.A).

the general problem of how to make the best use of the opportunity cating at the end of the var for securing a general movement in the direction of freer and more equal trade. No summary of these recommendations can be attempted here. But one point must be mentioned. The analysis of the disappointments of the inter-sor policies upon the state of domestic economic activity, and particularly of employment. No stable and liberal system of trade charlest space in the created under conditions of economic inscensity and no such system is likely to survive a major economic depression. The Committees therefore urge that the proposed international trade conference should deal jointly with trade policy and the interded of the committee of the committee of the committee of the comtrade conference should deal jointly with trade policy and the inter-

The 1945 session of the Committees also made arrangements for setting on foot a special enquiry into problems of post-war private foreign investment.1 This subject had arisen for consideration in the course of the 1943 session, when the Committees were reviewing the work of the Mexico Tax Conference.2 That Conference had been concerned with the problem of creating conditions more favourable to private foreign investment by removing, on the one hand, certain legal and institutional obstacles to investment in borrowing countries and, on the other, the fears often entertained by those countries of uneconomic exploitation and excessive foreign control over their economic life. In the course of 1944, the Department made preliminary studies of the question and held two consultative meetings of an international group of experts with a view to laying down the score and aims of the enquiry and the lines on which it should be conducted, while the secretary of the Fiscal Committee carried out investigations in certain Latin-American countries.

At their latest meeting, the Economic and Financial Committees decided to set up a special committee consisting of certain of their members, certain members of the Fincal Committee and certain independent experts. To this body a general dark proper, which is now in preparation by the Secretariat, will be submitted, probably in the autumn.

¹ Report to the Council on the Work of the 1945 Joint Session (document C.30.M.30. 1945.II.A).
² Sen p. 38 below.

2. Fixed Committee: The Mexico Tax Conference of 1943, as well as a similar conference which was held in Mexico in 1940, was organised in accordance with a programme undertaken by the Fixed Committee before the war as result of a proposal made by the Mexican Government at the 1938 Assembly. By these Conferences, and opportunity was afforded to the national ax authorities of the Americas for establishing direct contacts and discussing totarcher their common problems.

together under sommon protecting, has been to facilitate the removal of tax harriers to international trade and investment and to assist Latin-American countries in modernising their tax systems. The principles of income taxation which were formulated in Mexico have had a marked influence on the fiscal legislation and practice of several countries. The model conventions for the prevention of double taxation and fiscal evasion which resulted from the two Conferences now afford a common basis on which blattent tax treatise may be negotiated between American countries, and their concluded or are prending,

The discussions of the 1943 Conference were centred on the relations between capital-exporting and capital-importing countries and the confrontation of views which took place resulted in three co-ordinated model conventions covering the main aspects of international tax relations. These model conventions, which have since been published, with a Commentary by the Secretariat, under the title Model Bilateral Conventions for the Prevention of International Double Taxation and Fiscal Evasion, represent a synthesis of the results of various studies that have been carried out by the Fiscal Committee since the General Meeting of Government Experts on Double Taxation and Fiscal Evasion was held in 1928. One of their objectives is to provide practical formulas assuring reciprocity in the sacrifice of revenue implied for each contracting country by the suppression of double taxation. Consequently, the solutions proposed tend to strike a balance between, on the one hand, the taxing right of the country of domicile or residence of the owner of property situated abroad or of the recipient of income from abroad and, on the other hand, the rights of the country where the property or source of income is situated.

The Conference also made recommendations concerning mutual assistance between tax administrations for the suppression of fiscal evasion. These recommendations aim at making more acceptable to national treasuries the sacrifices involved in the elimination of double taxation and at discouraging certain capital movements and irregular business practices.

The Fiscal Committee has now on its agenda the study of postwar problems. It is also proposed, in addition to the work on the removal of tax obstacles to international intercourse, to examine the means of improving internal taxation in undeveloped countries. The main object of such investigations would be to establish technical principles and to afford means which would facilitate a shift from indirect to divect taxation.

3. Committee of Statistical Experts: The work of the fourth of the standing committees of the Organisation, which had been interrupted by the war, was resumed in the summer of 1945. Two meetings of sub-committees were held in June 1934, the one dealing with banking statistics, the other with the statistics of international balances of payments. In both cases, the general inne of a deaft report were approved and the Secretarist was empowered by the them to Geovernment for comments, in the course of the autumn.

In addition, a draft report is being prepared on the statistics of manismal income, and it is hoped that it may prove possible to arrange for a sub-committee to consider this draft report towards the end of the year. The statistics of international balances of payments are likely to be of particular importance in connection with the work of the proposed International Monetary Fund. At the same time, there is an urgent need for co-ordinating the methods adopted in the formulation of estimates of national income, in connection both with the application of policies for maintaining a gradient of the contributions of Governments to international intergovernmental organizations.

8. Relations with Governments and Intergovernmental

Throughout the war, the Department has remained in regular correspondence with numerous national reconstruction committees and Government departments concerned with post-war economic and financial problems, and it has endeavoured to comply with official requests made to it to undertake the study of particular problems. Recent studies on the economic aspects of the problem of Customs Unions, for example, were the outcome of a request made in January 1944 by the French authorities.

Gue working relations between the Department and the United Nations Interion Commission on Food and Agriculture have been established. In the late summer of 1943, the Director and another member of the Department were invited to serve on a panel of economic experts to advise the Commission on the ecope, functions and methods of operation of the permanent Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. Subsequently, the Director are requested to take part in the deliberations of the Interin Commission and to nominate experts to assist in preparing a preting of the Commission of the Commission and the Commission and the commission of the Commission and the commission of the Commission and the nominate experts to assist in preparing a preting of the Commission and Commission and Commission will deal.

At its first session in Atlantic City, the Council of U.N.R.R.A.
adopted the following resolution:

" Resolved :

" 1. That the Council reaffirms the principle of co-operation between the Administration and other intergovernmental agencies.

"2. That the Council invite representatives of the League of Nations technical organisations, the International Labour Organisation, the Inter-Governmental Committee on Refugees, and the United Nations Interim Commission on Food and Agriculture... to attend as observers and to participate in meetings of the Council, its committees, and sub-committees, the Council of the Counc

"3. That the Director-General avail himself of the organisations mentioned in paragraph 2 above as the nature of the work and other circumstances make appropriate.

"4. That the Director-General, in pursuance of the principle set forth in paragraph 1 above, co-operate to such a degree and to such extent as he may deem desirable in the interests of the Administration with all other intergovernmental agencies whose operations and specialised services may be of value to the

¹ See page 36 above.

Administration, including the sending of his representatives as observers to the meetings of other intergovernmental agencies as well as those mentioned in paragraph 2 above."

as well as those mentioned in paragraph 2 above."

The Department has, in accordance with this resolution, been

represented by observers at all sessions of the U.N.R.R.A. Council.
At the United Nations Monetary and Financial Conference to Bretton Woods in July 1944, the Department was represented by the Director and the official mainly responsible for the study on International Currency Experience, which was distributed to all dedecations at the Conference.

Relations were established with various important inter-American organisations, including the Inter-American Development Commission and the Inter-American Statistical Institute.

In May 1944, the Department was invited by the Inter-American Development Commission to be represented by an observer at the first Conference of National Commissions of Inter-American Development. Later, a member of the Central Commission helped to prepare the ground for the League enquiry into foreign private-investment problems.

Close co-operation has indeed been maintained with the Inter-American Statistical Institute almost since its creation in 1940. The Institute has sought the advice of the Department on a number of matters, and from the beginning of 1943 a member of the staff represented the Department on certain of its technical committees.

In response to an invitation by the Mexican Government to the League of Nations, an official of the Department attended the Inter-American Conference on Problems of War and Peace (Mexico GIY, Februszy-March 1943) as an observer on behalf of the League. The Director was a member of the League of Nations delegation of the League. "unofficial representatives" at the San Francisco Conference (April-June 1953) and attended the session of the Conference Committees concerned with the Reconnection 35 official Council.

Other international conferences in recent years at which the Department was represented include the Inter-American Demographic Congress (Mexico Gity, October 1943), the Middle East Statistical Conference (Cairo, November 1943), the Middle East Financial Conference (Cairo, November 1943), the Middle East Financial Conference (Cairo, April 1944), the International Labour Conference (Philadelphia, April 1944), and the Conference of the Institute of Pacific Relations. in 1943 and 1945.

9. WORK IN HAND OR CONTEMPLATED

It may be useful, in conclusion, to set out in summary form the work in hand, or contemplated in the near future by the Economic, Financial and Transit Department and the Committees of the Economic and Financial Organisation.

- Enquiry into post-war foreign investment problems: a draft report by the Secretariat is in preparation and a special mixed committee is being set up.
- (2) It is hoped to arrange for a meeting of the Fiscal Committee in Europe early in 1946 to review the work which has been done on the question of double taxation by the two Conferences which took place in Mexico City during the course of the war.
- (3) The Secretariat is engaged on putting into final form the draft reports approved by the Sub-Committees of the Committee of Statistical Experts on banking statistics and on statistics of international balances of payments.
- (4) A draft report has been prepared on statistics of national income and it is hoped that it may prove possible to arrange for a subcommittee of the Committee of Statistical Experts to consider this draft towards the end of the year.
- (5) The following publications are in the press :

Industrialisation and Foreign Trade: This volume is an enquiry into the effects on the trade of the more-advanced industrial countries of the industrialisation of lessadyanced areas

of the industrialisation of less-advanced areas.

Economic Demography of Eastern and Southern Europe: This is a study of demographic pressure based on the conditions existing

before the present war in Eastern and Southern Europe. It has been prepared for the League by the Office of Population Research. The Population of the Soviet Union: This is an exhaustive study of demographic conditions in Soviet Russia. It also has been pre-

pared for the League by the Office of Population Research.

(6) In addition to the above mentioned publications, the following

studies are in hand:

Customs Unions: A number of studies have been made on this

question and distributed to Governments in mimeographed form.

As a result of discussions at their last session, the Economic and

Financial Committees proposed that these studies should be published. Before this can be done, however, two additional chapters require to be written and are, in fact, being prepared at the moment.

Counts of Inflation: The purpose of this study is to consider the means by which Governments brought inflation under control after the last war. Special emphasis will be laid on those cases in which this control was effected without external financial assistance. A very considerable amount of work has already been done on this enquiry and it is hoped that the volume may be completed before the end of the vear.

Rationing and Relief, 1939-1945: This volume will constitute at 16 th series on rationing that the Leugue has brought out since the outbreak of the war. It will deal with the evolution of rationing policies, the food supply from 1939 to 1945, and the rationing stuation in 1945, and with relief

Gards: A document dealing with the economic effects of cartels leaded exists and has been circulated in minographed form. It remains to be decided whether this document should be published. Were this to be done, a certain amount of revision, in the light of observations which have been solicited on the mimeographed draft, would be required.

National Debt: Tables are being prepared on the growth of national debt from 1913 to date, thus covering the 1914-1918 war period, the inter-war period, and the 1939-1945 war period. These tables, together with an Introduction giving a comparative analysis of the situation in different countries, should be completed some time in 1946.

Balances of Psymensis: Up to 1939 it was the practice of the League to publish a volume each year containing summaries of national balances of payments. Owing to the fact that, during the early war years, these estimates either were no longer made or were made but not published, work on this series ceased in 1939. In recent years, however, a number of countries have resumed the published of the countries have resumed the published of the countries have been as the published of the countries have the balance of the countries of the countries have the countries of the published of the countries have been as the countries of the countries of the balance of the countries of the cou Europe's Population in the Inter-wer Period: This volume, which is being prepared by the Office of Population Research, is a complement to The Future Population of Europe and the Sexiet Union. It deals with the actual demographic situation in Europe during the inter-war period, and not with projections. The greater part of this volume has now been written and is ready to be sent to the press.

Rane Material: The first part of this study, which is descriptive, has been written, but requires some remoulding. On the second part, which is analytical, a considerable amount of work still remains to be done. It is doubtful whether this work can be undertaken before the end of the year.

(7) The day-to-day work of the Department in preparing material for the Statistical Year-Book and for the edition of the Monthly Bulletin of Statistics continues.

10. COMMUNICATIONS AND TRANSIT

(a) Position as regards the Organisation's Work at the Beginning of the War.

Before the war, the normal activities of the Communications and Transit Organisation were carried on, in accordance with the provisions of its Statute, 1 by the Committee for Communications and Transit, its various permanent committees, temporary committees of experts appointed of hee for the study of special questions, and by general or limited conferences convende for the framing of international conventions on subjects within the Organisation's province, a series of some twenty such instruments having been concluded under the Organisation's analytes. The Organisation had a permaserial of the Secretaria of the League of Variations, Since the middle of 1939, this Section has formed part of the Secretariat's Economic, Financial and Transit Decastrance.

The Committee for Communications and Transit met for the last time in June 1939 (twenty-second session). Since then, the work

³ The Organisation's Statute was originally drawn up by the First General Conference on Communications and Tramit held in Barcelona in 1921. The revised text, at present in force, was approved on January 29th, 1938, by the Council, which had been empowered to do so by the Assembly Resolution of October 10th, 1936 (see donament, 1938, 48,1938). URL 1936.

has been carried on as far as possible by the Secretariat. In June 1939, the Committee had adopted resolutions some of which concluded the Organisation's work on certain subjects so that nothing further was required but administrative action on the part of other organs of the League. The Secretariat took steps to provide for the carrying out of these resolutions. It had also to follow the development of the other problems which the Organisation still had under consideration. Contact between the Secretariat out of the minimum of the other problems which the Organisation still had under consideration. Contact between the Secretariat and the national authors in most contact was understood until the summer of 1960, the contact of the other problems of the other pr

The Co-ordination of Transport.

The important problem of the co-ordination of transport vaseferred to the Committee for Language and Language for transport—a matter of concern to all Governinformation on the different aspects of the systems in operation in the different countries in regard to the three means of transport—railways, roads and insland vateroway—and on the various measures for their co-ordination. The information thus collected was unsbeguously to be examined by a committee of experts who were to draw up a report setting out the facts ascertained together with the contrict.

As a result of the enquiries addressed by the Secretariat to Governments with a view to eliciting the relevant facts, it was possible, at the end of 1933, to publish a first and substantial collection of information based on the replies received up to that time. The Committee then requested Governments, if need be, to supplement the particulars concerning their countries, so—in the event of their not having yet replied—to apply the information for which they had been asked. When boutlifties broke out in Europe, this second phase

¹ Document C 147 M 208 1938 VIII

of the enquiry was approaching conclusion, and the results were embodied in a second volume published in 1939. ¹ Together, the two volumes provide complete data concerning the situation in regard to this vast problem at the beginning of the war. These data relate to some forty countries in all parts of the world.

This problem—one of the most important in the field of transort organisation—has bot more of its interest, though its character has now changed. Before the war, the main objective was to enable the various means of transport to work harmoniously idely yide. Since then, however, efforts have been directed towards their general rationalization, so that each night be employed for the purposes best suited to its special possibilities and, in consequence, their combined performance night he raised to the maximum obtainable. These new aspects of the problem must therefore not be lost sight of short it became possible to resum its raidy on an international of short it became possible to resum its raidy on an international

Transport Improvements and Reduction of Transport Charges with a view to raising the Standard of Living.

By a decision of the Assembly adopted on September 29th, 1938 (nineteenth session), the Committee for Communications and Transva was instructed to investigate this question in co-operation with other organs of the League, within the general framework of the study of the problem of the standard of living.

The Secretariat having first made a preliminary study of the question, the Cammittee took it up at its treaty-recond session multiple upon the properties of the committee decided to consult Governments, and a questionnaire was accordingly sent to them by the Secretary-General just before was accordingly sent to them by the Secretary-General just before the outbreak of houtilities. A considerable number of replies continued to reach the Secretariat until about the middle of 1940. Most of them contains valuable and very detailed information.

The Secretariat felt that the right course was to continue to study the question and keep the documentary material up to date in view of the possibility that some further action might be undertaken in this domain. The conditions of life of the various peoples—

¹ Document C 347 M 200 1030 VIII Addendum

the general improvement of which is one of the chief aims of post-war reconstruction—are very appreciably affected by the means of transport available. At the present day, no comprehensive action with a view to effecting a systematic improvement is possible in the absence of measures designed to ensure the appropriate use of different means of transport.

Maritime Tonnage Measurement.

As the outcome of investigations carried on over a period of several years, the competent technical committee (composed, for the most part, of directors of the maritime tonnage measurement services of the chief countries concerned) submitted to the Committee for Communications and Transit, at its twenty-second session (June 1939), the final text of a set of international regulations for the tonnage measurement of ships, accompanied by an explanatory report. 1 The Committee decided to submit these texts to the Council, with a request that it should recommend to Governments the application of the proposed measures. The Council, however, had no opportunity to consider this request. It is superfluous to dwell on the great practical value of international regulations. Certain Governments, particularly those of countries in Western and Northern Europe, including the United Kingdom and France, have actively pressed for their adoption. The importance of the question was still further increased as a result of the war and the great expansion of naval construction to which it gave rise. Even after the outbreak of hostilities, some Governments asked for the publication of the regulations. Accordingly, the Secretary-General communicated them to Governments "for such purposes as may be desirable ", 2 and States were thus in a position to apply the regulations if they so wished.

In the absence of the Council resolution for which the Committee for Communications and Transit skedt, the question remains whether some appropriate method should not be found for expressly recommending Governments to put into force these international regulations, which represent the result of years of work carried out by the competent authorities of the majority of the countries most keenly interested in the matter.

Sircular Letter 170,1939,VIII.

¹ Documents C.108.M.63.1939.VIII, C.108(a).M.63(a).1939.VIII, C.219.M.147. 1939.VIII.

Signals at Level-crossings.

The text of regulations on this subject, drawn up by a technical committee, was approved by the Committee for Communications and Transit, which adopted a resolution at its trenty-record session (June 1939) with the object of laying before the Council the following alternative proposals: either that an agreement on the subject should be submitted to the countries concerned for signature, or that a recommendation should be addressed to Governments urging the adoption of the technical arrangements contemplated. Here again, however, circumstances prevented the Canadi Tom taking a decision and the same procedure was followed as has been described above in and the same procedure was followed as has been described above in Lie, the Secretary-General communicated the text of the recommendation to Governments "for such purposes as may be desirable", 'i in order to enable them to apply the proposed regulations if they so wished.

To-day this question once more assumes great importance, in view of the fact that the means of communication must be reconstructed in many countries, and particularly in most European countries. All countries will have to devote attention to the intensification of road trailic and the ensuing dangers at level-crossings. The existence of the proposals put forward by the Committee is likely to help Governments in devising a satisfactory settlement of this problem.

Here, again, it might be possible to find some appropriate procedure for the purpose of expressly recommending Governments to apply the regulations approved by the Committee for Communications and Tennit.

Facilities to be granted to Broadcasting Reporters.

On September 29th, 1938, by a resolution of the Assembly (interests session), the Committee for Communications and Transit was instructed to undertake an enquiry respecting facilities that might be granted to broadcasting reporters in the exercise of their profession abroad, with reference both to personal travelling facilities and to facilities for the transport of their professional equipment.

The Committee examined the question at its twenty-second session (June 1939) and recommended, first, in the matter of identity

l Circular I atter 14 1940 VIII

papers and visas, the most liberal treatment possible and, in any case, treatment not less favourable than that accorded to journalists in the various countries and, secondly, the granting of temporary exemption from Customs duties in respect of lorries loaded with reporter's professional equipment crossing a frontier.

As in the case of the two preceding problems, the Council was unable to deal with the question. Accordingly, the resus adopted by the Committee were communicated to Governments by the Secretary-General "for such purposes as may be desirable", ¹

The Codification of Road Law.

The question of the revision of the existing international conventions relating to road traffic and road signals, and the rearrangement of their provisions, was referred to the Committee for Communications and Transit by a decision of the Assembly taken on October 10th, 1936 (eventeenth session). The international conventions

concerned, all three of which are very generally applied, are:

The Convention of April 24th, 1926, relating to Motor Traffic;
The Convention of April 24th, 1926, relating to Road Traffic;

The Convention of March 30th, 1931, concerning the Unification of Road Signals.

A special committee, in collaboration with the representatives of the international bodies directly concerned (the International Association of Recognised Automobile Clubs and the International Touring Association), had already completed a considerable part of this task when war broke out in Europe, but much still remained to be done.

The problem of the revision of these international Conventions has now assumed an entirely different aspect, in consequence of the constitution of the United Nations. The preparatory work of the special committee might, however, be utilised with advantage, should occasion arise.

The Civil Liability of Motorists and Compulsory Insurance,

In 1938, the Rome International Institute for the Unification of Private Law transmitted to the Committee for Communications

¹ Circular Letter 12 1940 VIII

and Transit two preliminary drafts of uniform laws on the civil liability of motoritis for damage caused to third parties and on the compulsory insurance of motorists. The Committee had contemplated examining these drafts. Certain competent international organisations having, however, in the meantime expressed views on the two drafts whence it appeared that the subject dealt with were not yet ripe for international unification, the Committee came to the conduction that it was desirable that model have on those subjects, framed by the competent international institutions, the thories of the conduction of the contract of Covernments when revising

The Committee accordingly decided at its twenty-second session (June 1939) to suggest to the Rome International Institute that it should utilise the preparatory work already done by it in order to provide States with model clauses on this subject. The Institute wedomed this suggestion, but it would seem, from the information at the disposal of the Secretariat, that since then there has been no fresh development in this matter.

The Unification of Statistics relating to Road Traffic Accidents.

At its twentieth session (September 1937), the Committee for Communications and Transit adopted the recommendations framed by a special committee which it had set up for the study of this question. At the same time, it transmitted them to the Council with a request for their communication to Governments, in order that the latter might draw up their statistics for road traffic accidents as far as possible in accordance with their terms. It was auggested also that Governments should inform the Secretary-General of the League of Nations, by the ond of 1940, of their experiences and present any observations which they might wish to make. The Council compiled with this request and the text in question were communicated to Governments in December 1937.

In the course of the years 1938 and 1939, the Secretariat received several replies on the subject of the adoption of the recommendations made by the Committee. As a result of subsequent events, no

¹ Circular Letter 213 1937 VIII

information has since been received with regard to any experience gained by Governments. It would seem that this is a question which might be considered afresh by the new International Organis-

. . .

Apart from the questions referred to above, the study of which was in progress in 1993; there are a number of other questions the examination of which had already, for a variety of reasons, been suspended befree the war, although, in some cases, progress towards their solution had reached a very advanced stage. The most temperate of the equations, which, in principle, still fall to be dealt with by the Communications and Transit Organisation, are deserving of mention.

Commercial Motor Transport.

This question was examined by the European Conference on Road Traffic (Genera, 1931) and a draft convention had been expended for its consideration. In the course of the discussions, however, it appeared that the matter was not yet rips for regulation on by a multilateral convention, having regard, first, to certain legal and Customs difficulties inherent in the special characteristics of such transport and, secondly, to the question of competition with other means of transport, particularly railways.

The competent committees of the Communications and Transit Organisation continued to follow the question after the 1931 Conference and certain international bodies (in particular, the International Chamber of Commerce) displayed an interest in it. The question is, to some extent, comprised in the more general problem of the co-ordination of transport the study of which, as has already been stated, was subscenently undertaken.

Unification of Transport Statistics.

Pursuant to a decision of the Third General Conference on Communications and Transit (Geneva, 1927), a committee of experts

¹The results achieved by the International Conference on Civil Aviation, held in Chicago at the end of 1944, render it unnecessary to refer to two questions which were dealt with by the Communications and Transit Organisation—namely, the question of identity papers for the flying staff of air transport undertakings and that of new facilities to be accorded for air anviation.

prepared a draft convention for the unification of transport statistics. This draft, accompanied by technical rules for its application, was submitted to Governments in 1932. The majority of them, whilst approving the proposals in principle, felt that they were not in a position to carry them out on account of the administrative difficulties and, particularly, the expease which their application would involve. Since then the matter has remained in abevance.

Pollution of the Sea by Oil.

The Communications and Transit Organisation was instructed by the Conneil to prepare a drift convention on this subject parameter of a decision taken by the Assembly on September 24th, 1935 (different session), on the propase of the British Delegation. A draft was framed by a committee of experts and the Conneil decided, in Cotaler 1936, to cell a conference, No date, however, was fixed because it appeared essential in the first place to make sure that all other contributions of the contribution of th

Transmission in transit of Electric Power and the Regime of the International Exchange of Electric Power in Europe.

This question was referred to the Committee for Communications and Transit in accordance with a resolution of the Commission of Enquiry for European Union, approved by the Council at its sixty-third season, on May 22nd, 1931. Enquiries on the subject addressed by the Committee to Governments enabled the Secretary of the Committee of the Committe

The problem has retained all its importance, and this may even increase in connection with post-war reconstruction. Should it be again taken up, however, the assemblage of preliminary information would probably have to be undertaken on appreciably different lines.

(b) Re-orientation of Work since 1940.

The activities of the Communications and Transit Organisation are essentially peace-time activities. In time of war, information becomes scarce, and belligerent countries, in particular, make every effort to keep secret all matters affecting the conduct of the war. It became apparent in the spring of 1940 that the Communications and Transit Committee would not be able to hold its session at the usual period-that is to say, in the early summer. Subsequently, the Secretariat found it increasingly difficult to maintain contact with most of the members of the Committee and also with national authorities. It found itself obliged progressively to cut down its normal activities, particularly in so far as concerned preparatory work connected with subjects on the Organisation's agenda. This, however, seemed less serious than might otherwise have been the case because, in regard to the majority of them, such profound changes had occurred as a result of the war that the longer hostilities continued the more probable it seemed that, if these questions were to be taken up again, it would have to be on new lines.

to be taken up again, it would have to be on new intertion and contained and an accordance of the contained and accordance that new contained as were possible, spinned interfer to tableting information of a general character as to developments concerning the various problems and to keeping up to date the material already assembled in regard to them. In this way, it remained ready—if and when called upon—to prepare detailed statements as to the stage reached in the examination of the various problems, either for the use of the Committee for Communications and Transit, in the event of its being able to meet, or in order to place them at the disposal of the stage of the contained organs that might be called upon to study the same question.

The Secretariat also considered that it had another task to tufil: it should, as far as possible, follow all developments in regard to communications and study changes brought about by the war in the structure and organisation of the various means of transport together with the effects of such changes upon systems of operation. This was not, in reality, an entirely new task, since, following on a decision of the third General Conference on Communications and Treating Generals, 2073, as information control had been created within the Conference, 2073, as information controlling the munication to the conference of the confer

In view, however, of the rapid and far-reaching developments taking place in the sphere of transport during the ware, the came necessary henceforward to collect much more detailed information in regard to changes which, one may any, were occurring almost daily and which could be discerned only by the analysis of very month a Monthy Summary of Important Events in the Field of Temporar was prepared, in which information was desired under transits, maritime shipping, inland water transport, railweys, road diffic, six traffic. Under each host were given new developments together with legal, administrative, or technical measures, information concerning organisation and over given new developments together with legal, administrative, or technical measures, information concerning organisation and operation, tariffe, instrance, new construction, etc.—the whole being accompanied by a variety of statistical data relating to traffic, in of are a those were obtainable.

These Summaries, which are still prepared every month, have been particularly useful in keeping the Secretariat's documentary material up to date.

In addition, the Secretariat, at the beginning of 1940, drew up a programme of work providing for the preparation of studies on the problems which would probably arise after the war in the died of communication. This programme included in the first place studies of an historical character relating to the situation at that time in regard both to the actual means of transport particularly their restoration and reconstruction—and to the constitutional problem of the organisation of international cooperation. The conclusions pointed to by these studies of a situation to which that presenting itself on the morrow of the second would war would be to some extent analogous itself are convenience annumications, of transport developments during the war. Together, these conclusions would provide a starting-point for an examination of the problems which would arise after the war and the solution of which would entail, inter alia, some adaptation of the lessons of 1919 and the ensuing years.

Below follows a brief account of the successive stages of the work done by the Secretariat in connection with these post-war problems.

(c) Preparatory Work undertaken with a view to facilitating the Study of Post-war Problems.

With regard to studies of an historical character devoted to the years following the first world war, mention should first be made of a Memorandum on the Situation with regard to Maritime Shipping after the Armistice of 1918, which was prepared in 1941 and comprises two studies.

The first of these, after briefly surveying developments during the war of 1914-1918, presents a general picture of the period 1919-1923, which was marked by a return to more normal conditions as regards sea transport. Particulars are given concerning the freight market, the resumption of traffic, the policy of State intervention, etc., and, finally, the first symptoms of the grave crisis that was soon to overstak the merchant fleets.

The second study—appended to the first—provides more detailed information regarding the period of transition proper from the end of hostilities to 1920, during which some particularly delicate problems arose. It describes, in particular, the immediate effects on the maritime shipping situation of the cessation of hostilities, the gradual relaxation of the controls and restrictions imposed during the war and lastly, their final abolition in 1920 and 1921.

This memorandum was not published, but some of the information contained therein has been included in various League publications. Another retrospective study of a general nature was prepared

in 1944 and published in the document entitled Transport Problems which arose from the War of 1914-1918 and the Work of Restoration undertaken in this Field by the League of Nations.

¹Document C.29.M.29.1944.VIII, roneographed. A new printed edition was published in July 1945 (document C.25(1).M.29(1).1944.VIII); in this edition are embedded references to earlier League of Nations documents where more detailed information is to be found

This study brings out the part played by the League of Nations after the first world war in the reconstruction and rereganisation of communications, particularly in Europe. It shows what can be achieved in this field by international action. The experience thus gained will no doubt preve of value as regards both the methods employed and the results achieved, notwithstanding the fact that the problems now requiring solution are on a much greater scale.

The first part of the study briefly outlines the general position as regards transport at the end of the first world war and indicates the the chief problems which arose. The second part describes the extraction, including both general arrangements designed to facilitate communications and the technical aspects (1928, by the end of which the chief transport difficulties arising directly until the war had been overcome. The special technical assistance afforded by the League of Nations in the case of certain countries is also described.

This document was communicated to Governments, as its contents might prove useful to authorities responsible for communications and for the reconstitution of transport systems.

nications and for the reconstitution of transport systems.

Among studies dealing with conditions during the second world war, the Monthly Summaries of Important Events in the Field of Transport have already been mentioned.

A special study was prepared in 1942 concerning the Development of the Transport Situation in Continental Europe.\ This study begins with a brief survey of the position as regards the various means of transport before the second world war and the main problems to which they gave rise. The second chapter describes war measures taken by Governments : establishment of controls and restrictions. measures of regulation, rationalisation and co-ordination, efforts to maintain and improve vital communications notwithstanding all difficulties and to create new means of communication, governmental action with regard to scales of charges, insurance, etc .and, lastly, measures of co-operation between States. The third chapter describes in greater detail how transports were affected by important changes in the general situation of certain countries, more particularly as the result of occupation by a foreign Power, and gives particulars in regard to every country of Continental Europe involved in the war or seriously affected by it in the field

¹ Roncographed document C.C.T.730.

of transport. The fourth chapter briefly surveys the rôle and organiation of transport in the "living-space" of Continental Europe under the system planned at that time by the Axis Powers for the establishment of a European "New Order". The study concludes with some general observations on certain aspects of developments in the field of communications which at that time appeared probable in view of various tendencies then observable in Continental Europe.

The information contained in this study relates to the period of secteding up to the end of 1941. It was subsequently summarised and supplemented by data for the period to the end of the summer of 1943 in a memorandum entitled Par Perestr Transpart Situation in Continental Europe, prepared in September 1943. The period examined is that in which the transport situation was, comparatively speaking, stabilised in most European countries, owing to their occupation by Germany and to the measures taken by that country with regard to transport in general. This period ended in September 1943, with the capitalism of Istly. Thereafter, the situation continued to change rapidly, switchildres had contended to the period of the stabilities and contended that its became more or less stabilities and contended that its became more or less stabilities and contended that its

Decame more or less standard again.

This memorandum was published as an annex to the study on Transport Problems which arose from the War of 1914-1918 and the Work of Restoration undertaken in this Field by the League of Nations (document, C29M, 29,1944, VIII) referred to above.

The studies concerned more especially with problems of the future relate, first, to the technical aspects of the rebuilding of the transport system in the post-war period which has now began and, secondly, to the constitutional forms of the future system of international collaboration in the field of communications.

In the first group falls a study prepared in the spring of 1344 containing Suggestiens for U.N.R.R.A. relating to a Unified Organisation, under the Control of the United Nations, of the Transport System in Continuent Europe and of IR Restoration, with a view to facilitating the Action for Relat of Robabilisation in the Immediate Postsour Period. These suggestions are followed by Reflections concerning Preparations for the Actual Languara Reconstruction of European Systems of the West, conceived as a Whele and on a Restoration Society.

The first part of this study deals with the period of relief and rehabilitation immediately following the end of hostilities and suggests co-ordinated measures aiming, first, at the temporary repair of ways and means of communication in Continental Europe and, secondly, at the establishment of unified control of the European transport system and its operation during this period of relief and rehabilitation.

The second part of the study discusses measures of rationalisation in connection with the long-term reconstruction of the European transport system taken as a whole, following the relief and rehabilitation period.

As already stated, this study was prepared in the spring of 1944—i.e., before the Dumbarton Oaks conversations. There was also an annex in which, having regard, inter alia, to the Statute conferred upon it before the war, the possibility of cooperation by the Communications and Transit Organization in the action contemplated, both throughout the period of relief and rehabilitation and also during the subscenent reconstruction period, was discussed.

As regards studies relating to the future and possessing a constitutional aspect, the first, entitled Memorandum on Future International Organisation in the Filid of Communications was prepared in 1943—i.e., likewise before the Dumbarton Oaks conversations. Its aim was to work out the principles and suggest the bases for a future organisation of international collaboration in the field of communications within the general framework of port-war reorganisation.

This study considers the purpose and the powers and duties of an international communications organization which might take the place of the League of Nations Communications and Transit Organization, negative with the constitution and working of such an organization, its relations with other international organs, etc. The leasest to be learned from a long experience of international action in this domain. In this connection, a comparison is drawn, at the off the study, between the suggestions made with regard to the future and the existing situation, more especially as regards collaboration within the framework of the League of Nations Comcollaboration within the framework of the League of Nations Communication and the study of the Communication of the Communication of the Action of the Communication of the Nations Communication of the Nation Communication o

Lastly, some general observations are made with regard to clauses that might be inserted in the future peace settlements concerning the fundamental principles governing freedom of international communications and the future organisation of inter-State collaboration in this sphere.

Annexed to the study is a chronological table of the more impor-

Annexed to the study is a chronological table of the more important past activities of the Communications and Transit Organisation in the matter of international regulation, as embodied in conventions and recommendations.

Another annex contains a list of the chief international organisations—official, semi-official and private—solely or partially concerned with communications problems before the second world war.

After the publication of the Dumbarton Oaks proposals, the aggestions made in this study were reconsidered and respiratored more considery in another study prepared in the spring of 1945. This fresh study, entitled Suggestions as to Future International Callaberation in respect of Communications in connections with the New International Organizations as proposed by the United Nations, textual more particularly of the manner in which as international communications organization of the United Nations outlined at Dumbarton Oaks.

Another document prepared by the Severariat, which was published in March 1945, was entitled Ling Multilateral Control Dysikhole in March 1945, was entitled Ling Multilateral Control Linus, Agreements, etc., relating to Communications Questions. The dolject of this document was to provide a comprehensive survey of soldject of this document was to provide a comprehensive survey of Theor are very unmerous; some of them are already of long standing and most of them have been very widely applied. Many of these instruments were concluded under the amprices of the League of Nation, by its Communications and Transit Organisation, or by the International Labour Organisation,

and the content and the conten

Finally, there is an annex enumerating, with a brief indication of

¹ Document C 53 M 53 1945 VIII

embodied in the Peace Treaties of 1919-20—those of Versailles, Saint-Germán, Trianon and Neully—and in the Treaty of Lausanne of 1923. The enumeration of these clauses enables a comprehensive idea to be formed of the problems which arose in the sphere of communications in connection with the general settlement following the war of 1914-1918.

This document may be of value to authorities dealing with communications and to those concerned with international reorganisation in this field. It has therefore already been communicated to Governments.

II. QUESTIONS OF A SOCIAL AND HUMANITARIAN CHARACTER

I. HEALTH QUESTIONS

To inform national health authorities on matters of fact, to document them on methods of solving their technical problems, and to afford them such direct assistance as they may require—such are the principles which have governed the work of the Health Organisation.

In the period of twenty-four years during which this complex work has been in progress, different phases can, however, be distinguished. In the first of these, the dominant need was for the organiation of the high against the epidemics which broke out in consequence of the first world war; effort had to be concentrated on meeting the danger that threatmend must. This was the period of direct action by the Epidemic Commission on the Polish frontiers, of the establishment of epidemiological intelligence centra of Geneva and Singapore, of experiments in the destituation of ships as a constant of the contract of the contract of the contract of the same theorems as a numerate of their activity.

Gradually, however, the post-war wave of epidemics subsided and the second plane that then began was characterised by action for the prevention of diseases. In particular, attention was devoted to perfecting methods of vaccination against smallpox, diphtheria and scarlet fever, to ensuring greater precision in the serodiagnosis of typhoid through unification of the technique employed, to improving tests for the detection of sphilli, to ascertaining the value of the various anti-rables varience, to decreasing mortality among infants and mothers, to working out a programme of action for the combating of tuberculouis, and to systemationing the prophyform the combating of tuberculouis, and to systemationing the prophytomatic properties of the combating of preventive medicine.

Health, however, is something more than absence of disease, and although curative and preventive medicine have not said their last word, they cannot endow the individual with that physical perfection which ensures joy of living. For this, the action of positive factors is required; a diet adequate both in quantity and in quality; a healthy and pleasant home and the possibility of attaining the bodily well-being imparted by physical exercise. Nutrition, housing, and physical culture-such were the subjects of study which, with a rare vision and a remarkable grasp of realities, Dr. L. Raichman, for seventeen years the Director and guiding spirit of the Health Section, laid before the Health Committee in 1934. By its decision to take up the study of these questions, the Committee showed that it was deliberately directing its action towards the promising field of social medicine.

The centre-piece of this threefold programme was nutrition and, of all the reports emanating from the Health Organisation, that dealing with the physiological bases of nutrition was certainly the one that attracted the most widespread attention; this report, indeed, is of little less than historical importance in that it introduced the conception of protective foods and attributed to them their rightful place in a properly composed diet.

That the Health Committee was resolved to go still farther along the path of medico-social activities is proved by its studies on polyvalent health centres-a conception which is now more to the fore than ever-on the training of social workers and public health nurses, on health indices which enable the state of health of a particular community to be assessed from every aspect, on social assurance (in collaboration with the International Labour Office), and on rural hygiene, both in Europe and in the Far East.

The plan of work which the Health Committee had set itself for the years 1937 to 1939 reflected its desire to improve the lot of mankind by organising the fight against social diseases, slums and malnutrition and by bringing the most up-to-date methods of treatment and prophylaxis within reach of all classes of society. War broke out, however, before the completion of this three-year programme, which comprised, inter alia, a series of meetings that were to be held during the autumn of 1939, namely; the third Conference on the Standardisation of Vitamins, meetings of the Technical Commission on Nutrition, of a group of experts in the serodiagnosis of syphilis, the Commission on Physical Fitness and the Technical Commission of Pharmacoporial Experts. Furthermore, at the instance of three British possessions in Africa, the Colonial Office had proposed the calling of a new Pan-African Health Conference at Nairobi (Kenya). Lastly, twenty-one Governments had expressed themselves in favour of a conference to lay down rules for the use of the new synthetic drugs which have taken their place absurated on the conference to the conference to the conference to the conference of malaria.

However, the Health Organisation was obliged to postpone these meetings and to concentrate on the new tasks which the war was soon to thrust upon it. As early as September 14th, 1939, the Roumanian Minister of Public Health drew attention to the fact that the influx of refugees and the existence of a floating population along the frontiers gave rise to grave danger of epidemics in that country, particularly typhus fever. He asked the Health Organisation to take steps with a view to combined anti-epidemic measures on the part of the countries thus threatened. The Acting Director of the Health Section was thereupon sent to Bucharest, Budanest and Belgrade to examine the situation with the Governments concerned. He found that, for the moment, there was no epidemic focus of typhus fever and that the national authorities had the situation well in hand. As soon as the cold weather came, however, a recrudescence of typhus fever was to be feared. Accordingly, the idea of concerted anti-epidemic action undertaken under the auspices of the Health Organisation was favourably received and arrangements were made that the Health Section should be speedily informed of any epidemics which developed in order that it might take action without delay. From many sides, offers of assistance in the event of such action proving necessary flowed in. In point of fact, however, it was not until 1943, at a time when intervention by the Health Organisation was out of the question, that the spread of typhus fever in Roumania assumed alarming proportions.

It thus became necessary to adapt the work of the Health Organisation to the new conditions resulting from the hostillities, and this the Health Committee proceeded to do in November 1939. In view of the effects which the war was bound to have on public health—wheth through pidenicies, nutritional deficiencies, widespread tuberculosis, or enteries due to the contamination of drinking-water—the Committee considered that its function was to hold

¹ Document C 364 M 227 1939 III

itself in readiness to help national health services both by direct eaction and by supplying documentation and technical advice. Nevertheless, this new orientation of effort was not to involve the abandonment of yow kin fields where it would be of immediate abandonment of owe kin fields where it would be of immediate only involved the property of t

As case might arise in which immediate intervention would be prove necessary, the Health Committee set up an emergency committee, consisting of its Chairman and four of its members, which could act on the Committee's behalf and could co-opd members of the Committee and experts, as circumstances might require.

This sub-committee met in March 1904, to consider the medicosocial problems which the organised diplacement of evil populations raised at that time. With the aid of Belgian, Finnish, French, Datch, Norvegian and Swiss experts, a report was drawn up for the use of national health services. In this report are set out the principles to be applied in departure, transit and reception areas with regard to accommodation, medical and sanitary equipment, social welfare and the samely of foodstuffs, narticularly milk.

Finally, at a time when blood-transfusion services were being organised to meet the needs both of poerational and sirraid casual-ties, the Health Committee considered it necessary to draw attention, the through the leading medical periodics, to the international momentum for the woman blood groups, without 1927; in up under the contract the contract of the contrac

By June 1940, owing to resignations and the departure of officers for their own national services, the Health Section comprised only two doctors—the Officer in charge of the Health Service and the Chief of the Epidemiological Intelligence Service—upon whom, up to the present time, has fallen the heavy task of preserving what could be preserved, of taking, with the assent of the Actins Secretary-General, such action as was essential, and of replying to the request for information which flowed in from all sides. In 1941, for instance, 65 questions from seventeen countries were referred to the contraction of the contraction international mutuations of the contraction of these questions clearly reveal the problems about which, in those days, health authorities followed must contract questions relating to epidemiology were the most frequent, after which came questions concerning mutrition and the public health organisation questions concerning mutrition and the public health organisation

For the purpose of framing its replies, the Health Section had in its files some 5,000 technical reports; for current problems, Genwas on the whole a good observation post from which it was possible to follow developments in the health conditions of a large part of Europe.

Soon, however, the war spread to most of the Far East. By November 1914, the requirements of military security had already considerably reduced the amount of epidemiological information communicated by tedgram to the Singapore Bureau by the health administrations of Far-Eastern countries. The accupation of Indeton of Far-Eastern countries. The accupation of Indegressively restricted the Bureau's sphere of action. A week before the occupation of Singapore (February 1923), the Bureau was transferred to Camberra, at the invitation of the Australian Government. In the circumstances, however, it was unable to continue to function satellity, and, on November 1st, 1912, the activities were

In Geneva, the Health Section frond itself increasingly compelled to rely on its own resources, at lack of communications prevented its obtaining advice from the majority of the members of the Health Chairman of the Committee and its technical commissions. Subsequently, the Chairman of the Committee, Professor Jacquez Parisor, and one of its members, Dr. René Sand, were deported to Germany and were not released until after the occupation of that country by the Allied troops.

troops.

In February 1942, the Inter-Allied Bureau set up in London to study post-war requirements asked the Health Section to supply data regarding the food ration consumed before and during the war in the occupied countries, the foodstuffs most suitable for distribution in concentrated form to the populations of those countries

after their liberation, and the types of vitamin-deficiency disease that were most to be feared. Since it was impossible to consult the Technical Commission on Nutrition, the Health Section, in preparing its reply, secured the assistance of physiologists available in Switzerland.

Shortly after the submission of this report, the Officer in charge of the Health Service was sent to London to place at the disposal of the Inter-Allied services the experience acquired by the Health Organisation in connection with the combating of epidemics, the prophylaxis of contagious diseases and assistance for pregnant women and new-born infants. The object in view was to draw up a plan for the distribution of available resources in medical and auxiliary staff, sera and vaccines, and drugs and medical equipment as between the countries that were then occupied, in order to meet their most urgent needs during the six months following their liberation and to assist the health services when they came to be reconstituted. The technical sub-committees to which this task had been entrusted included representatives of each occupied country and the distribution proposals were adopted with the agreement of all concerned, subject to revision if last-moment deportations of doctors or the destruction of hospitals and sanitary equipment made this course necessary.

In the second quarter of 1943, on the initiative of the State Department of the United States, the Officer in charge of the Health Service proceeded to Washington for consultations with the Office of Foreign Relief and Rehabilitation. Here again, the object was to place at the disposal of this Office—which continued to function until U.N.R.R.A. was established—the experience gained by the Health Conscienciation in sutition makes and makes and makes and continued to function which was the continued to function until U.N.R.R.A. was established—the experience gained by the Health Conscienciation in sutition makes and makes and makes conference.

The first sension of the Council of U.N.R.I.A., was held at Atlantic Gry in October 1943 and the Health Organisation was nivited to be represented by an observer. The Officer in charge of the Health Service outlined hefer the Sub-Committee on Health and Medical Care the way in which collaboration between the League of Nations Health Organisation and the Health Devision of U.N.R.I.A. might be established. In its report, this Sub-Committee emphasized that confirmed to the Committee of the Committ

In March 1944, when the Health Division of U.N.R.R.A. was in process of organisation, Governor H. Lehman, Director-General of U.N.R.A., sent a telegram to the Acting Secretary-General asking if it would be possible to secure the co-operation of the Health Section in certain fields of work for the whole duration of U.N.R.A.'s activities, so as to make use of the Section's technical qualifications while at the same time avoiding overlanoid

Governor Lehman also made three suggestions : first, that the despatch to the Health Division of U.N.R.R.A. of the epidemiological information collected by the Health Section at Geneva should be accelerated and that the quantity of information should, if possible, be increased (steps were at once taken to comply with this wish); secondly, that a "research unit" should be created in Washingtonwith the possibility of its later being transferred to London or to the Continent of Europe- its task being, on the one hand, to interpret the epidemiological data received from Geneva or other sources and, on the other hand, to assist the Health Division of U.N.R.R.A. to prepare health surveys of occupied regions of Europe or Asia; finally, to enable U.N.R.R.A. to profit by the Health Organisation's experience in the Far East, the opening should be envisagedpreferably in India-of a bureau on the lines of that formerly operating in Singapore, while a subsidiary bureau, with the Pacific zone as its field of activity, might be set up in Australia. The Acting Secretary-General having approved these suggestions.

the Health Section established a "research unit" in Washington and this began works on May 15th, 1444, with a staff which included the former head of the Health Section's Epidemiological Intelligence Service and the former estatistics on the Singapore Bursau. Week Service and the General estatistics on the Singapore Bursau. Week with a critical survey of the health Division of U.N.R.I.A. with a critical survey of the health poisson of U.N.R.I.A. and the survey of the health open and the tender of the survey of the health open and the discovery on the health open and the discovery on the health open and the discovery on the delict of the area in the survey of t

With regard to the opening of a new Eastern Bureau in India, with a branch office in Australia, the negotiations with the Governments concerned had not been concluded when Japan capitulated. As a result of this development, the situation has changed and the possibility that the Eastern Bureau may, in the early future, resume its work in Singapore can once more be contemplated.

In December 1944, the Director-General of U.N.R.R.A. informed the Acting Secretary-General that the international sanitary conventions—which had been adapted to the conditions resulting from the state of war—would henceforth impose certain responsibilities upon U.N.R.R.A. in connection with the notification of pestilential diseases. To meet these responsibilities, it must have an Epidemiological Intelligence Service of its own and, in view of the excellent work done by the "Research Unit", Governor Lehman therefore expressed a wish that its staff should be placed at the disposal of the Health Division of U.N.R.R.A. in order to form the nucleus of such a service. With the assent of the Supervisory Commission, the transfer took place on January 14, 1955.

٠٠.

After this brief survey of the special tasks which the Health Section had to undertake as a result of the war, something more may be said of the long-term activities the continuation of which had been decided by the Health Committee in 1939.

Biological standardisation, universally recognised as a special feature of the work of the Health Organisation and a feld in which feature of the work of the Health Organisation and a feld in which it has done pioneer work, has proceeded, everything considered, very satisfactority. The distribution of international standards to laboratories throughout the world, entrated, in the case of sera, to laboratories throughout the world, entrated, in the case of virtualis, hormones and certain medicaments, to the National Lantitute for Medical Research at Hampstead, vas at times slowed down through dislocation of postal services, but it has never been stenood.

After the invasion of Demnark in April 1940, the Copenhagen Institute was no longer able to communicate with certain countries. The Health Section therefore approached the Medical Research Consoli of Genet British, which countries the Engelsend Institute, Consolidated Present and Consolidate Consolidates and the international standard erax to laboratories which could no longer obtain them from Copenhagen. Norwithstanding the additional work which this distribution entailed for the Institute—the stocks of some standard ears had to be reconstituted and the international units of activity redefined in terms of the new preparation—the continues of this international exercice was the enquested.

The fact that the sometimes fatal accidents which during the first world war resulted from the administration of an insufficient dose of serum have been averted in the present struggle is largely due to biological standardisation. Thirty years ago, a doctor, relying on the number of units indicated on a phial, might inject a quantity of serum which he justifiably considered sufficient but which, in fact, was insufficient because the assay had been expressed in terms of a unit of lesser activity than that to which he was accustomed. This, however, cannot happen to-day. The universal adoption of the international units fixed by the Permanent Commission on Biological Standardisation, indeed, means that doctors are now equipped with weapons of well-defined calibre and range. It has also provided health authorities with the means of measuring the activity of biological remedies placed on the market; and, in the last place, it has simplified the task of manufacturers who now need to express the strength of a product they wish to export in terms of one unit only-the international unit. In other words, biological standardisation has become a necessity.

In the course of the var years, our therapeutic armaneant has been reinforced by new medicament which can be assayed only by biological methods. It was essential, therefore, that no time soluble best in Kingi international standards and units for these substances, so as to avoid the use in laboratories of several units of the substances, so as to avoid the use in laboratories of several units of all the substances, so as to avoid the use in laboratories of several units of all the substances of the Permanent Commission on Biological Standardiands. Although circumstances made it impossible to arrange a meeting of the Permanent Commission on Biological Standardiant, one of its members have takes steps to set up provisional international standards for Vitamin E—the so-called fertility vitamin—and for hepsrin, an anticasqualust substance much used in war surgery. The decisions taken were subject to the reservation in war surgery. The decisions taken were subject to the reservation that they must be confirmed by the Commission when it is able to that they must be confirmed by the Commission when it is able to

At the beginning of 1944, the question zone of standardining that incomparable antibacterial agant, pencillin. Here, again, it was necessary to act at once and to secure, from the outset, the use of a common yardstick for measuring the action of a product, which preliminary assays carried out in England and in the United States of America had shown to be capable of standardisation. On the Health Section's initiative, therefore, an International Conference on the Standardisation of Pencillin was convexed in October 1944, in London, where the substance had been discovered, its Conference, which was presided ever by Sir Harry Das, included representatives of Australia, the United Kingdons, Canada, France and the United States of America, while a number of those who had helped to increase knowledge of penicillin were present as sobervers. An international unit was chosen and two preparations were adopted; one, chemically pure, will serve as a basic standard the other, less parts, but assayed in terms of the first, will be districted to the control of the contro

The progress made in biological standardization has been possible only through the collaboration of many ved-knows scientists who have most generously placed their knowledge, their time and the resources of their blearteriers in the Commission's disposal. Furthermore, certain manufactures of pharmaceutical products have facilitated the Commission's volte by presenting it with pure substance—some of them extremely expensive—for use as international strandards.

In a similar field, it has been possible, notwithstanding the var, to continue the work with a view to the unification of the national pharmacoposius by preparing monographs on the chief medicaments subsequently to be included in them. Forty-eight, such monographs have been completed and will shortly be published. This is a first step towards the establishment of an international pharmacoposius.

In the combating of maloria, which has been one of the clair concerns of the medical services of the Allied armise, constantly increasing use has been made of synthetic drugs—atterin and plasmodui—as to the value of which parallel investigations had been conducted in 1935 in Algeria, Italy, Malaya, Roumania and the Soviet Union, on the initiative of the Malaria Commission. The question of the dosage of these drugs, with which the Commission dealt in its "Report on the Teraturant of Malaria" (1937) has, however, been reopened and it would have been desirable for the Commission to give the matter further consideration. Unfortunately, an attempt to arrange a meeting for this purpose proved uncessful and all that could be done was to consult those of the Commission's members who had not consult those of the Commission's members who had reprojected experience of the use of atteriors as anguery to the transfer of the commission of the commission of the transfer of the commission of the to the Health Division of U.N.R.R.A. and showed that the conclusions reached by the Malaria Commission eight years ago in regard to the curative use of atebrin still hold good. On the other hand, the problem of the prophylactic use of synthetic anti-malaria drugs is not yet solved and it was to have been taken up again by the conference which it was planned to hold in the autumn of 1939.

In 1937, a proposal was made to the Malaria Commission for the establishment of a uniform terminology in connection with the epidemiology of malaria. Appreciating the value of such a members to carry the Commission set up. Sub-Committee of five members to carry of two parts: the first comprises a commentary on malaria parasites and the infections which they cause, while the second is a glossary in which each term is defined and its French equivalent given. In view of the Malaria Commission high standing in scientific circles, this report naturally aroused keen interest, and it may be loped that the terms which it proposes will be adopted by the different

With regard to rables, the Health Section has, since 1940, here abliged to supend the collection, statistical presentation and annual publication of the results of vaccination in anti-rables institutes throughout the world, a take circuited to it by the International Conference on Rabine (Paris, 1927). Nevertheless, as the data at the disposal alerady cover more time as million litters persons conclusions as to the value of the various methods of vaccination, which was the object of the investigation. These conclusions might be submitted to a new international rables conference, the holding of which is regarded as necessary by many authorities on rables.

In response to a desire expressed by the Health Committee, the question of the preventive vaccination of dogs formed the subject of a critical review by the Health Section which was published in 1940. ¹ A study on the value of live and killed anti-rabies vaccines was published the same year.²

Before the war, investigations into the question of nutrition were carried on in close collaboration with the national commissions set up in a large number of countries in Europe and overseas. As contact with the majority of these was lost after 1939, the investigations had to be discontinued. The Health Section, however,

¹ Bull. Health Org., 1940/41, 9, No. 3. ² Ibid., No. 1.

could not abandon the question of nutrition at a time when it was beginning to give rise to serious uneasiness. Accordingly, it endeavoured to assemble all available information, on the one hand, concerning food restrictions and their effects on health, particularly of children and adolescents, in belligerent and occupied countries, and, on the other hand, concerning the deficiency diseases produced by under-nutrition. A comprehensive study on the first point was issued in 1944; a study on the second will be published shortly.

A clinical description of "famine disease", as observed among the internees in the camps in the south of France, was also published in 1944 1

Lastly, the rice problem, which had been raised in 1937 at the Inter-Governmental Conference of Far-Eastern Countries on Rural Hygiene, formed the subject of a series of publications, 2 To prevent the grain from being deprived, by excessive husking or by unsuitable cooking methods, of some of its nutritive and protective qualities, the latter deriving from the presence of vitamins, local customs would have to be changed. It is from this standpoint that the rice problem in India, Thailand and the Netherlands East Indies is approached in the above-mentioned publications.

The studies on housing were likewise conducted through the agency of national commissions and these, too, have been interrupted. Mention should, however, be made of the magnificent illustrated volume " Enquête sur l'Habitation rurale en France ".8 contributed by the French National Commission to the documentation of the European Conference on Rural Life.

In the event of a general war, bringing epidemics in its train, it is more than ever necessary to have rapid, regular and reliable information on the movement of infectious diseases throughout the world; for when an epidemic zone is located in good time, defensive and preventive measures can be organised.

Before the outbreak of hostilities, the Enidemiological Intelligence Service fulfilled these conditions, since it received data regarding infectious diseases and demographic statistics from every country in the world, with the exception of the Soviet Union, and from most large towns. Its Singapore Bureau received weekly telegraphic

Ball. Heelth Org., 1943/44, 10, No. 4.
 Ball. Heelth Org., 1940/51, 9, No. 3.
 Document C.H./Com.Hab./100.

reports regarding the health situation in some 180 ports lying between the Suez and Panama canals. Twelve wireless stations broadcast once a week—and some of them daily—the epidemiological reports which Geneva and Singapore issued for the benefit of health authorities and ships at sea.

From 1940 onwards, however, the censorship and the slowingdown of postal communications hampered the working of the Service and restricted its field of activity, since no information was forthcoming from zones of military operations. The same thing happened in Asia in 1941. From 1942 onwards, the only information received from Africa and America had already become out of date in transit. As these continents were efficiently served by the Pan-American Sanitary Bureau and the British technical services, the League Epidemiological Service concentrated its attention on Europe and succeeded in ensuring the continued receipt of data respecting epidemics and mortality from belligerent, occupied and neutral countries: the only regions from which it was unable to obtain statistics were the zone of the Eastern front and certain territories which were deprived of postal communications with the outside world, such as Albania, Serbia and, at some periods, Greece. The information published in Geneva in the Weekly Epidemiological Record—the issue of which was never suspended—was also transmitted to London and Washington by airmail or by telegram.

The official statistics, supplemented by information from other sources, made possible an objective study of the effects of the war on the health of the European peoples and of the spread of epidemics among them. Notes on these subjects were frequently included in the Weshly Epidemiological Record and a comprehensive study on the European Company of the Company of the State State State have been supplemented by the State State State State State to the view of the Epidemiological Intelligence Service were sought by public health administrations, by national Red Cross Scietiess, and by the different organs of the International Red Cross Scietiess, and by the different organs of the International Red Cross Scietiess, and by the different organs of the International Red Cross Scietiess, and by the different organs of the International Red Cross Scietiess, and by the different organs of the International Red Cross Scieties, the State State

¹ Bull. Health Occ., 1943/44, 10, No. 4.

requests for information regarding new methods of combating contagious diseases, those respecting typhus fever were the most numerous. This led the Service to prepare a monograph, which was published at the end of 1942, 1 on this disease and on the latest methods of vaccination against it.

In 1938, the staff of the Service, in collaboration with the International Institute of Statistics, carried out the preparatory work and supplied the technical secretariat for the Fifth International Conference for the Revision of the Nomenclature of Diseases. It was thus given responsibility for preparing the official volume entitled "Nomenclatures internationale des Causes de Décès, 1939" [International Nomenclature of Causes of Death, 1939] which the International Institute of Statistics had printed at The Hague in 1940, on the eve of the invasion. The war made it impossible to arrange meeting of the technical commissions that were to he set up to prepare international nonmerclatures of diseases to meet the requirements of The Service was, however, which to provide the Notherlands and Swiss Army Medical Services and a number of hospital and surgical associations with promosed nomenclatures of words and diseases,

At the request of the International Red Cross, it prepared a Polyglot Glossary of Communicable Diseases giving terms employed to designate them in twenty-four European languages.²

The Annual Enidemiological Report for 1938, which contains

figures revised by the health and statistical services of countries throughout the world, was published at the end of 1941.3

In 1945, the head of the Service was invited to take part in the work of the International Commission organised by the Government of the United States of America to standardise the rules of classification of deaths resulting from several joint causes.

Since the liberation of Europe and the consequent restoration of potate communications, the Epidemiological Intelligence Service has gradually re-established contact with health and statistical authorities from which it had been cut off. It has also collaborated with the Inter-Allied military medical authorities (S.H.A.E.F.) atton the distribution to the commentent national services of information

¹ Bull, Health Org., 1943/44, 10, No. 1.

² Ibid., No. 3. 3 Document E.1.23.

concerning typhus fever in the occupied areas of Germany and among liberated prisoners.

In addition to its immediate practical utility to health authorities, the information assembled during recent months will enable the information assembled during recent months will enable the Epidemiological Intelligence Service to complete its various sets of off statistical data, the value of which depends on their continuous and to prepare a comprehensive publication on communicable diseases and mortality during the war.

In regard to reference material, mention should also be made of the Technical Bibliography of the Work of the Health Organisation of the League of Nations, 1920-1955. which is now in the press; it covers several thousand 1920-1955. which is now in the press; it covers several thousand the property of the press; it is now in the by experts and will be a valuable work of reference for specialists in public health and social medicine.

2. CONTROL OF THE DRUG TRAFFIC

PRESENT INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATION

During the last twenty-five years there has been developed, under the general supervision of the League of Nations, an international system of control over the manufacture of and trade in dangerous narcotic drugs, and it has been generally agreed that the system has proved to be extremely effective.

The system had its beginnings in the Hague International Convention of 1912 and the provision in Article 23 of the Covenant of the League, by which the Members of the League, speed; "subject to and in accordance with the provisions of international conventions existing or hereafter to be agreed upon", to "entrust the League with the general supervision over... the traffic in opium and other dangerou drugs." The League's supervision has operated it.

(a) Through an Advisory Committee consisting of official representatives of countries specially concerned in the question. The Committee was set up in pursuance of a Resolution adopted by the Assembly at its first session, in 1920, and has met each year to review the whole field, examine the reports received from Governments and other sources and report to the Council, with recommendations for improving the control where it seemed necessary. The Committee is advisory only and has no executive

¹ Bull. Health Org., 1945, 11.

powers. The great progress that has been made has been largely due to the work of the Committee, and the publicity which has been given to its proceedings has had a powerful influence on the national administrations.

(b) Through the discussions at the periodical meetings of the Council and the Assembly when the reports of the Advisory Committee have come up for discussion or proposals have been brought forward by Members of the League.

(c) Through the Secretariat of the League, which contains a Section specially allotted to the subject, working under the direction of the Secretary-General.

As a result of the work done in this field by the League, it became papearent that the provisions of the original Convention of 1912 were inadequate to ensure the control that was necessary and three further conventions were subsequently agreed upon at the international Conferences of 1924;25, 1931 and 1936. 'The Conventions of 1925 and 1931 set up two specialised bodies.'

- (i) The Permanent Central Opium Board (Articles 19-27 of the 1925 Convention and Article 14 of the 1931 Convention);
 - (ii) The Supervisory Body (Articles 2 and 5 of the 1931 Convention).

The function of the Permanent Central Beard, which is a body of independent experts not connected with Governments and is appointed by the Council of the League, is to watch continuously the course of the international trade in dangerous drugs, to investigate cases of excessive accumulations of the drugs or where there is a danger of a country becoming a centre of illicit traffic, and to recommend any necessary action to the Council and to Governments. It also supervises the compliance of Governments which the limits fixed by them in the annual estimates of their requirements which they submit in pursuance of the 1911 Convention.

The function of the Supervisory Body is different. The scheme of the 1931 Convention for limiting the manufacture of dangerous drugs to the quantities required for legitimate medical and scientific purposes is based on the agreement of the parties to furnish each year to the Permanent Central Board, for examination by the Super-

⁵ There are also two special Agreements of 1925 and 1931 concerning the suppression of opium-smoking in the Far East.

visory Body, estimates of their requirements for the following year. The totals of the estimates constitute in effect for each drug the limit of the world's manufacture for that year. The Supervisory Body, a body of four experts nominated respectively by the League's Advisory Committee, the Permanent Central Board, the League's Health Committee and the International Health Office, is charged with the duty of examining these estimates and, in cases where they seem excessive, to make recommendations to the Governments concerned with a view to their reduction. The Supervisory Body has no power of itself to reduce an estimate; and if a Government persists in its estimate, the Supervisory Body has to include it in the Statement which it issues annually of the estimates received, with any comments it may think necessary. An important feature of the scheme is that, if a country fails to furnish estimates, the Supervisory Body is required to frame estimates for it. The work is in a measure continuous as Governments may at any time send in supplementary estimates, modifying their original estimates. The annual Statement issued by the Supervisory Body is sent to all Governments and is the basis on which the whole machinery of international control of the manufacture of and trade in dangerous drugs now rests. It indicates the limits within which States parties to the Convention are under an obligation to restrict their manufacture, exports, and imports of drugs during the year to which the Statement refers.

Both the Permanent Central Opium Board and the Supervisory Body are autonomous in the execution of their respective functions, though financed by the League and closely associated in various ways with the League and its Secretariat.

The effectiveness of the international organisation, as in all fields of international co-operation, depends on the support of the national Governments which are parties to it. This means in the case of damerous drugs control:

- (a) The adoption of the necessary legislation or issue of the necessary orders embodying the requirements of the International Conventions and the establishment of the appropriate administrative services to ensure their observance;
- (b) The full and regular compliance with the obligations undertaken by the parties in regard to co-operation with the international organisation and with other Governments.

In reviewing the work of the League of Nations in regard to narcotic drugs since the last meeting of the Assembly and reporting on the extent to which this work has been affected by the war, it is necessary at the outset to state that the effect of the war, as was to be expected, has been more serious in regard to work concerned with progress and future plans than with regard to current work. Apart from certain preparatory work done by the Secretariat, the activities connected with future plans had, on the whole, to be discontinued from 1941 onwards owing to the impossibility of holding meetings of the Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs and of the Council. In spite of this, considerable progress, as is shown below, has been achieved in regard to certain of the more important drug activities. The war gave rise to some special activities - war-time activities in the strict sense of the term - and these concerned the maintenance of drug control and international co-operation, and the re-establishment of control in places where it might have broken down or been disorganised as a result of the war.

I. SITUATION AT THE OUTBREAK OF WAR

In 1939, international co-operation for the control of narcotic drugs was firmly established. There was an international drug administration in constant touch with developments in the various countries and permanently engaged on plans for improved control and for further advances towards the ultimate goal—the suppression of drug addiction and illicit traffic throughout the world. During the twenty years of the League's efforts in this field, the situation prevailing at the end of the first world war had undergone a far-reaching change. By 1939, order had been brought out of comparative chose and in most countries there was up-to-date, efficient legislation, and an effective national control, exercised through specialized authorities.

The position was well summed up by the Opium Advisorry Committee in its Report to the Council on the Work of its Twofifth Session (May 1940). The Committee pointed out that the work right done by it during the last twenty years had resulted in a number of vitial achievements which ought not to be jeopardised in time of var and which it enumerated as follows: the applications:

¹ Document C 125 M 114 1940 XI

an international system of Replation and administration; itselfbilisation of the legitimate namedicarve of drugs at the level of the world's medical and scientific requirement; introduction of a world of system of estimates and statistics, forming the foundations of an autional system of accounting covering the legitimate opersistens account of the production of trade in and communities of distribution; and, lastly, supervision and co-ordination of the system of control based on Conventions by international organisations (the Advisory Debty).

The results of those various measures were obvious. The world's medical coaley to the world's medical cand scientific requirements. International trade had been very considerably reduced and had for all practical purposes caused to be a source of supply for the Illicit traffic. The Illicit traffic from the result of the re

In addition to their normal activities, the Opium Advisory Committee and the Sceretariat were devoting special attention to the following move important questions: limitation of raw-opium production: the situation concerning opium-moduling in the Far East it be general situation in the Far East as regards raw-opium production, illied manufacture, illied it raffice and dray addiction; the equiviry into drug addiction and more especially into the legal and practical standpoints taken in the various countries regarding drug addiction and the addicts himself, and the situation regarding the supervision of comabile fuldula nellow, and other situation regarding the supervision of comabile fuldula nelloy, and other with a cannabile supervision of comabile fuldula nelloy, and other with a cannabile supervision of noneship fuldula nelloy, and other with a cannabile supervision of noneship fuldula nelloy, and other with a cannabile supervision of noneship fuldula nelloy, and other with a cannabile supervision of noneship fuldula nelloy, and other supervision of the supervision of consults fuldula nelloy, and other supervision of the supervision of consults fuldula nelloy, and other supervision of the supervision of consults fuldula nelloy, and other supervision of the supervision of consults fuldula nelloy, and other supervision of the supervision of consults fuldula nelloy supervision.

In general, it may be said that, by 1939, the work of the Advisory Committee had reached a stage at which many of the most important problems had been solved—namely, the internal control of distribution and consumption, the regulation of international trade, and the limitation of manufacture and supplies. For several years it had thus been confronted with the task of finding solutions for what seemed the last of the outstanding problems. These were:

abolition of opium-smoking, and the eradic tion of drug addiction which is at the root of the whole drug problem.

II. MEASURES TO SAFEGUARD DRUG CONTROL IN WAR-TIME

As soon as was broke out in Europe, it became clear that special measures would have to be taken to sufquared the revital aready achieved and thus to prevent a return to the chaotic conditions prevailing at the end of the first vold war. Every effort had to be made to maintain both internal control and international supervision and co-operation, and for this purpose to impress upon Governments the necessity for continuing to apply the Drug Governments the necessity for as equally important that the international bodies and their secretarists should continue their work, and that steps should be taken to make it materially possible to maintain contact with the largest possible number of Governments. For international drug control can only be main-former than the control vertex of the various classes of data on which are the indisponants course of the various classes of data on which the control vertex is based.

As soon as they met in session, each of the international drug bodies in turn fixed its responsibilities and appealed to Governments to maintain control and collaboration. Thus, in letters dated September 29th, 1939, the Permanent Central Opium Board notified Governments of its decision that its activities must be carried on during the period of war, and requested them to continue to send it the statistics and estimates which they had sent in the past, as completely and regularly as circumstances would permit. Similarly, in the Introduction to its Statement of Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in 1940, 1 issued on December 30th, 1939, the Supervisory Body stated that it was prepared to make every effort to continue its work. In a joint letter dated May 10th, 1940, to the Chairman of the Opium Committee, the Chairmen of the Supervisory Body and the Central Board reported, after eight months of war. that their work was being maintained, and that estimates and statistics were being received from almost all Governments.

¹ Document C.379.M.292.1939.XI

When it met, a few days later, at its twenty-fifth session, the Advisory Committee had before it a study prepared by the Secretariat on the consequences of the international situation on the Committee's work, and the lines along which that work might be conducted. After due consideration of these problems, the Committee reported to the Conneil that it was convinced that only by maintaining both the national and international systems of control would it be possible to prevent a return to the conditions prevailing during and after the first world war which led to a marked recrudescence of drug addiction and an immense extension of the illicit traffic due to the lack of national and international legislative measures and of adequate systems of supervision and suppression. For that reason, the Committee drew the attention of Governments to the essential measures which it felt bound to recommend in order, as far as possible, to cope with war conditions and to safeguard the achievements of the past. The Committee emphasised the importance of the continued application of the Conventions and the supplying of the Secretariat with essential information required by the Conventions.

The difficulty of maintaining close contact with Governments, however, soon became acute, and there was every risk that the headquarters of the League of Nations at Geneva might become permanently or temporarily isolated. To ensure the continuation of international drug control, it was thus necessary to consider the possibility of creating centres outside Switzerland from which the work could be carried on in case of need. Thanks to the courtesy and interest of the Government of the United States of America. it was possible to establish branch offices of the Secretariats of the Supervisory Body and of the Central Board at Washington, D.C. These were opened in February 1941, and the greater part of the personnel transferred to the United States of America, leaving a nucleus at headquarters in Geneva. Having regard to the possibilities of communication, certain Governments were then requested to send the information required by the Conventions to the branch offices at Washington, D.C., whereas others continued to send the information to headquarters at Geneva. It was thus possible, throughout the war period, to remain in communication with all Governments willing to continue co-operation with the League

¹ Document C 125 M 114 1940 XI

of Nations in matters relating to narcotic drugs. Towards the end of 1933, the lead of the Drug Gontrell Service who, as Secretary of the Supervisory Body, had been in charge of its branch office at Washington, saw transferred to London, where he had the advantage of personal contact with the Clasimens of the Advisory Committee, the Supervisory Body and the Permanent Central Board, and with the competent authorities of a number of Governments Members of the Leanue.

The experience gained and the results obtained during the last five years have fully justified the dispersal of work in different places as a special var measure. This necessary arrangement was, however, bound to came difficulties in the eco-critisation of activities and the effective use of staff and funds. It was desirable that, as soon as eiccumstances permitted, the work should again be connentrated at the headquarters of the League and steps were taken to this effect in the summer of 1945.

III. SUMMARY OF WORK DURING THE WAR PERIOD

A. Normal and Current Activities.

 Opium Advisory Committee and Drug Control Service of the Secretariat.

As mentioned above, the Opium Advisory Committee held its alsa tession, (twenty-fifth session) in May 1940. Owing to warmconditions, it has not been possible for the Committee to meet in session since that date. In 1944, and again in 1945, there were commutations on the desirability of holding a meeting of the Committee to review event since the last session, to make plans for the resumption of activities and to survey the port-war situation, including the organisation of international drug control. It was decided, however, to wait for the results of the United Nations Conference at San Parasicos.

Ever since 1921, the Advisory Committee has been the main instrument in planning and effecting drug control. It may be considered as the "general staff" in the campaign against the drug evil, and its experience is univialled. It may be thought undesirable that one of the elements in the system of international supervision should cases to function in present circumstances and that consider ation of urgent problems should be delayed if the new international organisation is not in a position to take over control of the drug traffic in the near future.

Although, since 1940, the Committee has been unable to carry on its ordinary activities, the system of exchange of information—forming the essential basis of its work—has continued. Annual reports on the dray traffic, text of lesses and regulations promulgated in application of the conventions and reports on cases of illied in application of the conventions and reports on cases of illied to prove the convention of the convention of the convention of the convention. It is the convention of the convention of the convention of the committee. In this way, the competent national authorities as well as members of the Committee have been able to follow developments in the various countries which have furnished information. During the various constitution has naturally decreased in volume, certain Governments having ceased their collaboration with the Lague, whilst alpetes were not in a position to transmit the various reports whilst alpeter were not in a position to transmit the various reports.

Though since its sessions were discontinued, the Committee has been unable to centribute to the solution of certain of the questions which were engaging its attention at the beginning of the war, some work has been done on all of them, and, as well be seen in a later chapter, in regard to some of them, important developments and the state of the second of the second of the second of the dispersal of its saft premitted, the Secretaria has carried out certain studies and outlined plans, in regard both to the limitation of rawoisum production and the shollism of spinne-macking. In addition, valuable contributions to the Indian hemp question have been made by scientists in the United States of America and by the Committee's experts, while, in the matter of deray addiction, an expert report on the methods of treatment at research is un-

2. Work of the Supervisory Body.

The functioning of international drug control in general, and of the limitation of manufacture and supplies in particular, depends on the execution of the duties of the Supervisory Body in connection with estimates.

When war broke out in Europe in 1939, the first preoccupation of the Supervisory Body was to take measures to safeguard the continuation of its work. It was foreseen that there might be difficulties in the holding of meetings and even in communicating with the members. In September 1929, an emergency procedure was adopted for the duration of the war under which one of the members was appointed Acting Chairman with powers to take decisions (with the Secretary) for the Supervisory Body, subject to all decisions being aubmitted to and approved by the Chairman and the other members as for as possible. At the beginning, the different Acting Chairman was assumed by Dr. Henrit Carrière. February 1941, Mr. Herbert L. May became Arting Chairman, with authority to apply the emergency procedure.

During the war, the Supervisory Body suffered a great loss in the death of two of its members, Dr. Henti Garrière, former Direct of the Swiss Federal Public Health Service, in December 1941, and Professor Marc Tiffeneau, Professor at the Faculty of Medicine, Paris, in May 1945. Both had been members of the Supervisory Body from its incention in 1987.

The Statement of Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Degs and a number of supplements to the betternent were prepared and communicated to Governments each year as in time of pages. The examination of the annual estimates for 1914 and 1924 took hope place in Geneva and Washington respectively under the emergency under the emergency lands in 1945, 1945 and 1945, the examination of the state stimates were made at meetings in London under the chairmanship of Sir Madeolin Delegings, K.C.B., K.C.VO. Frequent meetings were also held in Washington under the emergency between the contraction of the state of the

The extent to which Governments furnished their estimates during the war period must be considered as very satisfactory, account being taken of the fact that many countries which were, for several years, under enemy countrie or domination were unable to maintain their normal collaboration with the Supervisory Body, but some of them succeeded in continuing their collaboration. Estimates were furnished regularly each year, with few exceptions, By State belonging to the United Vations, by nearth States, by a number of countries in Western Europe which were under German cocupation, and by Abbasia and Hongony. It is particularly supported to the state of the second of th

The universal application of the estimates system is facilitated by the provisions of the 1931 Convention, which places upon the Supervisory Body the duty of establishing estimates for those countries and territories which fail to furnish them. The Supervisory Body had to establish estimates for 18 sovereign countries in 1941, 22 in 1942, 23 in 1943, 18 in 1944 and 20 in 1945. Most of these States were former Axis States or States at the time under Axis occupation or domination. During the war, the Supervisory Body carried out these duties, although it became increasingly difficult in respect of countries whose Governments for several years did not themselves furnish estimates and statistics. Drug requirements are subject to change, and this is particularly true in war-time. In the absence of necessary information, it was not possible for the Supervisory Body to appreciate exactly present requirements, and it therefore adopted the practice of establishing the estimates on the basis of the last estimates furnished by the competent authorities. The Supervisory Body stressed that estimates established by it might be far from corresponding to actual requirements. It is of the greatest importance that, in the countries which did not furnish estimates during the war, the new national Governments should, at the earliest possible moment, ascertain their drug requirements and resume the furnishing of estimates.

3. Work of the Permanent Central Board.

(a) Preservation of the International System and Organisation of Control since 1939.

The problem confronting the Board at the outset of war was not one sure the continuance of the control, secure that the Board itself should survive, and prevent its staff and records from being disorganised and dispersed. With this object various steps were taken then and later.

1. As mentioned above, a letter was at once sent to all Governments informing them that the Board proposed to continue its work and asking for the full collaboration of the national controls. This letter met with a remarkable response. With a few exceptions, all the Governments of the United Nations throughout the world and almost all neutral Governments have carried on their domestic control and have collaborated in varying degrees with the Board.

2. The war precluded some of the eight members of the Board from participating in its work, others found it impossible to travel to meetings in war conditions. There was danger that the necessary quorum would not be obtained at sessions of the Board. Two new members were therefore added to the Board.

At its session held in July 1945, the Board learned with profound regret of the deaths of Judge Michael Hansson (Norway). M. Dragan Milicevic (Yugoslavia) and Professor M. Tiffeneau (France), all of whom have been valuable members of the Board for many vears.

The present position is that there are seven members of the Board instead of the eight members provided by the 1925 Convention. Five of the present members served before the war.

Difficulties in communications and financial stringency prevented the Board from holding four sessions a year as in normal times; but, sessions have taken place in every war year except one; and reports 1 and recommendations have been made.

- 3. In 1940 it became apparent that communications with the hadquarters of the Barrd at Geneva would become increasingly slow and precarious. It was therefore decided to open a Branch Office in Washington with the consent of the Government of the United States of America. The staff, except one elerk, were moved to this Branch Office in Washington, and continued to conduct the Board's secretarial and statistical work there until June last, whose it was decided to enter these to Genese.
- 4. The war produced at first a sharp decline in the statistical information sent by Governments, on which the Board's control is based. The Board used to receive in normal years about 1,500 extrants from 56 metropolitas Governments and from the administrative control of the state of the

¹ Documents C.8.5.M.8.1, 942.XI, of November 27th, 1942—Report to Council on the Work of the Board (1941-1942); C.3.7.M.3.1794.SX, of Docember 39th, 1943—Report to Council on the Work of the Board (1942-1943); C.14.M.14.1944.XI. of May 5th, 1944—Report to General on Measures to re-retabilist the Control of Dangerous Drugs in Liberated and Occupied Countries; C.84.M.84.1945.XI, of July 17th, 1948—Report to the Council reviewing the Organization and Work

where control is most important—such as the United States of America, the United Kingdom, Canada, China and India—carried on their domestic control of narcotics and their collaboration with the Board. Some Governments partially or wholly suspended their returns, and informed the Board that the information, retained for reasons of military security, would be sent after the war.

The Board is taking active steps to obtain information from countries where it can and ought to be made available. There are several important gaps. Broadly speaking, however, the direct control set up by the International Gouventions has withstood the shock of war; and most Governments have supported the international countrol to a remarkable degree. The end of the war finds the Treaties unimpaired. Most of the national controls, together with the Board and its secretaria; are in existence and all the work of the secretary of the secretary of the secretary of the prevent system of information on which the control is based has been impaired somewhat, but by no means irreparable.

- (b) Action taken by the Board for the Re-establishment of Control in Liberated Countries and in Germany.
- In May 1944, the Board formulated certain general suggestions for the use of civil authorities and the Civil Affairs Divisors of military authorities in countries that were being Divisors These suggestions were substantially embodied in directions issued by Suoreme Headquarters in the European theatre.
- 2. In its report issued in July 1985; the Board pointed out that the present situation of Germany creates as regards control of narcotics a twofold problem. In so far as narcotics are required for civilian purposes, the Board would appreciate the assistance of the Military Government to the end that an adequate domestic control may be at once re-established and the information required under the Conventions sent to the Board.

Secondly, in so far as narcotics are used by the occupying armies, the Board draws attention to the fact that the drugs being used for Government purposes are outside the control of the Board and of the domestic controls of the importing and exporting countries

Document C.14.M.14.1944.XI, of May 5th, 1944.

² Document C 94 M 94 1945 XI

which supply these needs. This imposes a special responsibility for the Military Government, particularly having regard to the fact that, after the first world war, the sudden and alarming increase in illicit traffic and addiction was believed to have been partly due to leakages from military supplies.

(c) Summary of the Present Situation.

- In its last report, the Board has summarised the situation as follows:
- "(a) The Conventions under which the Board operates are, together with the Treaties establishing the Red Cross and the International Postal Union, the most widely ratified in the world. They have not been impaired by the war.
- "(b) While some domestic controls have disappeared or been disorpained, the majority of the controls have survived the war, and continued their work, even in cases of enemy occupation. The areas in which controls perhaps most need to be re-established and reconstructed are the Balkans and the Far East. In Central and South America, they need to be gradually built up through advice, experience and increased financial provision.
- "(c) The Board and its secretariat continue to function. The body of information on which the Board's control is based sank, at its lowest point, to a little below two-thirds of its pre-war volume; and it has been steadily increasing in the last two or three years.
- "(d) The Board trusts that, in view of the situation described in this report and with the assistance of Governments and Miller Occupying Authorities—in particular of the Governments of the Soviet Union and of the Millitary Authorities in Germany and the Far East—this whole piece of international work will be restored in the near future to its pre-var scope and level of efficiency,
- "(e) The control of narcotics was instituted in order to master as a widespread and insidious wit, recogniced as such by Governments and the public. In the decade before the war, the international and national controls, working in dose cooperation, fulfilled their purpose with remarkable success. For instance, in the United States, it was estimated that addiction was reduced by as much as 60%, it cannot be too often emphasized, however, that the danger will recur subset to other companies of the control where necessary."

(d) Future Organisation.

At the San Francisco Conference, the United States Delegation expressed the hope that existing agencies should be brought into relationship directly with the future Economic and Social Council of the United Nations. This statement was supported by several other Delegations. In this connection, the Board has in its last report expressed the view that, for the maintenance of the system of control, it is necessary that there should be no break or hiatus in the work of the Board and Supervisory Body which establishes the annual Statement of Estimates on which the Board's control is based. If once the control is disorganised or discontinued even for a short time, the statistics used in the control become more or less valueless, and it would be difficult to resume the system except after considerable delay. No interval should be allowed to elapse and no alterations should take place in the work of these two bodies between the dates when the League of Nations ceases to work and the new Organisation set up at San Francisco begins to function,

The Board has also wished to recall that it is an independent blow with certain quasi-judicial functions working under International Conventions which have the characteristics of treaties and that it is most important that its position in this respect should be maintained.

B. Special Work.

As a consequence of the war, the work of international drug control had, in certain respects, to be given a new orientation and new work had to be undertaken.

1. Preparations for the Post-war Period.

It became clear at an early stage that all necessary steps must be taken at the cainties possible moment to rector in full the system of control and international collaboration existing in the pre-war period. The peace settlements following the var would, moreover, offer opportunities both for the improvement of the existing control system and for further progress. But these could be achieved only if the necessary preparatory work was done in time. With this and in view, a consultation took place in London, in September and in view, a consultation took place in London, in September the Chairman of the Superviory Body, the Vice-Chairman of the the Chairman of the Superviory Body, the Vice-Chairman of the of the Secretariat, and, as a result, a tentative programme was drawn up, the main points in which referred to both short-term and longterm planning. In the short-term field, it was recommended, attention should be devoted to the situation which might arise immediately after the cessation of hostilities, as regards both supplies of drugs for medical purposes and measures to re-establish an effective control in countries and territories where control might have been disorganised or might temporarily have ceased to operate. In the long-term field, it was considered that the opportunity might be taken to perfect the existing system of control and to undertake, for that purpose, a study of the national and international systems at present in being. This would make it possible to suggest any desirable improvements and, in particular, to remove the weaknesses, inconsistencies and gaps which had, inevitably, resulted from the empirical methods followed by both Governments and the League in gradually building up the existing control system. Further, it was emphasised that the possibility of the complete and immediate prohibition of opium-smoking everywhere should be studied with a view to full and final effect being given to the provisions of the Hague Convention, although it was recognised that prohibition could not, of itself, be expected to bring about the desired results unless it was combined with the limitation of raw-opium production. It was also considered that the Secretariat should proceed with such studies as might be necessary to enable the Advisory Committee to resume its consideration, at the earliest possible moment after the end of the war, of the preliminary draft Convention for the Limitation of Raw-opium Production which, as adopted by the Committee in 1939, had left certain important problems in abeyance.

Within the limits of its possibilities, the Secretariat has carried out certain studies and prepared preliminary memoranda relating to long-term planning. In the absence of a meeting of the Advisory Committee—within whose competence these matters fall—it has not, however, been possible to proceed (grather,

2. Measures to re-establish Control in Certain Countries in Europe and Asia.

The situation which might arise in countries and territories liberated from enemy domination or occupied by the United Nations engaged the attention of the international drug bodies and the Secretariat at an early stage. It was realised that, unless effective steps were taken by the military and civil authorities who became responsible for the administration of such countries and territories, a dangerous situation might arise. On the one hand, it would be necessary to provide adequate supplies of narcotic drugs, but on the other hand, it would be equally necessary to prevent existing supplies from falling into the hands of illicit traffickers—a problem which might be especially acute in raw-opium-producing and which might be required to the utilizery and civil authorities which might be required to the utilizery and civil authorities concerned.

In November 1942, a special study was prepared at the request of the competent American authorities on the whole drug situation in the part of Continental Europe then under German and Italian domination or occupation. This study was also placed at the disposal of the competent British authorities. Similarly, in July 1943, a memorandum was prepared, and put at the disposal of interested authorities, on the Narcotic Drug Situation in countries and territories in the European theatre of war which might be liberated by the United Nations or occupied by them. As from the summer of 1943, lastly, the Drug Control Service undertook the preparation of monographs on the drug situation in various European and Far-Eastern countries and territories which at the time belonged to the Axis group or were under Axis occupation or domination. Such studies have been completed in respect of twenty-seven different countries and territories and communicated to the authorities concerned. Their object was to give the military or civil authorities of the United Nations as complete a picture as possible of the actual situation and system of control. In regard to Far-Eastern countries and territories, there was a special chapter dealing with opiumsmoking in all its aspects.

In February 1944, the American Legation in Switzerland received from its Government the following communication which was transmitted to the Acting Secretary-General of the League:

"In view of the possibility that after the war there will be an increase in the illicit narcotics traffic and in drug addiction in Europe as there was after the last war, it would seem desirable that consideration be given to the question of effecting complete control of the narcotic drugs in the areas which come under the jurisdiction of military or civil authorities of the United Nations. It is requested that you enquire of the Acting Secretary-General of the League of Nations and report what steps he is planning to take in the liberated areas in order to maintain control, to ascertain the quantities of narcotic drugs on hand, and to estimate the quantity needed during the first year of liberation."

In his reply dated March 1st, the Acting Secretary-General stated that the questions raised were the subject of very serious preoccupation on the part of the League bodies dealing with international drug control, and drew attention to the statement made on this subject by the Permanent Central Board in its report to the Council dated December 30th, 1943.1 In that document, the Board laid the greatest stress on the importance of instituting, at the earliest possible moment, complete control on the lines laid down in the International Conventions, over the manufacture of, trade in and distribution of narcotic drugs in enemy or enemyoccupied countries as they came under military or civil control of the United Nations. The Acting Secretary-General further pointed out that, whilst after the last war there was no central international machinery available to control and co-ordinate national efforts to suppress the narcotics drugs traffic, such a machinery now existed and he emphasised the need for close collaboration and reciprocal exchange of information between the military and civil authorities of the United Nations and the various existing international drug control organs. This whole problem, he said, had been under constant study by the representatives of the various international drug control bodies and he expressed the hope that it would be possible to arrange meetings of the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of these bodies with a view to co-ordinating detailed measures in consultation with the United Nations' authorities.

Such meetings were in fact held in London during the spring of 1944. The results of the joint deliberation of representatives of the international drug hodies and of the Secretariat were embodied in the report which the Permanent Central Beard issued on May 54th 1944. This pointed out that further progress in the military operations had made the problem more urgent, and put forward

¹ Document C.37,M.37,1943,XI.

¹ Document C.37,M.37,1943,XL

a number of recommendations regarding measures to be taken during the period of military control. In due course, these recommendations were embodited in directions to Allied civil authorities and to the Givil Affairs Division of the military authorities, issued by the Supreme Headquarters in the Burspean theater of var-Direction of the Supreme Headquarters in the Burspean theater of varapplied in the Pedife theater. It should be added that an American military official with practical experience of drug control was attached to Allied Supreme Headquarters in Europe to co-ordinate and supervise all measures for the re-establishment of control in Europe, and that the international drug bedies and the Secretariat remained in class control with him.

In the introduction to his report for 1984, the Director of the heat Central Narcotic Intelligence Burson, Caino, refers to the post-war problem, and states that post-war depression, both mental and will be rife in Central Europe, the Balkans and the Far East 1970 and life will be rife in Central Europe, the Balkans and the Far East 1970 and life will be rife in Central Europe, the Balkans and the Far East 1970 and life will be rife in Central Europe, the Balkans and the Far East 1970 and life in the Far East 1

Two recent events illustrate the necessity for special measures being taken in the liberated or occupied countries. In May 1944, a drug factory in Brassels was broken into and plundered of all its large stocks of narcotics. Fortunately, the greater part of these drugs was retrieved later. In December 1944 and January 1945, during the civil war in Greece, the wardsouse of the State Drug Monapoly was pillaged. Only a small quantity of the drugs was received.

To sum up what has been done in this important matter, it may be said that the League of Nations early realised the dangerous situation which might arise and put the whole of its experience and accumulated material at the disposal of the competent authorities of the United Nations which, in the first place, must necessarily be responsible.

3. Collaboration with the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration.

The Legge was also called upon to collaborate with U.N.R.R.A. and assist it in connection with relief supplies of nacroid orage. On February 16th, 1944, the Director-General of U.N.R.R.A. addressed a letter to the Acting Chariman of the Supervisory Body requesting the assistance of the Supervisory Body assessing the medical free populations of occupied countries for dangerous drugs. A note on medical consemption of narcoid drugs in European August A note on medical consemption of narcoid drugs in European August 1945.

IV. SPECIAL DEVELOPMENTS DURING THE WAR

As the Assembly has had no apportunity of considering the problems of drug control since 1938, and as the Opium Advisory Committee has not met since May 1940, it would appear useful to outline briefly the special developments which have occurred during the war and which have an important hearing on the future work in this sphere.

1. Ratifications and Accessions to the Conventions.

Since the outbreak of war in Europe in 1939, there have been a number of ratifications and accessions to the International Drug Conventions, namely:

The Hague Convention of 1912:

Paraguay, Afghanistan, Sa'udi Arabia and Egypt. Number of parties in September 1945: 63.

The Geneva Convention of 1925:

Paraguay.

Number of parties in September 1945 : 54.

The Limitation Convention of 1931:

Paraguay.

Number of parties in Sentember 1945 : 64

The 1936 Convention for the Suppression of the Illicit Traffic : France, Colombia, Egypt.

Number of parties in September 1945 : 13.

There were two countries in the world which were not parties to any of the four International Drug Conventions—namely, Argentine and Rithiopia. On August 3rd, 1945, the Government of the Argentine informed the Secretariat that it had, by Decree dated July 33rd, 1945, decided to ratify the International Drug Conventions of 1912, 1925 and 1931. The instruments of ratification have, however, not vet been received.

The war-time accessions to the Hagus Gauvanton were due to special circumstance directly related to the war. Some countries found great difficulty in obtaining the supplies of drugs required for domestic needs from taker legalar supplier. They turned to the United States of America for these supplies, but were unabled to get them from that source until they had become parties to the Hagus Gauvantion. The United States Narcotic Drugs Important and Export Act requires adherence to that Gouvention as a condition to the issuance of a permit to export ascende drugs from the Indied States.

2. Lack of Information concerning Certain Areas.

The war caused a complete "black-out" in wide areas. The principal Axis countries cased all collaboration with the League of Nations and almost throughout the war failed to furnish any of the information required by the Conventions to which they were parties. As the war spread, the "black-out" extended over the whole of Eastern Europe—with two notable exceptions in Albania and Hungary, which, as long as hostilities lasted, supplied all or most of the particular required of them—all the Balkan countries involved and all those parts of the Far East which were Japanese territory or came under Japanese domination or occupation. In Western Europe, the situation was different, as almost all the Western Europe, the situation was different, as almost all the Western Europe, the situation was different, as almost all the Western Europe, the situation was different as almost all the information required by the Conventions, as well as, to a limited extent, other information.

The complete cessation of information from so many important territories has been a very serious matter, as information is the basis of international supervision, and it is of the greatest importance that measures should be taken by all Governments concerned and by the United Nations' authorities resonshile for the administration of occupied countries to ensure that the full flow of information concerning the drug situation is resumed with the least possible delay.

3. Collaboration of Governments.

The experience of the var-period shows that Governments appreciated the necessity not only for ministaning intext the internal control system, but also for keeping both international supervision and collaboration in working order. Details of the extent to which the control of the control of

4. Supplies of Raw Materials and Manufactured Drugs.

Many countries had, before the outbreak of war, taken the precaution of providing themselves with larger stocks than usual of raw materials and drugs. As the war went on, there was evidence of an increasing shortage of both of these. At certain times, raw opium was reported to be unobtainable in such producing-countries from which it could still be shipped to the United Nations and the neutral countries. As to core leaves, there was an acute shortage in almost all European countries, the principal source of supply having been the Netherlands Indies, which came under Japanese occupation in 1942. Thanks to the initial stocks and to special measures to economise available supplies, most of the countries outside Europe did not suffer from any real scarcity of drugs, but in Continental Europe the situation was different. There were acute shortages in many countries in both Western and Eastern Europe. German-occupied countries were cut off from all supplies except those obtainable from Germany itself, though in certain cases it was possible for the International Red Cross to bring relief by furnishing supplies of the drugs most urgently required. Many countries outside Europe met with difficulties in obtaining drugs, partly because the increasing home needs of their usual suppliers left no quantities available for export and partly because of the interruption and disorganisation of international communications. In certain countries, the problem was so acute that it was found convenient to create a manufacturing industry or to make such industries possible by legislation.

To some extent, the shortage of raw opium, on the one hand, and of drugs, on the other, was offset by two new development, and of drugs, on the other, was offset by two new developments. It is known that the extraction of morphine from poppy stars larged practiced in certain Ruropean countries before the outbreak of the war has increased considerably since hostilities began, and has been started in other countries.

and the break alteres are under continued.

The base been of help in alleviating the shortage of drugs of the morphine group. This drug, which is known as "Dolastine" in morphine group. This drug, which is known as "Dolastine" in market by a German from not hope before the outbrack of war, and as "Demend" in the United States of America, was put on the market by a German from not hope blore the outbrack of war, and market by a German from not hope blore the outbrack of war, and captured the states of America. According to scientific investigations and experience up to the present, it seems that the drug may be a worful solution for morphine, but that it presents the same danger as the upins alladeds insamumb at it is habit-forming. It is a number of countries, this drug has been subjected to control under the assertied traps plejulation and steps have been taken to bring it.

5. The Abolition of Opium-smoking in the Far East.

It has been mentioned above that, at the consultations which took place in London in September 1942, it was decided to study the possibility of complete and immediate prohibition of opiumsmoking throughout the world. On November 10th, 1943, the

¹ The Annual Report of the United States of America for 1913 (document CLEM.18.194A) (O.C.A.R.1952)) contains the Globwing possage: "There is every reason to believe that, unless subjected to the same enforcement control as in morphian, the manufacture, distribution and use of this new synthetic drug will soon be productive of serious abuses with inevitable spread of drug addiction. While it has no chemical relation to morphism, it has definit morphismic playsis—

British and Netherlands Governments respectively announced that it had been decided to adopt a policy of complete prohibition of opium-smoking in all their territories in the Far East then under Japanese occupation, and that, accordingly, the prepared-opium monopolies formerly existing in these territories would not be reestablished after their liberation. 1 On July 13th, 1945, the Government of the French Republic notified the Acting Secretary-General that the principle of the absolute prohibition of opium-smoking throughout all the territories in the Far East under French authority had been adopted a year earlier by the French Committee of National Liberation and that this decision had been notified to the British Government on January 3rd 1944 \$

In this connection, it is interesting to note that the Annual Report of the United States of America for 1943 * refers to a series of informal meetings which, beginning on January 13th, 1943, were held in the Treasury Department (Office of the Commissioner of Narcotics) at Washington, to discuss what should be done in regard to onium-smoking in the event of the occupation by forces of the United Nations of certain islands or territories in the Far East where opium-smoking monopolies were in existence. These meetings were attended by representatives of the United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the Netherlands and China, as well as by representatives of the United States State Department and of the Foreign Policy Association in the United States. At the conclusion of the discussions, it was apparent that the representatives of the Governments present were in agreement as to the final object to be reached-namely, the total prohibition of opium-smoking-and that any differences of opinion expressed concerned only the method to be applied to attain this objective. Mention was made of the fact that it had been pointed out at Geneva that there was a huge excess production of raw opium in the world and that public opinion in America was crystallising against the opium-smoking monopolies because they fed the illicit traffic in the United States and elsewhere. As a result of these discussions, the United States Government, on September 21st, 1943, addressed an aide-mémoire on the subject to the British, Netherlands and other interested Governments.

Documents C.30.M.30.1943.XI and C.7.M.7.1944.XI.
 Document C.77.M.77.1945.XI.
 Document C.18.M.18.1944.XI (O.C./A.R.1943/3).

The above-mentioned declarations of the United Kingdom and Netherlands Governments were greeted with satisfaction in official statements issued by the Governments of China and the United States. The latter Government, in its annual report for 1943, described the announcements made on November 10th, 1943, as one of the most important developments of all times in international drug control. The three Governments concerned (United Kingdom, France, Netherlands) pointed out that the success of the abolition of opium-smoking would depend on the measures taken for the limitation and control of raw-opium production in other countries, and that they were prepared to collaborate with other Governments for that purpose. The Governments of China and the United States of America, in their official statements mentioned above, both reiterated their interest in this question and their willingness to continue their co-operation in international efforts to bring about a solution of the problem.

Authorised opium-smoking and Government Opium Monopolies also exist in Thailand, in two hitherto Japanese territories (Formosa and Kwantung Leased Territory) and in the Portuguese colony of Macao.

The success of the policy of abolition of opium-smoking will depend not only on the effective limitation and control of opium production but also on other measures.

In view of the large number of authorised smokers in some of the territories concerned, the problem of breaking them of their habit can be solved only by decided action according to carefully made plans. An effective policy will have to be adopted and put into operation for the treatment of smokers and this will involve both the development of satisfactory methods of breaking the smoking-habit as well as the provision of hospital facilities and medical attention. Steps must also be taken to prevent smokers from turning from licit to illicit supplies, a result which can be achieved only through an intensified campaign against the illicit traffic with close co-operation between the preventive services, in all countries, particularly in the Far East. Any delay in putting into operation practical measures in execution of the above-mentioned policy-in addition to the formal abolition of opium-smoking and Government Monopolies-may involve the risk that smokers, in large numbers, will turn from authorised to illegal smoking.

Limitation and Control of Raw Materials.

(a) Raw Opium and Other Raw Materials for the Extraction of Opium Alkaloids.

In 1939, the Opium Advisory Committee prepared for the consideration of Governments a report and a draft of the principal articles which might be embodied in a convention for limiting and controlling the cultivation of the opium poppy and the production of raw opium and for controlling other raw materials used in the manufacture of opium alkaloids. 1 Since then, however, the general situation has been radically changed by events and everything points to a steady decline in the legitimate demand for raw opium. In pre-war times, roughly half of the raw onium required for light purposes went to supply the Far-Eastern Opium Monopolies. The demand from this source will now disappear. It has, moreover, already been mentioned that, during the war, increasing quantities of morphine have been extracted from poppy straw. This again will materially reduce the demands for opium-namely, that intended for the manufacture of narcotic drugs-unless, as urged by certain raw-opium-producing countries, the extraction of morphine from poppy straw is prohibited by international agreement. The legitimate demand for opium will be still further reduced through the appearance and apparently extensive use of a synthetic substitute for morphine

to which attention has been drawn above.
The statistical information collected by the League of Nations show beyond the slightest doubt that rav-spinin production far acceeds the legitimate requirement. In addition, there were, before number of producing countries. Surplus stocks and excess producin always tend to get into the lifelit traffic. The domand for raw opium in the legitimate market is constantly decreasing, and will be reduced by approximately 90%, through the abolision of opium-moking alone. Any unnecessary delay in the limitation of rew-opium production may result in a diagence situation for the raw-opium production may result in a diagence situation for the

In 1943 and 1944, the Government of the United States of America initiated diplomatic discussions with a view to an international agreement to prohibit the cultivation of the onium poppy

¹ Document C 125 M 104 1939 VI

except for medical and scientific needs. A joint resolution adopted by the seventy-eighth Congress and approved by the President on July 1st, 1944, requested the President "to approach the Governments of all opium-producing countries throughout the world, urging upon them, in the interests of protecting American citizens and those of our Allies and of freeing the world of an age-old cvil. that they take immediate steps to limit and control the growth of the opium poppy and the production of opium and its derivatives to the amount actually required for strictly medicinal and scientific purposes a. During the autumn of 1944, the American diplomatic missions to Governments of the principal opium-producing countries with which the United States of America had friendly relations-viz. those of Afghanistan, United Kingdom (for India and Burma), China, Iran, Mexico, Turkey, the Soviet Union and Yugoslaviawere instructed to transmit to these Governments the text of the joint resolution together with memoranda on the subject prepared by the Department of State. 1 In the memoranda, the Government of the United States of America urged the Governments concerned to take steps to limit the production of opium to the amount required for medicinal and scientific purposes, adding that the United States Government believed it to be necessary to limit and control the cultivation of the opium poppy in order to suppress drug addiction and the illicit drug traffic, and was prepared to co-operate with all nations in efforts to solve the problem. It expressed the hope that all opium-producing countries would be willing to participate in a conference, which was expected to be held after the war, for the purpose of drafting a suitable poppy-limitation convention, the preparation of which had been undertaken several years ago by the Opium Advisory Committee. In the hope of expediting and promoting agreement, the United States Government suggested that the proposed convention should contain certain provisions specified in eighteen points. The majority of these eighteen points correspond to Articles in the Preliminary Draft Convention prepared by the Advisory Committee in 1939, or to other proposals made by the Committee in this connection

The reply from the Government of Afghanistan, dated November 11th, 1944, has been communicated to the Secretariat 2 and states

¹ The memorandum transmitted to Afghanistan is included in document C.34.M.34.1945.XI (O.C.1869).
² Document C.34.M.34.1945.XI (O.C.1869).

that the Council of Ministers had adopted a resolution to the effect that the cultivation of opium be prohibited in Afghanistan as from the beginning of the year 1324 (March 21st, 1945). Replies have also been received from the Governments of China, Mexico, Turkey and the Soviet Union.

(b) The Limitation and Control of the Cultivation and Harvesting of Coca Leaves.

Simultaneously with its preparatory work for the limitation of opinum production, the Opinum Advisory Committee began preparatory work with a view to the limitation of the production and harvesting of eccel leaves, and a certain amount of information was obtained adjourn this question to a later date, though it was of opinions that he pellumiary equivies should be continued. The reason for this decision was that, whereas in the case of the opinum poppy the control of cultivation was regarded as an urgent necessity, control of the cultivation and harvesting of the cose lesf was unlikely to be applicated that the control of the special cultivation was the control of the activation and harvesting of the cose lesf was unlikely to be applicated that the control of the special circumstance stateships to its reposition.

The question was re-opened by the Government of Colombia, which stated, in its Annual Report for 1939; * that, in its country, the problem of drug addiction was that of the eating of cose leaves. It had itself introduced measures of a general character to prevent the extension of this social evil, but it considered that, in addition, international action should be taken to facilitate its eradication. The Government therefore suggested an enquiry by the competent technical organ of the League of Nations into the desirability of preparing an international convention, similar to that which was streight and the superposed for opinion, to limit the cultivation of the coae leaf to what was strictly necessary to meet the world's medical needs. If this aggregation were accepted, Colombia's collaboration was guaranteed engagestion were accepted, Colombia's Collaboration was guaranteed to the contraction of the contraction of the color of the contraction of t

¹ These replies are incorporated in document C.34(a).M.34(a).1945.XI (O.C.1809(a)).
² Decument C.139.M.127.1946.XI (O.C./A.R.1939/47).

7. International Trade.

The war-time interruption and dislocation of international communications necessarily affected the international trade to a considerable degree. While some exporting countries were unable to spare supplies for their regular customers, others were deprived of the possibility of exporting. Feach with an imperative need for drugs, countries had to endeavour to obtain them from new sources and through new channels.

This situation entailed certain risks for the effective application of the import authorisation and export certificate system, but, as far as is known at present, these risks did not materialise. At times it was uncertain whether the central authorities of countries then under Axis occupation or domination were still functioning and, in certain cases, communication with them was impossible. For urgent relief purposes, exports had sometimes to be allowed without the production of the regular import certificates from the competent authorities. It was essential that normal conditions should be restored as early as possible and, in a circular letter to Governments dated June 13th, 1945,1 in which he pointed out that it was more necessary than ever that the international trade in drugs should be subjected to rigorous control, the Acting Secretary-General drew the attention of Governments to the importance of strict compliance with the provisions of the Opium Convention of 1925 as regards the application of the system of import certificates and export authoriantions

8. Illicit Traffic.

The var has had important repercussions on the channels, trends and extent of both the international and internal little traffic. The information now at the disposal of the Secretariat is not sufficient for it to make a detailed study of the situation, hut certain facts emerge from the available data. There is no doubt that international traffic in manufactured drogs had decreased materially, the obvious explanation being the absence or scarcity of sea and international and corts during the var.

During the years immediately preceding the war, the regions in which the international illicit traffic found its principal sources

¹ C L 5 1945 XI

were situated in the Balkan countries and the Near, Middle and Far East. The Balkan countries were soon engulfed in war, and became parts of the so-called Axis New Order, with the result that traffickers elsewhere were unable to draw upon them as sources of supplies. The extent to which illicit traffic in Continental Europe was carried on from the Balkans is unknown. In the Far East, Japanese occupation included a great part of China and extended to other countries, and no information is available except from China. Here the National Government at Chungking continued its campaign against the drug evil. In a public statement on June 3rd, 1940, Generalissimo Chiang Kai-Shek remarked that some people had feared that the war with Japan would postpone the execution of the six-year programme of opium suppression. "The Government"—he went on—"had never such a mind as to change its outstanding policy. To fight against Japan is to struggle for the existence of the nation : to fight against opium is to rehabilitate the health of the people. Both of them are so important and so urgent that it is impossible for the Government to cope with the one and put the other aside." In the regions under the National Government's control, poppy cultivation and raw-opium production were prohibited, and effective measures taken against illicit cultivation, opium-smoking and drug addiction. In regions under Japanese occupation, poppy cultivation was, according to reports transmitted by the Chinese Government, not only encouraged, but forced on the people; opium-smoking and drug addiction were also encouraged and drugs manufactured to supply addicts.

The principal sources of illicit traffic seem to have been in the Near and Middle East and in Central America. Science reports received point to a continuing traffic into the United States of America and the United Kingdom in Iranian raw opium, partly in "sticks" bearing revenue labels of the Iranian Opium Monopoly. This stick opium was also found in the illicit traffic in Inniantertured drays almost creased, but the danger from opium and bashish exterted drays almost creased, but the danger from opium and bashish central opium of the state of the state of the state of the state United States of America were caused by Iranian opium coming in by ship, and by raw and prepared opium and marthuana (Indian hemp) from Mexica. The following are extracts from the Annual Report of the United States of America for $1943:\ensuremath{^{1}}$

"The ease with which raw opium may be obtained in Iran for sunggling to the United States has been causing so much concern that this Government, on April 7th, 1943, made representations to the Iranian Government urging that it devise means to protect, collect and control the 1943 opium crop and to combat effectively the illicit traffic in opium.

"With the cutting off of Southern Europe and the Far East as sources of supply of raw opium, Iran, Mexico and India, in the order named, where opium is cheap and freely available to illicit traffickers, have displaced China, Yugodavia and Italy

as the major bases for opium-smuggling operations to the United States."

Egypt was described as follows by the Director of the Central Narcotics Intelligence Bureau, Cairo, in his Report

"War restriction of shipping has again reduced to very small quantities the smuggling of foreign-made white drugs such as heroin. The principal drugs imported are now hashish and onium, all of which come to us from or through Syria."

In the Introduction to his Report for 1983, the Director of the Central Navories Intelligence Burson, Caina, "stated that it contstanding feature was undoubtedly the account it gave of the second hashin destruction campaign in Syria and the Lebaumo. This had resulted in the destruction of hashin cultivation which would have produced 125 tons of drugs destined to be enungied into Egypt. The Egyptian authorities throughout the year had kept up a lively light against duny traffickers, and 2.049 kg of hashin and 667 kg, of opism were seized, but, in all probability, large quantities got over the contraction of the contraction of the contraction of the court, I is clear from the high prices ruline at the date of the reserve

for 1941 : 8

¹ Document C.18.M.18.1944.XI (O.C./A.R.1943/3).

Document C. (a). M. (3). (1934). At (1934). [10. C., [A.R. 1934]. [4].

³ Document C. (3/a). M. (3/a). [1935]. (10. C., [A.R. 1941]. [4].

⁴ The Report for 1942 has not yet been received in the Socretariat. As one copy only of the 1943 Report has been received, it has not yet been possible to communicate it to Governments.

—namely, ÆEI00 per kilogramme for hashish and ÆEI20 per kilogramme for opium—that the combined efforts of the Egyptian Government, the Palestine police and the French authorities in Syris and the Lebanon, had no raised the cost of these noxious drugs as to put them beyond the reach of the majority of Egypt's peasanty. It is therefore of the utnost importance that Government forces should be ready, when the time comes, to ruped the new theorem of the time of the comment forces should be ready, when the time comes, to ruped the new through the comment forces when the comment forces when the comment forces are the comment forces and the comment forces are the comment forces are the comment forces and the comment forces are the comment forces and the comment forces are the c

Turning from the international to the internal traffic, it should be pointed out that samgglers, seeing their supplies from former sources desinding, had recourse to various stratagems to divert drugs from the lifet to the lilicit market. The means employed were robberies, thefts, fabifications of prescriptions and corruption of persons authorise to prescribe or handle drugs. In the United States of America, the authorities issued instructions to all those their supplies.

their applies.

The above is no nore than an indication of certain davelopment. The above is no more than an indication of certain davelopment brought to light by the limited information residuable to the Secretary of the control of the properties of the control of the properties of the control of the properties of the control and by difficulties connected with international transportation. There is no reason to believe that traffickers have abandoned their nelarious trade. They are not by writing for more favourable opportunities which may come with the return to less shoormal conditions. There are no ground for complexency. On the contrary, it is in very very essential that the campaign against illuit traffic.

. . .

The international drug administration has now functioned since 1921. It has proved capable of regulating a small, but not unimportant, economic activity throughout the world in the interests of humanity as a whole. Its most essential activities have continued during the war and the organisation and its machinery remain instact.

3. SOCIAL QUESTIONS

At the end of 1939, a number of activities were in progress in accordance with the programme drawn up by the organs of the League and, in particular, by the Advisory Committee on Social Questions. This work related, more especially, to probleme socials the legal and moral protection of women and children and other cognate matter.

In addition to studies and enquiries, the work in these domains consisted, in the first place, in the examination of the situation with regard to the application of existing international conventions (several of which had been concluded under the League's auspices) relating to the traffic in women and children and the suppression of the circulation of and traffic in obseene publications.

The Secretariat, moreover, collected and distributed information regarding child and family welfare measures in different countries, whilst the Child Welfare Information Centre, attached to the Social Questions Section, published the texts of the more important laws and administrative measures.

and administrative measures.

Certain of these studies, enquiries and publications related to problems which cannot be satisfactorily solved except by intenational co-operation; others concerned problems which each country must settle for itself, but the solution of which is facilitated

by the exchange of ideas and the pooling of experience and results.

At its last session, held in 1939 shortly before the outbreak of
the war in Europe, there were a number of questions on the Advisory
Committee's arenda.

With regard to the traffic in women and children, these included consideration of the enquiry into measures for the prevention of prostitution. The drafting of the study on this subject was almost complete and the Committee was to give instructions for its publication.

The Committee also considered at this session the question of the establishment in the Far East of a League of Nations Bureau with a view to assisting Far-Eastern countries in their efforts to put down the traffic. In view, however, of the situation then prevailing in the Far East, the Committee considered it inadvisable to proceed with its examination of the question for the time being, though it housed to be able to work out a practical solution later.

Though the question was not on the agenda at that session, it may be recalled that the Committee had framed a draft convention for suppressing the exploitation of the prostitution of others and that the question of the summoning of an international conference on the subject has remained in abeyance.

The Advisory Committee's programme also included the examin-

ation of questions relating to child welfare. Following the publication of a report on the legal position of

the unmarried mother and the illegitimate child,1 the Committee turned its attention to the social aspect of the problem. By 1939, the preparation of a second study, dealing with this side of the question, had reached an advanced stage and its publication might have been expected shortly.

On the other hand, the collection of documentary material regarding the principles adopted in the organisation and administration of welfare work among the young, including social assistance, had only just begun.

The position was the same with regard to the gathering of material on the training of persons engaged in social work, which the Advisory Committee wished to be in a position to place at the disposal of Governments and private associations.

The various problems arising out of family desertion had occupied the Advisory Committee's attention for a number of years. In 1939, a sub-committee was set up to consider the salient points of

the problem and make proposals for its further investigation. Finally, the Committee decided to include in its agenda consider-

ation of the question of "Mui Tsai". During the war, the restrictions on means of communication rendered personal contacts and even correspondence very difficult, if not impossible: the Advisory Committee and the committees of enquiry were unable to meet; and the Secretariat was reduced by resignations and cuts in staff. All work in connection with studies

and investigations had therefore to be suspended. Nevertheless, with the approval of the members of the Advisory Committee whom it had been possible to consult, publication of the Report on the Prevention of Prostitution2 was proceeded with. The greater part of the report had been approved by the

¹ Dogument C 20 M 24 1929 IV 2 Document C 26 M 26 1942 IV

Committee at its 1939 session. It supplements the studies published in 1938 and 1939 on the rehabilitation of prostitutes.¹

The documentary material concerning the traffic in women and children and child welfare has, as far as possible, been kept the date. Several Governments have continued to transmit their annual reports on these questions and on the circulation of and traffic obsecue publications, and summaries of their reports have been published regularly.²

General supervision over the execution of agreements with regard to the traffic in women and children was entrusted to League of Nations under Article 23 (e) of the Covenant. The League's disappearance, it would seem, must not interrupt supervision or put an end to the work of developing international co-operation in child velfare matters.

4. SLAVERY

The Advisory Committee of Experts on Slavery was set up under a Assembly Resolution dated October 12th, 1923; to examine the documents transmitted by Governments regarding measures taken with a view to the total abolition of the silver trade and of elavery in its different forms. The Committee was to study the facts and institutions mentioned in Article 1 of the 1926 Slavery Convention, 5 to examine their role in the social system and, butly, to study the continue of the convention of the continue of the

by sale or exchange of a slave acquired with a view to and, in general, every act of trade or transport in slaves."

¹ Prestitutes, Their Early Lives (document C.213.M.120.1938.IV); Social Services and Veneroal Diseases (document C.6.M.5.1938.IV); Methods for the Rehabilitation of Adult Prestitutes (document C.63.M.43.1939.IV). **Traffic in Women and Children: Documents C.23.M.25.1940.IV, C.35.M.32.

^{1941.}IV and Addendum, C75.M.75.1942.IV, C.33.M.33.1943.IV, C.65.M.65.1944. IV and C.112.M.112.1945.IV. Observe Publications: Documents C.27.M.24.1940.IV, C.73.M.70.1941.IV, C.69.M.69.1942.IV, C.32.M.32.1943.IV, C.64.M.64.1944.IV and C.113.M.113.1945.IV.

Child Welfare: Documents C.41.M.37.1940.IV, C.15.M.15.1942.IV, C.12.M.12
1943.IV and C.8.M.8.1945.IV.

For the purpose of the Convention, the following definitions are agreed upon:

[&]quot;(1) Slavery is the status or condition of a person over whom any or all of the powers attaching to the right of womership are exercised.
• "(2) The slave trade includes all acts involved in the capture, acquisition or disposal of a person with intent to reduce him to slavery; all acts involved in the acquisition of a larve with a view to selling or exchanging him; all acts of disposal by sale or exchange of a slaver acquired with a view to brigg sold or exchanged.

Since 1933, the Committee has held five sessions, the last in April 1938. According to the report "which it then presented to the Conseil and which the latter examined on May 11th, 1938," abserve and the last rate were not the point of disappearing completely and continuous progress was being made regarding the solution of the problems which presented themselves in certain countries in connection with other institutions or customs resembling slavery to a greater or lesser degree.

In the sume report, the Committee made a number of suggestions with a view to obtaining further light no points arising in the documents supplied by Governments and expressed the hope — in which the Council concerned — that the Governments would centime to supply information as full and as accurate as possible, in accordance with Article 7 of the 1926 Conventions' and the various Assembly resolutions. A number of Governments responded to the deterior experience to the Committee's session in 1928 and even during the war, second to the Committee's session in 1928 and even during the war.

5. INTERNATIONAL ASSISTANCE TO REFUGEES

1. The resolution adopted at the nineteenth session of the Anembly (September 1930) † gave fresh impets to international assistance to refugees. The organs which had hitherto been resonable for the legal protection of the various estappies of refusers the various estappies of refusers and the Office of the High Commissioner for Refugees coming from Germany, there was henceforth a High Commissioner of the Laque of Nations. Among the functions assigned to the High Commissioner were the provision for publical and legal protection of refugees;

¹ Document C,112.M.98.1938,VI.

See Minutes of Hundred-and-first Session of the Council, page 313, and Report on the Work of the League for 1937/38, Part I, document A.6.1938, pages 59-60.
The Slavery Convention of September 25th, 1926, Article 7:

[&]quot;The High Contracting Parties undertake to communicate to each other and to the Secretary-General of the Langue of Nations any laws and regulations which they may easet with a view to the application of the provisions of the present Convention."

⁴ See in particular the resolution of October 12th, 1932, in which the Assembly expresses the hope that "the organs of the League will be kept informed of the measures which the Governments continue to take for the total abolition of the slave treade and of slavery in its different forms".

See Official Journal of the League of Nations, Special Supplement No. 182, page 26.

of the legal status of refugees; the co-ordination of humanitarian sasistance and assistance to the Governments and private organiations in their efforts to promote immigration and permanent settlement. Si Hiebert Emerson was appointed High Commissioner. He was instructed to keep in close touch with the Governministration of the contraction of the contraction of the ministration of the contraction of the contraction of the Refugees in London. He was further instructed to establish contact with private organisations dealing with refugee questions.

An account of the activities of the High Commissioner previous to the war was given in the report which he submitted to the Assembly in August 1939,1 and he has since regularly transmitted to the Secretariat annual reports which were distributed from Geneva to States Members of the League.2 A prominent feature of the work of the High Commissioner has been his close collaboration with intergovernmental organisations and with voluntary agencies engaged in work for refugees. The association with the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees, which was established at the Conference held at Evian in July 1938, has been particularly intimate as, early in 1939, Sir Herbert Emerson was invited to become Honorary Director of the Committee and has since continuously held the chief executive office of that organisation. With the spread of the area affected by the war, there has been a large increase both in the number and in the categories of refugees, and the High Commissioner, believing that it would not be the wish of the Assembly that he should rigidly limit his activities to the terms of the mandate, concerned himself with various aspects of the problem. This became part of his regular functions in his other capacity when, in August 1943, the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees was reorganised and its mandate, which until then had only included refugees from "Greater Germany", was greatly extended 3

Following the occupation of the greater part of Europe by the Axis Powers, and the severance of communications, direct contact between the High Commissioner and the countries giving asylum to the largest colonies of Nansen refugees was inter-

See document A.18/s/.1939.XII.
 See documents C.63.M.56.1940.XII, C.7.M.7.1941.XII, C.25.M.25.1942.XII,
 C.19.M.19.1943.XII, C.23.M.23.1944.XII, C.79.M.79.1945.XII.
 Document C.23.M.23.1944.XII.

rupted for nearly four years. His assistance was limited to the few who were in Switzerland and Turkey. Soon after the liberation of France and Belgium, the High Commissioner, with Dr. Kullmann, Deputy High Commissioner, visited those countries and, at the request of the Governments, the system of protection in force before the war was restored. In France, the Franco-Belgian Agreement of 1928 1 was again put into force, so that quasi-consular powers could be given by decree to the newly-appointed representative of the High Commission. The Nansen stamp was maintained, and the receipts from it will again be credited to the High Commissioner's Humanitarian Account. The so-called "Central Offices" for Russian and Armenian refugees were also reconstituted and placed under the joint control of the French Foreign Office and the High Commission. In Belgium, too, a representative was again appointed at the request of the Government and was given quasiconsular functions. As might be expected, the war has created new difficulties for these refugees, and there are many directions in which they require assistance and legal protection, and these are being given efficiently by the High Commissioner through his representatives. While, on the whole, the repatriation of workers and deportees of French or Belgian Nansen status has gone smoothly. there are numerous persons who will need fresh documents before being able to regain their status under the regime of the 1933 Convention.2 There is also an influx of Nansen refugees from Central-European countries to be dealt with. Others who were displaced within the country at the time of occupation and were living either in hiding or with the Resistance also need fresh papers. In brief, the High Commissioner thinks that the disturbances brought about by the war make the continuation of the functioning of legal and political protection by an International Refugee Authority more necessary than ever. It must also, in his view, be borne in mind that, with the suspension of the ordinary naturalisation procedure in most of the countries, owing to unstable economic conditions, the normal process of absorption has practically come to a standetill

3. The severance of communications with most countries on the Continent seriously affected the work of the High Commissioner

Tresty Series, Vol. XCIII, page 377, and document C.32.M.32.1944.XII.
 Tresty Series, Vol. CLIX, page 199, and Circular Letter 10.1944.XII.

in regard also to refugees from "Greater Germany", but not to the same extent as in the case of the Nansen refugees. There were many German and Austrian refugees outside Europe who had not been permanently settled and who were in need of immediate help. During the early years of the war, it was still sometimes possible to give indirect assistance to those inside Europe. Thus, every effort was made to keep the Western-European exit door open as long as possible, notably via Spain and Portugal, and the Deputy High Commissioner undertook a mission to Lisbon for that purpose in 1941. As soon as the wave of racial persecution was extended to the Low Countries and France, efforts were made to encourage the neighbouring escape countries-Switzerland and Spain-to admit liberally refusees crossing the border without exit and entry permits. As regards Spain, which remained open towards the west, evacuation was encouraged in every way, so as to avoid a bottleneck which might have led to the closing of the Pyrenees border. In the South-East of Europe, the High Commission, in collaboration with Governmental agencies and voluntary bodies, made every effort to facilitate evacuation from the south-eastern subjugated countries via Turkey to Palestine.

At the beginning of the war, there were approximately 60,000 German and Austrian refugees in the United Kingdom. Many of them had been admitted on the guarantee of voluntary organisations that their maintenance would not be a charge on public funds : but, with the outbreak of war, their entire maintenance from private sources became impracticable, and the Government of the United Kingdom agreed to assist through a system of grants made to private committees. A Committee was established for the purpose of administering these grants, and the High Commissioner was invited to become its Chairman, an office which he still holds. This work brought him into very close and friendly relations with a number of voluntary organisations, and gave him first-hand knowledge of many refugee problems. Again, following the German victories in 1940, it was necessary for the British Government to intern, as a precautionary measure, many thousands of German and Austrian refugees. The High Commissioner was consulted regarding the principles that should govern their release and he took an active part in securing the freedom of a large number of individuals. Similar measures of internment were taken in other countries outside Europe, and they involved interventions by the High

Commissioner on behalf of individuals. Many other questions arose throughout the war, so that, although the amount of work varied from time to time, there was continuous need and opportunity for the High Commissioner to provide for the political and legal protection of this category of refugees. A civil documents service was set up by the High Commission to enable refugees to secure. through neutral channels, civil documents required either for their re-emigration overseas or for acts of civil life (birth certificates, Court decisions regarding guardianship, death certificates, so-called "Lebensbescheinigungen", divorce decrees, etc.). Persons denationalised by individual decision of the German Government were provided with denationalisation certificates. In respect of persons living in the United Kingdom who were close relatives of refugees stranded in Switzerland, a transfer scheme was negotiated between the British Treasury and the Federal Government for the purposes of remittances, and is operated under the High Commissioner's auspices. Similar arrangements, though less elaborate, were made in regard to refugees in unoccupied France, the Iberian Peninsula and Sweden.

The scope of the work increased as European countries were billerated and, with the end of the war, there is a very large volume of work relating both to immediate problems and to future plans. Some of these involve expenditure on measures of relief and come within the scope of the Intergovernmental Committee on Refugees: others are best dealt with by the High Commission, whilst some are of common interest to both agencies. Indeed, in regard to refagees from: "Great Greanty," in would be difficult, or our law vacue of the common contribution of the contribution of the contribution of the Fartmarely, this is unnecessary. The important point is that machiney exists for dealing with its particular group of refugees.

4. In the High Commissioner's opinion, experience during the var has shown that the legal and administrative protection of refugers, which is a creation of the League of Nations and constitutes one of the main functions of the High Commission, is vital to their interests, and that, quite apart from the question of expenditure on physical relief, it must remain a fundamental responsibility of any intergovernmental refuges authority. In his view, the other priori that has elapsed since the end of the European war has already shown that both the need and the scope for protection will be greater than ever. Whatever from the Refuges Authority

may take, the High Commissioner deems it essential that it should assume responsibility for legal and administrative protection, and that there should be no interruption, even temporarily, in the assistance that is now available to refugees.

6. SETTLEMENT OF THE ASSURIANS OF IRAO

Work in connection with the settlement in Syria of the Assyrians of Iraq, which had been in progress over a period of years, was completed in December 1941.

The history of this settlement provides an example of the difficulties inherent in every attempt, even on a small scale, to establish a permanent settlement of refugees.

These Assyrians, nearly all of them Christians, formed part of the Assyrian population which had taken refuge in Iraq during the upheavals occasioned in the Middle East by the first world war. They began to make efforts to leave Iraq in 1933, when the United Kingdom relinquished its mandate over that country. Their first attempt at emigration gave rise to incidents on the frontier between Iraq and Syria. Finally, the French authorities allowed the Assyrian refugees to enter the territory of Syria, but they admitted them only temporarily and quartered them in encampments in the Valley of the Khabur, whilst the Council of the League of Nations was endeavouring to find a State or a colony where they could settle in a permanent manner. The efforts of the Council having failed, the French Government agreed, in 1935, to create a permanent settlement for the Assyrian refugees in the Plain of the Ghab, with the financial participation of the States of the Levant under French mandate, the United Kingdom and Irag. The Assembly of the League of Nations then voted a special contribution for the purpose of assisting in carrying out this plan, a step which it had never before taken in connection with any specific work of settlement. In 1936, the plan was abandoned, as the French Government pointed out that it was preparing to emancipate the States of the Levant from the mandate and that, in consequence, there were difficulties of a political nature which stood in the way of the settlement of the refugees in the Plain of the Ghab. Finally, in 1937, it was decided to convert the temporary settlement in the Valley of the Khabur into a permanent colony, with the financial participation of the United Kingdom, Iraq and the League of Nations. The execution

of the plan was placed in the hands of the Trustee Board, an autonomous organisation which had been given legal status and was co-operating with the French mandatory authorities at Beirut. The functions of this Board ceased finally in January 1942, the settlement plan having, at that date, henc completely carried out.

This gives some idea of the difficulties that had to be overcome in order to bring about the settlement of a few thousand refugees belonging, it is true, to a population group which had practically no connection and no affinity with any other people. In their favour there was, however, the fact that the United Kingdoon felt a certain responsibility towards a minority of which it had assumed the charge when exercising its mandate in Iraq. The latter country also desired to help to find a permanent settlement elsewhere for those members of this minority who wished to leave it territory. France, the mandatory Power in Systa — notwithstanding the difficulties that were entailed for her by an immigration she did not excluse that were entailed for her by an immigration she did not prompted by feedings of humanity, associated their efforts with those of the United Kingdom and of Iraq in order to find a satisfactor solution.

At the present time, whilst some 20,000 Assyrians have remained in the north of Iraq, where they form a Christian minority, the 9,000 or so who emigrated to Syria have acquired Syrian nationality. Before that nationality was granted to them, they were settled

Before that nationality was granted to them, they were settled on a permanent basis, thanks to the financial ail provided for in the settlement plan. They have been given land, agricultural equipment, and live-stock in on far as what they had brought with them from Iraq was insufficient. They have been settled in thirtyther villages, which form an administrative unit, and rearly every and four Catholic churches). The settlement has, in addition, been provided with sixten eshools and also, from the context, with a hospital, in order to improve the health situation and, in particular, to combat malaria.

In accordance with the undertakings which they had given with regard to the sharing of the cost, the Governments of Governments of United Kingdom and of Iraq each contributed 1,514,885,90 Swiss francs and the League of Nations 525,865.85 Swiss francs, the tagener of Nations 525,865.85 Swiss francs, the Jackson Swiss francs.

7. TECHNICAL COLLABORATION

BETWEEN THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS AND CHINA

Technical collaboration with China was continued until the end of 1940. It was then discontinued, with the agreement of the Chinese Government, owing to the financial situation of the League.

(a) Anti-epidemic Work.

According to the plan drawn up by the Epidemic Commission in 1939, the League experts were regarded as advisers placed at the disposal of the Chinese Government, which henceforth assumed entire responsibility for all anti-pidemic measures. Whilst continuing to serve in their advisory capacity, these experts, whose number had been reduced to four in the course of 1939, undertook, at the request of the Chinese Government, the investigation of a number of subjects such as malaria in Changling, the organisation of health services in Kweichow, the epidemiological situation along the road from Kuming to Chengtu and the Burnar north, the damper of the control of Tabiling from the appearance of happen in Burnar and the orards of Tabiling from the appearance of the control of Central China.

In the course of 1939, the Secretariat arranged for medicaments and laboratory equipment to a value of more than 300,000 Swiss frances to be east from Europe to China, and purchases of medicaments, to an amount exceeding 160,000 Chinaes dollars, were made in China itself. Finally, more than 60,000 Swiss france were expended on the transport of experts and material to the interior of the country.

Thanks to the credit voted by the Assembly at its twentieth session (December 1939), the anti-epidemic activities could be continued throughout 1940. Their scope was, however, considerably reduced as compared with previous years in consequence of the Chinese Government's desire for the extension of technical collaboration in the field of communications, and of the turn taken by international events.

Thus, under the plan worked out in conjunction with the Chinese Government, the Epidemic Commission was abolished as from the end of 1939, and only the contracts of two medical experts were extended into 1940.

¹ This Commission consisted of experts who had directed the work of the medical units in 1938, and a representative of the Chinese health authorities.

Of the two experts mentioned above—who were assisted by artilizery staff locally recruited but paid by the League of Nations one worked in close collaboration with the National Health Administration in Chungking and made tours of inspection in various parts of China. His responsibilities included the organisation of historatories, supervision of the Chunghing water supply, antidibutatories, supervision of the Chunghing water supply, anticompared to the control of the control of the control of the The other expert, who was stationed at Kwelyang, divoted himself to besteriological and exclusived results.

The first of these experts was further responsible for the local administration and control of the League funds made available for technical collaboration as well as for the League's stores in China and in particular for its vehicles.

For the purpose of taking over material for technical collaboration deparathed from Europe and forwarding it into the interior of China, an office was established at Hanel and continued in operation until March 1940, when the despatch of consignments was discontinued and activities in China were generally reduced. Even after the office was closed, however, its manager was retained a correspondent of the League of Nations to wind up certain activities, and he continued to set in that casosity until the benishing of 1941.

(b) Other Aspects of Technical Collaboration in 1939 and 1940.

In its suggestions regarding technical collaboration in 1940, the Chinese Government, as has been mentioned above, expressed a desire that the main development should be in the field of communications. With this end in view, it asked for the appointment of a number of engineers, including experts in hydraulics and road construction.

A variety of circumstances, and more especially political and military events in Europe, prevented more than a partial fulfilment of the plans which had been prepared for the despatch of engineers to China. It was not until May 1940 that it was found possible to appoint an engineer specialising in the improvement of waterways. During his tay in China, this capert, at the request of the appoint and the contract of the contract of the contraction of the contract of the contract of the contract of the contract shallow of the contract of the contract of the contract of King Basin, particularly in the province of Szechwan. For the reasons above mentioned, efforts to secure the services of a roadbuilding expert came to nothing. Furthermore, the expert on agricultural co-operative societies, who had worked in close collaboration with the competent Chinese authorities until the end of 1939, was then obliged to return to Europe.

(c) Liquidation.

Towards the end of 1940, it became increasingly clear that the development of the international situation would soon make the continuance of technical collaboration with China very difficult, if not impossible to maintain jetters and telegrams were no longer arriving or were considerably delayed. Almost insupersible difficulties also began to arise with regard to the administration of funds. Moreover, an increasingly drawing policy of budgetary petrenchment

In these circumstances, the Arting Secretary-General, after an interview with the Chinese Minister Bernet, found himself dollaged interview of the Chinese Minister Collaboration with Chine abundant to decide that the work of reducinel collaboration with Chine abundant of the discontinuous after from January 18, 1941. He conveyed this has decision to the Chinese Government and also informed the expected in Chine and the Correspondent at I Bando, while at the same time notifying them of the termination of their appointments as from December 318.1, 1940.

On December 9th, 1940, the Chinese Minister for Foreign Affairs telegraphed to the Acting Secentraly-General that the Chinese Government, being fully aware of the League's financial difficulties, agreed as a temporary measure to accept the termination of the experts' appointments. In the hope, however, that the "stormy season" would soon be over, it reserved its right to make proporates time.⁵ for the revival of the collaboration scheme at the appropriate time.⁵

for the revival of the collaboration scheme at the appropriate time.²

These appointments were, however, extended until January 31st, 1941, so

so tay to the Chinese authorities time to delay this extivities to the new database and to enable the experts only proceeded with the winding-up process singlificativity).

As decided, the expert only proceeded with the winding-up of their activities with very fearer, but had been agreed that the supplies placed by the League of Nations at its expert disposal were, on the completion of their work, to become already been landed over to the Chinese antherities when the native plenetic units were disably wound up, the expert and standardy been landed over to the Chinese antherities when the native plenetic units were disably wound up, the the work of collaboration was finally wound up, the expert carries to the contract of the contraction and supplies of all this, suce particularly to the Chinese National Health Administrations. This comprised medicant contraction of the contraction of the chinese varieties and the contraction of the contraction of the chinese varieties and the contraction of the chinese varieties and the chinese varieties are chinese varieties.

III. MANDATES

The Permanent Mandates Commission has not met since 1940 and the Council has not examined the Commission's reports on the work done at its sessions in June and December 1939 (thirty-sixth and thirty-seventh sessions).

At its thirty-sixth session, the Commission examined the annual reports of the mandatory Powers on the administration of the following territories: Palestine and Transjordan (1938), Syria and Lebanon (1938), Togoland under French Mandate (1938), South West Africa (1938), New Guinea (1937/38), Nauru (1938), It also considered a number of petitions relating to Palestine, Syria and Lebanon.1 In addition, following the discussions in the Council on January 17th and May 22nd, 1939, the Commission, with the assistance of the British Secretary of State for the Colonies, considered the policy laid down by the mandatory Power in the document entitled: "Palestine: Statement of Policy", issued in May 1939.2

The Commission held its thirty-seventh session at Geneva in December 1939. The Minutes of this session, including the Commission's report to the Council,3 together with the annual reports of the mandatory Powers examined during that session, were communicated to the Council and the Members of the League of Nations on April 5th, 1940.4

In its report to the Council, the Commission made a number of observations regarding the administration of the following territories: the Cameroons under British Mandate (1938), the Cameroons

¹ The Minutes of the thirty-sixth session of the Permanent Mandates Commission, including the Commission's report to the Council (document C.170,M.100, 1939.VI), together with the annual reports of the mandatory Powers examined at that session, were communicated to the Council on August 17th and to the States Members of the League of Nations on August 19th, 1939 (document C.232.M.158. measures or one League of Nations on August 19th, 1939 (document U.232.M.153.

1939.Vl). A summary of the work of the session was published in the Report on the Work of the League of Nations, July-November 1939, submitted to the Assembly in 1939 (document A.6/a),1939, pages 12-16).

2 Document C.163.M.9-5.1939.Vl.

² Document C.7.M.5.1940.VI

¹ Document C 49 M 45 1940 VI

under French Mandate (1938), Tanganyika Territory (1938), Ruanda-Urundi (1938), Togoland under British Mandate (1938), and Western Samoa (1938/39). It also considered a petition relating to Palestine.

COMMUNICATIONS RECEIVED FROM THE MANDATORY POWERS AND WORK OF THE SECRETARIAT SINCE 1940

- With a letter dated February 28th, 1940, the Government of the United Kingdom transmitted to the Secretary-General the following documents relating to the sale of land in Palestine:
 - (a) Regulations under Article 16 D of the Palestine Ordersin-Council, 1922-1939;
 (b) Statement explanatory of the Palestine Land Transfers
 - (b) Statement explanatory of the Palestine Land Transfers Regulations;
- (c) Memorandum by the United Kingdom Government.

These documents were communicated to the Council, to the Permanent Mandates Commission and to the Members of the League on March 7th, 1940 (document C.36.M.32.1940.VI).

- In its letter, the United Kingdom Government recalled that, for reasons connected with the international situation, the Conneil had not been able to consider the Mandates Commission's report on its thirty-stable session. In the meantine, one point referred to in that report—namely, the question of the sale of land in Palestine—and called for urgent action and, it have ricematures, the mandatory Government had decided to authorise the issue of Regulations for the sale of land, as contemplated by the "Statement of Policy" of May 1939. The Government held that this action was in no way more consistent with the previsions of the mandate. Due the circumstance with the previsions of the mandate. Due the circumstance with the previsions of the mandate. Due the circumstance with the previsions of the mandate. Due the circumstance with the previsions of the mandate. Due to circumstance with the previsions of the mandate. Due the circumstance with the circumstance of the prevision of the conference of the Council should with to ask that the Council should be convented to discuss it.
- Since 1940, a number of annual reports from mandatory Powers on the administration of mandated territories have been received by the Secretariat and transmitted to the members of the

¹ The Regulations provided for the delimitation of sones in which land sales from Arabs to Jews would, at any rate for the moment, be restricted, prohibited or remain free, respectively.

Mandates Commission. These reports concern the following territories:

The Islands under Japanese Mandate, for 1938;

Nauru (under Mandate of the British Empire), for 1939; .

Western Samoa (under New Zealand Mandate), for 1939/40
and 1940/41;

South West Africa (under South-African Mandate), for 1939.

The Secretariat has continued to keep up to date, as far as soublik, information in respect of mandated territories coming both from official and from non-official sources. In addition to the above-mentioned annual reports, thas received disidial gazettes, the texts of laws and reports on various aspects of the administration of these territories, such as public finance, tracks, public health, the contract of the Mandates Commission with whom correspondence was possible.

 The Report on the Work of the League of Nations, 1942-1943, included summaries of various communications received in 1941 and 1943 from General de Gaulle or the French National Committee concerning Syria and Lebanon.¹

4. In April 1945, at the time when the principles for the administration of non-autonomous territories and the system of international trusteeship, since incorporated in the United Nations Charter, were under discussion, the Secretariat published a study on the Mandates system.³

Chapter I briefly retraces the historical background, the genosis and the establishment of the system of "tutleage" created in virtue of Article 22 of the Govenant. Chapter II analyses the fundamental principles of the mandatory system and the methods adopted for the application of those principles, as defined in the provisions of the anadate. "Charters" Chapter III describes the way in which the anadate "Charters" Chapter III describes the way in which the anadate "Charters" Chapter III describes the way in which Langue of Nations, the powers, duties and procedure of the form of the League of Nations, the powers, duties and procedure of the organic and the means of supervision placed at their disposal and, in particular, the role and work of the Mandates Commission. Chapter IV

¹ Document C.25.M.25.1943, pages 76-78. The Mondates System: Origin-Principles-Application (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1945. VI. A.1, 120 pages).

is devoted to the question of the moral, social and material welfare of the natives. The last chapter, which is entitled "The population of the mandated territories", summarises the demographic data furnished in the annual reports of the mandatory Powers and statistical tables are given concerning the numerical development of the populations, birth rates and death rates, etc., so far as these can be commuted approximately on the basis of such data.

IV. INTELLECTUAL CO-OPERATION

The report and the resolutions adopted by the International Committee on Intellectual Co-operation during the session held in the summer of 1939 furnish evidence of the scope and variety of the work done by the Intellectual Co-operation Organisation before the war.1 The mere enumeration of the following subjects will suffice :

- (1) Work of the Permanent Committee on Arts and Letters: "Conversations" and "Correspondence" organised under the auspices of this Committee.
 - (2) Scientific study of international relations: International Studies Conference. (4) Modern means of spreading information; work of the
 - (3) Study of social sciences.
 - Intellectual Co-operation Organisation in connection with wireless broadcasting and the cinematograph; application of the Convention for facilitating the International Circulation of Films of an Educational Character.
 - (5) Unemployment among intellectuals; work of the International Bureau of University Statistics.
 - (6) Educational problems; work of the Standing Committee on Higher Education and of the Committee of the International Student Organisations.
 - (7) Exact and experimental sciences; diffusion of scientific knowledge.
 - (8) Fine Arts: work of the International Museums Office: plan for an international travelling exhibition of contemporary art : publication of a periodical survey of comparative legislation and international law in relation to art and archeology; draft Convention for the Protection of National Collections of Art and History; draft Convention for the Protection of Monuments and Works of Art in Time of War.

³ Document C.231.M.153.1939.XII. This document contains also extracts from the general report for 1939 of the Director of the International Institute of Intellectual Co-operation to the International Committee and to the Governing Body.

- (9) Literature; publication of the "Ibero-American Collection".
- (10) Libraries; exchange of publications; photographic reproduction of documents and publications; progressive development of the Index Translationum.
- (11) Intellectual rights; universal protection of authors' rights; regulation of performers' rights.
- (12) Work of the National Committees on Intellectual Coperation; first Conference of American National Committees on Intellectual Co-operation, held at Santiago, Chile, in January 1939; project for holding in 1940 a third General Conference of National Committees on Intellectual Co-operation.

The numer of 1939 witnessed site the last important meeting arranged by the indicatests in Cooperation Organization, who will be assumed the Permanent International Studies Conference, held at Bergen (Newsy) from August 26th to 29th, 1939. For this session, which was devoted to a discussion on conomic policies and peace, the basic documentary material comprised scientific studies of the economic policy of various countries, prepared by numerous anitonal groups; for therefore, several groups of experts had pre-tained and peace of the property of the pro

In view of the imminence of war in Europe, the session at Bergen was cut short. The outbreak of hostilities did not, however, put an end to the activities of the Intellectual Co-operation Organisation.

In December 1939, the Executive Committee of the International Committee, which is responsible for supervising the organisation as a whole between the sessions and for seeing that the decisions of the Committee are carried out, held its twenty-ninth session at Geneva, and its report on this session was communicated in February 1940 to the chairmen of the National Committees on Intellectual Co-operation. 1

The International Act concerning Intellectual Co-operation, signed at Paris on December 3rd, 1938, came into force on December 5th, 1939, having by that date been ratified by eight signatory States.

¹ Document C.I.C.L/Com. Ex./110.

After the summer of 1940, the war interrupted nearly all the work of the Intellectual Co-operation organs in Europe. Intellectual co-operation was, however, maintained in America and the National Committees of that continent held their second Conference at Havana in November 1941.

Although the International Institute of Intellectual Co-operation suspended its official activities after the occupation of Paris and did not resume them until after the liberation, certain work was nevertheless carried on in Paris during the years of occupation. The International Museums Office left its statutory seat in the premises of the Institute, but continued its work of documentation. It prepared several publications which were issued immediately upon the termination of the occupation. Among them may be mentioned the English edition of two manuals previously published in French by the Office-the Manual on the Preservation and Restoration of Paintings and the Technique of Archaeological Excavations; two volumes (Nos. 49-50) of the review Mouseion; 3 the first number of a series entitled International Problems of Art and Archwology, which comprises a certain number of studies on legal, administrative and technical problems respecting international relations in matters of art, archæology and ethnology.4

Towards the end of 1944, the International Museums Office recursand its normal activities within the limit of the international relations then possible and of the funds at its disposal. In addition to its muscoparbiacl work, the Office directs the work of the following organs: International Commission on Historical Mousments, International Center of the Institutes of Archeology and of helm-y of Art. International Commission on Folkhors and Towa-planning.

One study carried out by the Office calls for particular mention at the present time. It deals with the problem of the reconstitution

¹ Sec Report on the Work of the League, 1941-1942 (document C.35.M.35.1942, pages 63-65).

^{*} The Work of the International Museums Office and Associated Organisations during the Perisod James 1940 to Janusry 1945, by E. Foundoukidis. * The first contains, inter alia, a study on the precautions taken in various countries to protect monuments and works of art during the second world war.

countries to protect monuments and works of art during the second world war.

Frathermore, two polyglot lexicons (Russian-French-English and GreekFrench-English) of the technical terms used in Bysantine archarology, litungy
and art were compiled. Byzantinists have long urged the need for such implements
for their work.

in their entirety of the artistic and historical heritages of territories subjected to occupation during the var. As early as 1939 and 1946, the Office had devoted two volumes of its Compendium of Comparies Legislation and International Lane to the question of the protection of national artistic and historical possessions and to that of Testing and the Comparies of the Comparie

The work of the Office in connection with historical monuments may also be of use in present circumstances. For the use of technicians whose duty it will be to restore monuments damaged during the war, the Office has compiled an analysis indeer of the value of the properties of the control of historical monuments of the preparation of a repetury of monuments of the preparation of a repetury of monument of the preparation of a repetury of monument of the order of the preparation of a repetury of monument of art destroyed or duringed by set of war. This work will constitute an inventory of the artistic impoversionment of the

Of all the various hodies attached to the International Museums Office, the International Centre of Studies on Architecture and Townplanning is perhaps that which will be called upon to display the greatest activity at the present time. In 1938, this Centre (which was set up in 1937) had, at the request of the Government of the United Kingdom, drawn up regulations for international competitions in architecture, town-planning and the associated arts. It had at the same time taken up a problem about which Government departments and the general public had long felt concern-namely, the conservation of the vestiges of the past and its reconcilement with the demands of modern town-planning. It has also undertaken a comparative survey of the legislative and administrative systems of various countries with regard to town-planning. All these problems are at present of interest to national authorities, more particularly in countries rayaged by war. The Centre has therefore drawn up a complete programme of international studies to be carried out by meetings of experts and in accordance with the usual methods of work of the International Museums Office.

٠٠.

Finally, it should be noted that the Governing Body of the International Institute of Intellectual Cooperation, which was convened by its President, held its seventeenth session in Paris on October 25th, 1985. The sixteenth session was held in Geneva in July 1992. The agends of the seventeenth session comprised in July 1992. The agends of the seventeenth session comprised in July 1992. The agends of the seventeenth session comprised in July 1992 and 1992 are seventeenth session comprised in July 1992 and 1992 and 1992 are seventeenth session comprised presents and financial formation. Furthermore, a United Nations Conference for the extra bilishment of an Educational and Cultural Organisation is to meet this year in London.

V. QUESTIONS OF A LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE CHARACTER

1. LEGAL OUESTIONS

(a) Registration and Publication of Treaties and International Engagements.

Registration of Treaties.

Between May 19th, 1920, and October 1st, 1945, 4,834 treaties and international engagements were submitted for registration. The Secretariat has also revisered a large number of accessions.

ratifications and denunciations in respect of treaties previously registered, mainly general conventions.

It is to be observed that the number of treaties registered tended

It is to be observed that the number of treaties registered tended to decrease during the years preceding the second world war. This was due, in the first place, to the fact that several States left the League of Nations and, secondly, to the fact that certain Members of the League to some extent neglected to conform to Article 18 of the Covenant, under which they were bound to register all treaties entered into by them.

It is noteworthy that, during the war years, almost all the treaties received by the Secretariat of the League of Nations for registration and publication were communicated by the British Government and by the Government of the United States of America.

The number of treaties registered in each of the last ten years was

ows:							
Year				Nu	mber of treaties	Registration Nos.	
1936					235	3795	to 4029
1937					209	4030	to 4238
1938					257	4239	to 4495
1939					165	4496	to 4660
1940					94	4661	to 4754
1941					54	4755	to 4808
1942					13	4809	to 4821
1943					1	44	322
1944					12	4823	to 4834
1945					0 1		

¹ Up to October 1st, 1945.

Publication of Treaties.

Notwithstanding the drastic reduction in 1940 of the staff responsible for the registration and publication of treaties, advantage was taken of the war period to bring the publication of registered treaties almost completely up to date.

During the last eight years the publication of treaties has proceeded as follows:

Year			Number of volumes	Nos. of the vole	Registration Nos. of the treaties				
1938						12	175 to	186	4049 to 4327
1939	·	,				8	187 to	194	4328 to 4531
1940						4	195 to	198	4532 to 4659
1941						1	199		4660 to 4685
1942						2	200 and	201	4686 to 4731
1943			,	į.		2	202 and	203	4732 to 4783
1944						1	204		4784 to 4822
1945			in		rep	aration	205 and	1	4823 to 4834
						(General Index	No. 91	

Only twelve registered treaties remain to be published.

(b) Publication of the Twenty-first List of Signatures, Ratifications and Accessions in respect of Agreements and Conventions

concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations. ²

The Twentieth List was dated August 28th, 1939. The Twenty-

first List, dated July 10th, 1944, is so arranged as to present a general view of the legislative work of the League of Nations since its foundation: this work has been considerable.

The volume is divided into two Books: the first concerns agreements and conventions concluded under the auspices of the League, other than Labour conventions: these last are dealt with in Book II.

¹ General Index (No. 9) forming a separate volume, will cover Volumes 194-295—i.e., Treatics 4501 et seq. ³ Document C.25.M.25.1943.V.Annex, Geneva, July 10th, 1944.

Book I contains two parts:

(a) Part I covers agreements and conventions in respect of which signatures, ratifications and accessions may still be received—i.e., agreements and conventions the position in regard to which may change.

This Part is rubdivided into two Headings. The first comprise a chromological table showing in respect of each agreement or convention the number of ratifications, accessions and signatures together with such changes as have occurred since the publication of the previous list. The progress made can thus be seen at a glance. Reference to the table shows that, novellheading indisourable circumstances, various new signatures, ratifications or acceptance to the progression of the progression of the progression of the two-the-progression and conventions has increased.

twenty-three agreements and conventions has increased.

It will be noted, however, that, as regards the Optional Clause of Article 36 of the Statute of the Permanent Court of International Justice, providing for the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court, the number of States bound by the clause has fallen from 38 to 31, owing to the fact that certain expirate undertakines have not been renewed. 3

The second Heading comprises in respect of each agreement or convention a list of States having ratified or acceded to it, a list of those having signed it, and a list of those entitled to sign it.

(b) Part II concerns "Agreements and Conventions in respect of which, in principle, signatures, ratifications and accessions may no longer be received". This part, which was not contained in earlier editions, is mainly of historical interest.

Book II relates to Labour Conventions.

This too is subdivided into two Headings. The first comprises a chronological table showing the number of accessions in respect of each convention and any changes since the publication of the preceding list.

of each convention and any changes since the publication of the preceding list.

It will be observed that, since August 1939, twenty-eight ratifications have been deposited in respect of nineteen conventions. Since

that date, six Labour conventions have also come into force.

Under the second Heading is given the list of States having acceded to each convention.

¹ The following countries are concerned: Albania, Belgium, France, Lithuania, Monaco, Peru and Roumania.

(c) Powers conferred by Conventions on Organs of the League of Nations.

I. During the second half of 1944, a study relating to the "Powers and Duties conferred on the League of Nations by International Treaties" was published. ¹

All conventions concluded under the auspices of the League of Nations confer more or less extensive powers on the organs of the League of Nation. The least they do is to entrust the Secretary-General with the receipt of signatures, ratifications, accessions and demunications and their notification to all Governments concerned. A number of conventions concluded independently of the League of Nations also confer powers on its organs.

Apart from the duties above mentioned in connection with engagements entered into by States and the demonitation of such engagements, the conventions confer a suriety of powers on organs of the Kengue. The General, for instance, may appoint a bowwhich participates the operation of the surwhich participates the operation of the total constitution of the convention of the convention of the convention of continuous conventions of the convention of the convention of the application of the convention, or again it may be entracted with the duty, in certain conventions, or goals it may be entracted with the duty, in certain conventions, or goals it may be entracted with

It thus appears that the creation of the League of Nations filled a gap in international life, an international institution with general powers being necessary to supervise and facilitate the execution of international conventions.

With a view to post-war reconstruction, it was accordingly thought desirable to issue a brief publication showing the various duties undertaken by the League of Nations in connection with the publication of conventions which, for the most part, seem likely to remain in force.

to remain in force.

In this connection, consideration will have to be given to the transfer of the League's powers to the new international organisation which will take its place.

¹ This study was prepared, with the assistance of the Secretariat, by Mr. Hugh McKinson Wood, former member, and for some time Acting Legal Adviser, of the Secretariat (document C.3.M.3.1944.)

 List of Conventions conferring Powers on Organs of the League of Nations, together with the Text of the Relevant Articles.

This list, prepared by the Secretariat, completes the study described above. Its purpose is to facilitate reference to the actual texts conferring powers on organs of the League and to furnish particulars of the nature of each convention and the position regarding its entry into force.

In each case the following particulars are given:

- (i) The date and place of the conclusion of the convention
 and a bibliographical note indicating where its text is to be
 found;
- (ii) Whether the convention was concluded under the auspices of the League of Nations or independently of it;
- pices of the League of Nations or independently of it;

 (iii) Whether the convention is a general one open either to
 all States, or to all the States of a given continent; if the conven-
- tion is not open, a list of signatory States is given;

 (iv) Whether the convention has or has not come into force
 and, if it has, on what date;
- (v) In the case of conventions concluded under the auspices of the League of Nations, the number of parties on July 10th, 1944, is indicated.

To ascertain the names of parties to these conventions, reference should be made to the Twenty-first List of Signatures, Ratifications and Accessions in respect of Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations (see document C25.M.25.1943.V.Annex).

In the case of conventions concluded independently of the League of Nations, the number and names of States which have recorded their binding acceptance (by ratification, accession or signature not requiring ratification) are indicated, whenever the information at the disposal of the Secretariat makes it possible to do so.

The conventions are grouped in four chapters:

Chapter I.—Powers provided for by conventions of a technical

These are the most numerous category and that whose fate is least dependent on political conditions.

[|] Document C 100 M 100 1945 V

Chapter II.—Powers provided for by conventions concerning the pacific settlement of disputes.

These powers mainly concern the Permanent Court of International Justice and the General Act for Arbitration of September 26th, 1925.

Chapter III.—Powers provided for by conventions of a political character.

The fate of these conventions, which are for the most part bound up with the political system established after the first world war, is very uncertain.

Chapter IV.—Powers conferred on organs of the League of Nations by the Peace Treaties of 1919, 1920 and 1923.

Having regard to the number of the provisions to be cited and the character of the instruments containing them, it seemed preferable to group them separately in a single chapter, notwithstanding the fact that they relate to a large number of different matters.

(d) League of Nations Committees. I. A list of League of Nations Committees has been prepared. It comprises about forty Commissions and Committees, not counting

- their Sub-Committees. Of the Committees existing in 1939, only those have been omitted which, as a result of altered circumstances, have clearly lost their raison d'être.

 II. The essential particulars are given in regard to each Com-
- II. The essential particulars are given in regard to each Committee, namely: its origin, character and composition and the method of appointment of its members.
- (i) Origin of Committees.
 - League Committees have been set up under decisions either of the Council or of the Assembly, or of both.
 - Two Commissions were provided for in the Covenant.
 - Two Committees were provided for by international Conventions.

 (ii) Purpose.
 - The Committees are always set up for clearly defined purposes but these vary in scope.

¹ Document C 99 M 99 1945 V

(iii) Character of the Committees.

the latter type are the more numerous.

In principle, most Committees are of an advisory character.

The exceptions are few in number.

They are composed either of representatives of Governments, or of members appointed in an individual capacity. Committees of

(iv) Composition.

As a rule, the membership of Committees is fixed at a number laid down in their standing orders or by the Convention under which they were set up.

(v) Appointment.

Members of Committees — that is to say, either the States designated to be represented on a Committee, or the persons appointed in an individual capacity — were generally appointed by the Council.

Committee members sitting in a personal capacity were as a rule appointed for three years.

(c) Study of the Legal Status of Women.

By an Assembly resolution dated September 30th, 1937, it was decided to set up a Committee of Experts to prepare and publish. "a comprehensive study....giving full information on the legal status enjoyed by women in the various countries of the world as the result of the previsions of national law and the application of these provisions."

The study of the various elements of the problem was to be entrusted to the "competent scientific institutes", which would receive guidance from the Committee. Furthermore, the Assembly made provision for the consultation of women's international organisations by the Committee.

The Committee held three sessions (April 1938, January 1939, and July 1939). The scientific institutes to which it had recourse were the International Institute for the Unification of Private Law, Rome, the International Institute for Pablic Law, Paris, and the Laternational Bureau for the Unification of Penal Law, the Institute of Comparative Law, Paris, and the Goldman Law, and Committee also had recourse to Sir N. Sircar, a jurist secciclism in Indian Law.

At its last session, in July 1939, the Committee considered that every effort should be made to publish the study before the 1941 Assembly, but the war upset these calculations. It would seem that it has put a stop to all the work in progress with the exception of that undertaken by the International Institute for the Unification of Private Law and be NS in N. Sirear.

The International Institute for the Unification of Private Law which had undertaken the most important part of the study—that relating to private law—completed its work in the first half of 1941.

The intention had been that this should be communicated to the Committee of Experts, which, after examining it, would have held it until the publication of the comprehensive study on the legal status of women in all its aspects. Since, however, the Committee could not meet at any date in the near future, and since the completion of the work seemed remote and problematical, the Secretary-General of the International Institute for the Unification of Private Law internal the Secretary-General of the Langua that he intended to an internal the Secretary-General of the Langua for National Secretary-General of the Committee of the Com

Furthermore, on August 1st, 1941, the Secretary-General received the memorandum on Indian Law prepared by Sir N. Sircar, with the assistance of Indian jurists.

Any of the same at the continuation of the work on the subject of the legal state of women will rest with the new interminal arganisation. When the Brazillian proposal that a commission of women should be set up was discussed at the San Prancisco Conference, the United States Delegation, among other things, expressed the hope "that the excellent work of the Committee of Jurist appointed by the League of Nations to study the legal status of women throughout the world may be continued in an appropriate form, either as an advirory body to the Economic and Social Conneil, or as a part of the Commission on Human Rights which this Conneil is intended of the Commission on Human Rights which this Conneil is intended

9 LEAGUE BUDGET

Throughout the war years 1940-1944, the Secretariat has been able to live on its income, the total difference between expenditure and income over these five years being only 141,000 Swiss francs. This achievement was essential, as the average annual collection

of contributions was less than 65% of the amounts due and the approved budget had to be correspondingly curtailed.

It necessitatel, however, the exercise of the most drastic conomies and the conservative doministration of the resources available. In these circumstances, it was possible to maintain only a bare framework of the Secretariat in existence and to concentrate the major part of activities on technical work which seemed vital to furure international co-operation, such as the Economic and Financial Organisation, the Transit Organisation, the Health Organsiation, the Drug Control organs, etc., on studies likely to be of use in the period of post-war reconstruction, and on the preservation of continuity in the collection of reconds, statistics and reports.

The expenditure budget of the Secretariat for 1945 amounts to 3,126,817 Swiss francs, compared with 16,188,063 Swiss francs for 1939, or 10,771,957 Swiss francs for 1940.

The general budget of the League, including the Secretariat and its technical elegaraments, the International Labour Organisation, the Permanent Coart of International Justice, the Opinus Board, the High Commissioner for Relegaces, and the Permions Fund, amounts for this year (1945) to 14,868,469 Swiss frames, or $46\%_{19}$ for 1939 budget of 32,324,102 Swiss frames. That part of the International Labour Organization budget (63,13,016 Swiss frames) borne by League Members represents $57\%_{19}$ of this year's budget and closely approximates the 1939 budget of 3,943,348 Swiss frames. That control of the second supersymmetric properties of the second closely approximates the 1939 budget of 3,943,348 Swiss frames. That we have been supported by the second process of the second control of the second control

The financial position has been fully set out every year in the reports of the Supervisory Commission and in the annual audited accounts. These documents have been distributed to States Members and extra copies are available if desired by certain Governments.

3. THE STAFF OF THE SECRETARIAT

On January 1st, 1939, the Secretariat's budget provided for 688 posts, some of which were temporarily unfilled; in addition, a number of temporary officials were paid out of block credits voted for particular purposes. Having regard to these two factors, the effective strength amounted to 654 officials to which must be added employees (workmen, all-round men, domestic staff, etc.) and about twenty persons paid out of funds placed at the disposal of the League by the Rockefeller Endowment.

The reduction in receipts resulting from the withdrawal of a number of States Members and later from the financial difficulties consequent upon the commencement of hostillities in Europe led to the adoption of a stringent policy of staff reduction to bring the numbers down to a level commensurate with the League's actual

resources

The necessity for carrying out economies had already been apparent to the Ausembly in 1983 and it had therefore zet up a special committee, which recommended a 20% reduction in the lundper. This necessarily involved a reduction in the number of officials and the budget prepared in the spring of 1993 accordingly made of the previous for control y50 pp parts, instant of 608. Steps to reduce the establishment to this new level were in progress and on the point of commetion when houldlike banks out in Farmer.

As a result of mobilisation, a large number of efficials (more than 120) of several different nationalities were obliged suddenly had not be lave their posts and join the forces of their respective countries. Other officials expressed a desire to return home. To meet the host properties of the several results of the respective countries, measures had not be improved or namer that the various services should suffer as a positile. Steps had also to be taken to settle the administrative situation of all these members of the stiff, since the Regulations, drawn up for normal times, contained no clause applicable to the members which had arises.

The Secretariat had also to face the inevitable diminution in the resources of the Langue which the war would entail and the corresponding reduction of its activities. These were also affected by the barries of every kind which now began to spring up and which included difficulties of postal communications, travelling difficulties which sometimes placed an insurmountable obstacts in the way of committee meetings, and the non-receipt of certain classes of information (statities, etc.). In these circumstances, it was obvious that further staff reductions, on a scale raising important administrative and hudgetary problems, could not be avoided. Such being the which are embedied in its Resolution of Devember 14th. In this connection, it is to be noted that, instead of dealing sewarately with the two problems of mobilised officials and volunteers on the one hand and of staff reductions on the other, the Assembly decided to treat them both together and to include the first in the second.

Under the Assembly's resolution of December 14th, 1939, officials who had to relinquish their posts were to be dealt with as follows:

- (a) They were given the choice between two possibilities: suspension of their appointments until a final decision could be taken, or resignation with the same benefits as in the case of termination of appointments.
- (b) The notice of termination of appointment, fixed by the Regulations at six months, was, however, reduced to one month; so that the measures decided upon could be put into effect as promptly as possible.
- (c) Suspended officials received compensation equal to three months' salary; they could return to their country of origin at the Leaque's expense; and they remained members of the Pensions Fund, the Leaque assuming responsibility for their contributions as well as its own.
- (d) Officials who resigned, on the other hand, received compensation amounting, in some cases, to one year's salary, payable in four annual instalments (instead of the single payment provided for by the Regulations).
- Their rights in the Pensions Fund were also liquidated and, of course, the League bore the cost of their return, with their families, to their countries of origin.
 - (e) Steps were taken to enable the Pensions Fund to meet both the increased risks which might ensue as a result of the suspension of a part of the staff and the financial problems arising out of large-scale departures of officials.

Thirteen officials considered that the sacrifices imposed on them and more particularly the reduction from six months to one mot of the period of notice of termination of their appointments were ninconsistent with the terms of their engagement and appealed the Administrative Tribunal. For reasons beyond its control, that Tribunal has not ver been able to consider their appeals.

As a result of the adoption of the measures above mentioned, the strength of the Secretariat — which still amounted to 586 officials on September 1st, 1930 — fell to 511 by January 1st, 1940, and was further to be reduced to 320 in the following spring.

Unhappily this was not the end. In May 1940, the invasion of the Netherlands, Belgium and France, following that of Denmark and Norway, brought about a situation to which the Secretariat was obliged to adapt itself without delay. From the outset of the war, it had been realised that the Secretariat might be forced to leave Geneva. Since, in such a contingency, it would have been impossible to transfer the whole or even the greater part of the staff and archives to another locality, it had been decided to transfer only a limited number of officials selected from the different services, so that at all events the essential activities might be carried on. The aim, in short, would have been to preserve a nucleus round which the Secretariat might subsequently have been rebuilt. This scheme was kent in mind and adapted to the needs of the moment when Western Europe was occupied. The officials whom this further development made it impossible to retain were dealt with in accordance with the Assembly resolution of December 14th, 1939-i.e., they were given the choice between suspension of their appointment and resignation.

These steps were taken with great rapidity, most of the fresh batch of departures taking place as early as May 17th, 1940. Still further reductions were made during the summer and, on December 31st, 1940, the staff had been reduced to 169 officials (1.65% of the strength on January 1st, 1999). A few isolated departures continued to take place up to the end of 1942, when the number of disiclar sranded its lowest level, namely 99 (15.1%).

The reduction in numbers was accompanied by a corresponding decrease in expenditure on staff, as appears from the following table:

	Numbers on January 1st	Expenditure on salaries Swiss francs
1939	652	7,926,827.75
1940	511	3,236,947.86
1941	108	1,460,284.60
1942	105	1,384,388.64
1943	99	1,486,757.75
1944	102	1.721.613.15

The explanation of the increase in numbers and expenditure since 1943 will be found below.

On the other hand, the reduction in numbers involved temporary

On the other hand, the reduction in numbers involved temporary spenditure in respect of the compensation on termination of appointment due under the Regulations. The total amount of such of which 1,753,13,100 france was paid in 1939. Thanks to the Assembly Resolution whereby such compensation was to be paid in annual instalments, the expenditure was prared over a period extending to 1944, thus avoiding the considerable increase which would otherwise have been necessary in the budget for 1940.

It is obvious that such a considerable reduction in the staff of the Secretaria was bound to be attended by serious disabsuks and the efficiency of certain services undoubtedly suffered. The publisms confronting some administrative services could indeed only be noived by the re-engagement of certain officials immediate a relative properties of the service of the service of the service of a rather in the service of the service of the service of the service are taken into account in the table given above). The fact that the Secretariat has been able to carry on the activities retained and even to expand one of them is due to the efforts made to turn every official's capacities and time to the fullest account—e.g., by enranting to a single official functions previously performed by several and by an alignmenting exercises, in a word by rationalising to the results of the single of the service of the service of the service of the good-will of the whole staff.

good win of the whole stand.

To maintain the Secretariat's essential activities, certain precautionary measures had also been taken. Thus, as early as June 1940, part of the Treasury services left Geneva for London and the Treasurer joined them at the end of the year. Certain essential records or a micro-photographic reproduction of them were thus placed in safety.

In August 1940, the greater part of the Department dealing with economic, financial and transit questions was able, thanks to a generous offer, to establish itself at Princeton (New Jersey), where it found the means of carrying on its work. At the end of 1946, with the consent of the United States Overnment, the greater part of the secretariats of the Permanent Central Opium Board and of the Supervisory Body moved to Washington.

Thanks to these various measures, the Secretariat went on working, and several of the essential organs of international collaboration instituted between the two world wars were preserved from extinction.

Before the end of the war, moreover—at a time, indeed, when

portote the eds of the war, itorsever—at a time, mosed, when this still seemed far distant—there was a certain revival in the Secretariat activities due partly to request received from General months and partly to collaboration with intergovernmental organs ments and partly to collaboration with intergovernmental organs and the collaboration of the collaboration of the collaboration of the dealt with by the staff still in the service, but very soon it was unable to meet the demande made on it, and, since 1943, its members have slightly but nevertheless appreciably increased. On Spetchmel 1st, 1954, the total was 1954.

In making these additions to the staff, priority has, with very zere exceptions, been given to usel former officials of the Scoretariat as were available and apt to perform the work required. It was right that preference should be given to those who had only left the international organization under the pressure of circumstances. It was, moreover, in the Secretariat's own interests to secure the services of staff which could be utilised at one without requiring the services of staff which could be utilised at one without requiring the sources had been drawn upon. In fixing the salaries of re-engaged middle and the services of the

Something must also be said about salaries. At the end of 1939. officials agreed to forgo a percentage of their salaries. This voluntary contribution, which increases progressively to 26% in the case of the highest salaries, relieves the budget and is still in force. In addition, the constant rise in the cost of living has greatly reduced the purchasing power of salaries already reduced by the voluntary contribution. By June 1943 this rise amounted in Geneva to more than 46% on pre-war prices (August 1939). In agreement with the Supervisory Commission, it was accordingly considered indispensable to accord a measure of relief, especially to the lower-salary groups, and a system of temporary increases in salaries was introduced. This measure merely had the effect of compensating the rise in the cost of living to a very limited extent in the case of the lower categaries, the middle and higher categories continuing to receive emoluments which were no higher or even less than their 1939 anlaries

With the end of hostilities in Europe and the gradual restoration of means of communication, the reasons for the Secretariat's dispersional among several centres are gradually losing their force and the terror regrouping of the various services has already begun with the restoration to Geneva in the spring and summer of 1945 of a number of officials who were on mission in the United States.

VI LIRRARY

On June 30th, 1945, the Library possessed approximately 232,000 volume (bibliographical units and volumes of periodicals) as compared with 295,000 volumes on April 30th, 1939, and 323,300 at the end of 1945. The considerable cuts in expenditure introduced more particularly from May 1940 entailed a great reduction in purchases and suberptions and the increase that has taken place in its collections is largely due to the Library's worldwide exchange rarangements. More than 89% of the new exequitions were received from official sources, in exchange for League of Nations publications or as gifts. Numerous periodicals are sent to the Library with a view to their contents being mentioned in the Monthly List of Settend Articles.

The number of publications of which perhaps the Library alone possesses collections continues to grow. Amongst the publications which the Library has succeeded in acquiring, there are many of which only a small number of copies was issued and which are already out of print.

The Library has also endeavoured to obtain reproductions of works issued in a small number of copies in Switzerland or in neighbouring countries, and to preuen micro-film copies of collections of rare periodicals. During the war, it has received a number of gifts, more particularly following the dispersal of the collections of international organisations.

1. Collections.

Books and pamphlets.—The collections were increased in 1944 and the first half of 1945 by the addition of 2,293 new volumes, 1,623 of which represented exchanges or gifts (1940-1945, 15,073 volumes, including 12,746 gifts). The Library has regularly received 733 periodical.

Official documents.—1,409 volumes were added to the collections in 1944-45 (9,850 from 1940 to 1945). The Library has regularly

received 187 periodical Government publications and 58 official gazettes.

These figures relate only to publications received in Geneva, and do not include those which are continually being added to the deposits constituted outside Switzerland or are reserved for the Library by institutions with which it has exchange arrangements in a certain number of countries (e.g., autertail, Ganada, Italy, United States, the Soviet Union). The Library has begun to transfer such reserved publications to Geneva.

At the same time, the League of Nations mission in Princeton (two Jerney) has assembled large collections mainly of official publications and it will be possible to transfer these also to the Library.

The special work undertaken during the war has included the

eataloguing and bringing up to date of the collections of Bank Reports, the making of an inventory of maps, the preliminary classification of the collections of manuscripts relaing to the history of the peace movement and the incorporation in the collections of files of daily newspapers from twenty-eight different countries, published in the main since 1399.

Collaboration has continued with the Geneva School of Librarianship, which has sent volunteers to the Library.

The Library's collections are in good condition. It has not been possible to heat the book-stacks since the winter of 1940-41, but the degree of humidity has been constantly watched and the books have not suffered. The work of hinding has been pursued.

The duplicates of publications received in several copies, as gifts or by way of exchange, have continued to be incorporated in the collection of duplicates which is now considerable and may be of great value, more especially in consequence of the destruction of books caused by the war.

2. Consultations and Publications.

The Library's activities increased in the early days of the war, owing to the closing of certain important specialised libraries and the transfer of the headquarters of various international institutions to Geneva. Access to its collections had, however, to be limited from My 1940, cavard, with the constitution of the control of the

The Library has continued to take part in the activities of the International Federation of Library Associations which, since the beginning of the war, has been concerned chiefly with problems relating to the provision of reading-matter for prisoners of war.

The publication of the Monthly List of Books catalogued in the Library of the League of Nations, which had to be suspended in March 1940, has been resumed; an issue, covering the period from April 1940 to December 1944, has recently appeared. It constitutes a selected bibliography of works relating to all matters studied in normal times by the organs of the League of Nations.

The Monthly List of Selected Articles has continued to provide a classified quide to recent articles and political sciences. By indexing periodicals appearing in more than forty countries, it reflects the worldwide scope of the documentary material which the Library endeavours to keep available and, during the past few years, it has been the only sublication of its kind.

The photostatic service has continued to carry out orders for reproductions of publications which are difficult to obtain or are out of print; many of these reproductions were made for the League of Nations' mission in Princeton.

The considerable reduction in the staff and in the funds available for purchases has compelled the Library to concentrate on what appeared to be the essential task of keeping up to date collections some of which are unique, and gaps in which, in many cases, could not have been filled later. The figures given at the beginning of this section of the Report are evidence of the satisfactory results obtained, natricularly if allowance is made for difficulties of communications, which are a specially serious handicap to the assembling of collections of an international character.

The Library thus offers unique working facilities in many fields.

of collections of an international character.
The Library thus offers unique working facilities in many fields, as was desired by the Assembly and by Mr. John D. Rockfeller, Junior, whose generosity not only made possible the erection of the modern and admirably fitted building in which the collections are to-day housed, but has also greatly helped in their development.



LEAGUE OF NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

Throughout the period that has clapsed since the last meeting of the Assembly, the Secretariat's publishing activities have provided to the Assembly the Secretariat's publishing activities have been exceeded to the secretary of the Assembly of the Assemb

The Publications and Printing Departments have remained permanently at the Secretaria's bodynature in Geneva, whence they have continued to issue a considerable proportion of the League's best-known regular publications, including the Treaty Series, the Monthly Bulletin of Statistics, the Statistical Year-Book, the Bulletin of the Health Organisation, 1, the Weekly Epidemiological Record, and the Monthly List of Selected Articles. With the transfer, its Spetember 1909, of the greater part of the Economic, Financial and Transit Department to Princeton, N. J., and the establishment, it February 1914, of branch offices of the secretarist of the Permanent Contrad Opium Board and of the Supervioury Body in Washington, D. C., the concentration of the entire publishing activities of the League of Nations in Geneva cassed to be possible and a large Opium Board and Contrad C

For similar reasons, the Report of the Supervisory Commission and the League Budget were, in 1944, printed in Montreal. Other expedients necessitated by war-time transport difficulties were the reproduction of the Statistical Year-Baok 1944/42 and the Acting Secretary-General's Report on the Work of the League 1942-1943 by the offset process in Princeton and London, respectively. From

With the exception of the English editions of two numbers which were issued in London.

⁵ In addition, the English editions of the Report on the Joint Sension of the Financial and Economic Committee, 1942, and of the Permanent Central Optimal Board's Report to the Cassocil on the Measure to re-stabilish the Control of Dangerous Drags in Liberated and Occupied Committee were printed in London, and the Statement issued by the Supervivory Body on the Étimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drags was printed in Cassols for the years 1942, 1943, 1944 and 1943.

January 1943 to September 1945, a parallel edition of the *Monthly Bulletin of Statistics* was, moreover, regularly produced in Princeton, N. J., to facilitate the earlier distribution of this publication in extra-European territories.

It should, however, be noted that, in spite of this dispersion of the Secretariat's publishing activities, the French editions of all publications issued, including those produced in English elsewhere, were published at headquarters in Geneva.

The sale of League publications was even more severely handicapped by war-fine conditions than was their production. The sales organization has nevertheless been preserved, if not instex, at least in all its main essentials. Contact was maintained with the authorised agents in all countries with which communication was still possible and the stecks of many of them have been kept up to approximately their pre-war level. Control both of distribution and of the accounts has remained in the hands of the Publications Department in Geneva, though, in the case of the English editions of the numerous economic studies published in the United States, the Princeton Office has been responsible for the actual work of depatch.

It is worthy of note that interest in League publications has been maintained throughout the period under review and that most of them have commanded a ready sale in all countries to which conditions permitted of their despatch. It is significant that in 1944 sales receipts rose to almost 50% of the 1930 total.

sales receipts rose to almost σv_{j0} of the 1939 total.

The Review Copy Service, which the Publications Department has maintained and, as far as possible, developed during these years, has provided material for reviews of League publications in the principal newspaners and technical iournals of many countries.

The vast wealth of material on a wide range of subjects of permanent interest and impertance embodied in earlier official publications of the Laques can be seen from the General Catalogue of Publications 1929-1953 and the four Supplements issued by the Publications Department overring the years 1936 to 1939. A special Catalogue of Selectar Publications and Reconstituted Theorems of the which may be of immediate interest for post-war reconstructions which may be of immediate interest for post-war reconstructions as been issued separately. The following pages give a list of publications put on sale during the period January 1st, 1940—October 31st, 1945.

League of Nations Publications

January 1st, 1940—October 31st, 1945

Note. — The documents the titles of which are followed by an asterisk (*) contain both English and French texts. In all other cases, documents are published in separate editions in English and in French.

Periodical Publications.

Official Journal, 21st Year, Nos, 1-3, January-February-		
March 1940 (50 pp.)	2/6	0.6
Official Journal: Index to the Official Journal 1939 (including Minutes of Council Sessions CIV-CVII) (32 pp.) .	2/-	0.5
Official Journal: Special Supplement No. 193. Signatures, Ratifications and Accessions in respect of Agreements and Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the		
League of Nations. Twenty-first List (197 pp.) (The above Supplement also lears the sales number Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944.V.2. See page 162.)	7/6	2.4
Treaty Series. Treaties and International Engagements registered with the Secretariat of the League of Nations:		
Volume CXCV, 1939, Nos. 4532-4566* (500 pp.) Volume CXCVI, 1939, Nos. 4567-4600 and Annex	15/-	3.7
XLVIII* (507 pp.)	15/-	3.7
XLIX* (427 pp.)	15/-	3.7
Volume CXCVIII, 1939. Nos. 4621-4659* (445 pp.) .	15/-	3.7
Volume CXCIX, 1939-1940, Nos. 4660-4685* (403 pp.) Volume CC, 1940-1941, Nos. 4686-4700 and Annex L*	15/-	3.7
(600 pp,)	15/-	3.7
Volume CCI, 1940, Nos. 4701-4731* (422 pp.)	15/-	3.7
Volume CCII, 1940, Nos. 4732-4745* (441 pp.)	15/-	3.7
Volume CCIII, 1940-1941, Nos. 4746-4783* (443 pp.) Volume CCIV, 1941-1943, Nos. 4784-4822 and Annex	15/-	3.7
LI* (470 pp.)	15/-	3.7
Special price for any series of twelve consecutive		
volumes already published £		

General Index (Volumes CLXXIII-CXCIII) No. 8.
Treaties Nos. 4001 to 4500 (1936-1930)* (526 pp.). 20/- 5.00
Note. — General Indexes are issued at irregular intervals.
Eight General Indexes have so far been published. They are
not included in the above special price.

Monthly Summary of the League of Nations, Volume XX,	St.	
Nos, 1-2 (January-February 1940) (35 pp.)	2/-	0,40
The Health Work of the League of Nations. Thirty-first		
Session of the Health Committee. Special Supplement		
to the Monthly Summary of the League of Nations,		
January 1940 (24 pp.)	1/-	0,20
Monthly Bulletin of Statistics:		
Volume XXI, Nos. 1-12, 1940*	20/-	5.00
Volume XXII, Nos. 1-12, 1941*	20/-	5,00
Volume XXIII, Nos. 1-12, 1942*	20/-	5.00
Volume XXIV, Nos. 1-12, 1943*	20/-	5.00
Volume XXV, Nos. 1-12, 1944*	20/-	5.00
Volume XXVI, Nos. 1-12, 1945*	20/-	5,00
Single number	1/9	0.45
Health Section of the Secretariat of the League of Nations.		
Epidemiological Report, 19th Year, Statistical Supple-		
ment to the Weekly Epidemiological Record :		
1940, No. 1 (R.E.221)* (pp. 1-12)	1/-	0.25
1940, No. 2 (R.E.222)* (pp. 13-24)	1/-	0.25
1940, No. 3 (R.E.223)* (pp. 25-40)	1/-	0.25
1940, No. 4 (R.E.224)* (pp. 41-52)	1/-	0,25
1940, No. 5 (R.E.225)* (pp. 53-63)	1/	0,25
Weekly Epidemiological Record :		
15th Year, Nos. 1-52, 1940 (R.H. 723 to 774)*	25/-	6.25
16th Year, Nos. 1-52, 1941 (R.H. 775 to 826)*	25/-	6,25
17th Year, Nos. 1-53, 1942 (R.H. 827 to 879)*	25/-	6,25
18th Year, Nos. 1-52, 1943 (R.H. 88c to 931)*	25/-	6.25
19th Year, Nos. 1-52, 1944 (R.H. 932 to 983)*	25/-	6.25
20th Year, Nos. 1-52, 1945 (R.H. 984 to 1035)*	25/-	6,25
Single number	6d.	0,15
Bulletin of the Health Organisation :		
Volume VIII, No. 6, 1939 (pp. 797-912)	2/6	0.65
Biological Standardization IV:		
Enquiry on the Assay of Gas-gangrene Antitoxin		
(Perfringens) :		
I. Comparative Titrations of Gas-gangrene		
Antitoxins (Perfringens), by I Ipsen,		
Margaret Llewellyn Smith and		
A. Sordelli,		

II. Comparison of Test Toxins from Various Institutes, by J. Ipsen.

III. The Antigenic Constitution of Perfringens

III. The Antigenic Constitution of Perfringens
Toxins produced with Various Strains
and Media, by J. Ipsen and R. Davoli,

Bulletin of the Health Organisation (continued)

Volume VIII, No. 6, 1939 (continued):

IV. The Preparation of Test Toxins suitable for the Assay of Gas-gangrene Antitoxins (Perfringens), by J. Ipsen.

A Proposed International Standard for Gasgangrene Antitoxin (Sordelli), by I. Bengston

and J. Ipsen.

Analysis of the Assays of Various Samples of the Gonadotrophic Substance of Urine of

the Gonadotrophic Substance of Urine of Pregnancy, by C, W. Emmens, Memorandum on the International Standard for

the Gonadotrophic Substance of Urine of Pregnancy.

Analysis of the Assays of Various Samples of

the Gonadotrophic Substance of Pregnant Mares' Serum, by C. W. Emmens. Memorandum on the International Standard for

the Gonadotrophic Substance of Pregnant Mares' Serum.

Analysis of the Assays of Various Samples of

the Lactogenic Substance of the Anterior Pituitary Gland, by C. W. Emmens. Memorandum on the International Standard for

4/- 1.00

the Lactogenic Substance of the Anterior Pituitary Gland.

1. Alcoholism in the Rural Environment, by Professor G. Szulc.

 A Ninth Analytical Review of Reports from Parteur Institutes on the Results of Anti-rabies Treatment, by Lieut, Col. A. G. McKendrick,
 Anti-rabic Immunisation: Living Vaccines and Killed Vaccines, by Professor G. Proca and

Dr. S. Bobes. Volume IX, No. 2, 1940. Report on Terminology in

Part I. — Commentary:

Section I. — The Malaria Parasites and the
Infections to which they give rise.

Section II, — Malaria in the Human Community. Section III. — Terms applied to the Vector. Part II. — Glossary.

St. \$

Bulletin of the Health Organisation (continued):	51.	,
Volume IX, No. 3, 1940-1941 (pp. 247-369)	4/-	1,00
 The Leagus of Nation Assis-pidemic Work in Chins in 1939. The Presenter Vaccination of Dogs against Rabits, by R. Caustier. Natritional Research in the Union of South 4. The Pool Research in the Union of South 4. The Pool Research Into Ly W. R. Aykroyd, The Rise Problem by A. G. van Vean. The Rise Problem in Tailaide. Distay Simularity for Hilphon. Volume I. N. No. 4, 1904-1941 (pp. 371-491) 	4/-	1.00
Biological Standardisation V:		
Vitamins B ₁ , D ₁ , D ₃ and E. Tetanus Antitoxin. Antivenenes.		
Volume X, No. 1, 1942-1943 (pp. 1-76)	4/-	1.00
 The Present Menace of Typhus Fever in Europe and the Mean of combating it, by Y. Biraud. Contribution to the Study of Metabolism of Vitamin C and its Elimination in the Urine, by FM. Messeril. 		
Volume X, No. 2, 1942-1943 (pp. 77-154)	4/-	1.00
Biological Standardisation VI:		
1. International Biological Standards:		
1a. Some Recent Changes relating to the International Standards for Con- Pitulary (Posterior Lobs). 1b. Memorandum on the Replacement though Standard for the Outrea- producing Hornone. 1a. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Conference. 1b. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Conference. 1c. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Conference. 1d. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Replacement of the Replacement of the Standard for Male Hornone. 1d. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Standard for Male Hornone. 1d. Memorandum of the Replacement of the Standard for the Properta- tional Standard for the Properta- tional Hornone of the Corpus of the Corpus		
Autoria : Trogesterone.		

Bulletin of the Health Organisation (continued):

- Volume X, No. 2, 1942-1943 (continued):
 - 18. Memorandum on the Replacement of the Substance of the International Standard Preparation for Pituitary (Posterior Lobe).
 - 1f. Memorandum on the International Preparation of Desiccated Ox Anterior Pituitary Gland.
 - ig. Appendix to the Memorandum on the International Standard for the Lactogenic (Crop-gland stimulating) Substance of the Anterior Lobe of the Pituitary Gland (Prolactin, Galactin, Mammo
 - trophin). The above submitted by the Department of Biological Standards, the National Institute for Medical Research, Hampstead, London,
 - 2. Standard Preparations for the Assay of the Three Gas-gangrene Antitoxins. Cl. perfringens, Vibrion Septique and Cl. ordematiens, by P. Hartley and D. G. Evans
 - 3. Note on the Complexity of Tetanus Toxin, by Margaret Llewellyn Smith,
 - 4. Observations on the Variable Interactions of Tetanus Toxins and Antitoxins, by G. F. Petrie.
 - 5. Heparin: 54. The Biological Standardisation of Heparin, by F. C. MacIntosh,
 - sb. Memorandum on a Provisional International Standard for Heparin (1942), prepared by the Department of Biological Standards, the National Institute for Medical Research, Hampstead,
- Volume X, No. 3, 1943-1944 * (pp. [155] 201-556) . . 4/- 1.00 clature of Diseases, by Y. Biraud.

London.

Bulletin of the Health Organisation (continued):

Health in Europe. A Survey of the Epidemic and Nutritional Situation, by Y. Bierad. Giroud's Intradermic Test in Typhus Fever Infection, Personal Observations, Tech- niques, and Possible Applications, by G. Clavero and F. Peres Gallard. Famine Disease and its Treatment in Intera- ment Camps, by J. Weill.		
† Volume XI, 1945. Bibliography of the Technical Work of the Health Organisation of the League of Na- tions, 1920-1945.	6/	1.50
† volume XII, No. 1. 1945/60. The Health Organisation and Biological Standardisation (Second Memorandum), by R. Gashidani (Second Memorandum), by R.	5/-	1.25
Chronicle of the Health Organisation :		
Volume II: 1940, No. 1 (4 pp)	6d.	0.15
1940, No. 2 (4 pp.)	6d.	0.15
1940, No. 3 (11 pp.)	6d.	0.15
1943, Special number (11 pp.)	6d.	0.15
1945, Special number (12 pp.)	64.	0.15
		0.15
Monthly List of Selected Articles :		
12th Year, Volume XII, Nos. 1-12, 1940*	15/-	3,50
13th Year, Volume XIII, Nos. 1-12, 1941*	15/~	3.50
14th Year, Volume XIV, Nos. 1-12, 1942*	15/-	3.50
15th Year, Volume XV, Nos. 1-12, 1943*	15/-	3.50
16th Year, Volume XVI, Nos. 1-12, 1944*	15/-	3.50
17th Year, Volume XVII, Nos. 1-12, 1945*	20/-	5,00

Subscribers can, on request, be supplied with copies printed on thin paper, on one side only, which can be cut up and used for card indexes on special questions.

[†] In preparation.

- 157 --

Monthly List of Books catalogued in the Library of the Leag		,
of Nations, 13th Year, Nos. 1-3, January-March 1949		
(32 pp.)		0.4
13th-17th Years, April 1940-December 1944 (547 pp.)	18/6	4.5
Chronology of International Treatics and Legislative Measure 11th Year, Volume XI, Nos. 1-2, December 16th, 193 February 15th, 1940* (20 pp.)	9-	0.5
		0.5
Records of the Twentieth Ordinary Session of the Assemb (December 11th-14th, 1939). Plonary Meelings* (53 pg		0.7
Fourth Committee (Budgetary and Administrative Que tions) of the Assembly. Summary of the Meetings of t December 1979 Session* (66 pp.)	ke	0.7
Economic, Financial and Transit Department	(II.A).	
Cinquante-deuxième rapport du Commissaire de la Seciété de Nations en Bulgarie (période juillet-septembre 1936 (French text only) (C.366.M.279.1939.II.A) (Ser. L.o. P. 1939.II.A.23) (15 pp.)	o). N.	0.2
		0,1
Raw Materials and Foodstuffs. Production by Countrie 1935 and 1938. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1939.II.A.24) (75 p.		0.6
Money and Banking, 1939/40. Volume I. Monetary Revie (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1940.II.A.2/I) (101 pp.)		0.7
Money and Banking, 1940/42, (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.H.A.1		
(202 pp.) Paper covers		2.5
Cloth-bound		3.0
		3.0
Money and Banking, 1942/44. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.II.A.		
(221 pp.) Paper covers		2.5
Cloth-bound	. 15/-	3.0
Europe's Trade, a Study of the Trade of European Countri with One Another and with the Rest of the World. (Sc L.o.N. P. 1941.III.A.1) (116 pp.)		
Paper covers	. 5/-	1,2
Cloth-bound (U.S.A. onl	y)	2,0
The Network of World Trade (A companion volume Europe's Trade), (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942,II,A.3) (172 pg Paper covers	p.)	2.0
Cloth-bound		2.7
		2.7
World Economic Survey, Ninth Year, 1939/1941. (Sci	er,	
L.o.N. P. 1941.II.A.2) (275 pp.)		
Paper covers	. 7/6	2.0

-- 158 --World Economic Survey, Tenth Year, 1941/42, (Ser. L.o.N.

World Reasonic Survey, Eleventh Issue 1942/44, /Ser

P. 1942.II.A.5) (198 pp.)

80.

TO/- 2.50

12/6 3.00

6d. 0.15

7/6 1.75

6/- 1.50

1.25

Paper covers. . .

Cloth-bound . . .

L.o.N. P. 1945.H.A.4) (299 pp.) Paper covers, , .	10/-	2.50
Cloth-bound	12/6	3.00
Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1939/40, (Scr.		
L.o.N. P. 1940.H.A.3)* (285 pp.) In wrappers	10/	2.50
Cloth-bound	12/6	
	12/0	3.50
Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1940/41. (Ser.		
L.o.N. P. 1941.H.A.3)* (271 pp.) In wrappers	10/-	2,50
Cloth-bound , , .	12/6	3.50
Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1941/42. (Ser.		
L.o.N. P. 1942.H.A.8)* (279 pp.) In wrappers	10/	2.50
Cloth-bound	12/6	3.50
		3130
Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, Seventeenth		
Issue, 1942/44. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.H.A.5) * (315 pp.)		
In wrappers , , ,	10/-	2,50
Cloth-bound , , ,	12/6	3.50
War-time Rationing and Consumption. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.		
War-time Rationing and Consumption. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942. II A.2) (87 pp.)	3/6	1.00
II A.2) (87 pp.)	3/6	1,00
II A.2) (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Scr. L.o.N P. 1944.		
II A.2) (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Scr. L.o.N P. 1944. II.A.3) (101 pp.)	3/6 4/6	1,00
II A.2) (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Ser. L.o.N P. 1944. II.A.3) (101 pp.) Economic and Financial Committees. Report to the Council on		
II A.2) (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Scr. L.o.N P. 1944. II.A.3) (101 pp.). Economic and Financial Committees. Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session (London, April 27th-May		
H A.2 (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944. H.A.3) (191 pp.) Economic and Financial Committees. Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session (London, April 27th-May 181, 1942; Princeton, N.J., August 7th-Sh. 1942). (52, 3.	4/6	1,00
II A.2) (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Scr. L.o.N P. 1944. II.A.3) (101 pp.). Economic and Financial Committees. Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session (London, April 27th-May		
II A.21 (87 pp.) Food Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Sor. L.o.N. P. 1944. II.A.3) (101 pp.) Economic and Financial Committees, Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session (London, April 27th-May 1st, 1942 Princeton, N.J., August 7th-3th, 1942). (C.52, M.52.1942-II.A.) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944.II.A.2) (23 pp.)	4/6	1,00
II A.3 (87 pp.) Feed Rationing and Supply, 1941/44. (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1044, II.A.3) (101 pp.) Economic and Founcial Committees. Report to the Guncil on the Work of the Joint Seasion (London, April 27th-1864) 184, 1943; Piriceton, N.J. August 194-181, 1943; P. 106, M.5.3.1943.II.A.) (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1943.II.A.4) (33 pp.) Economic and Financial Committees. Report to the Council	4/6	1,00
H.A.; (87 pp.) Foed Rationing and Supply, 1943/44. (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1044, H.A.;) (101 pp.) H.A.; (102 pp.) Economic and Founcied Committeer, Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Sension (London, April 27th-May 144, 1947); Princeton, N.J., August (100-40), 1933. (Sci. Sci. May 1944). (101-40). Economic and Founcied Committeer, Report to the Council on the Work of the 1943 Joint Sension (Princeton, N.J.)	4/6	1,00
II A. 21 (Sr pp.) Food Raining and Supply, 1943/44. (Ser., Lo.N. P. 1044. II.A. 31 (102 pp.) Recommic and Francisia Committees. Report to the Commel on the West of the Joint Sension (London, April 27th-May 1814, 1942 Frinciscon, N. J., August 1943th, 1941). (Sex., M. 3.2194.II.A.) (Ser., Lo.N. P. 1941.II.A.) (12 pp.) Recommic and Francisia Committees. Report to the Commic on the Work of the 1943 Joint Sension (Princiscon, N.). December 1943). (C.M. M. 1944.II.A.) (Ser., Lo.N. P.	4/6	0,25
II A. 1/87 pp.) The M Raining and Supply, 1942/44. (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1044. II.A.) (102 pp.). Remonite and Financial Committees. Report to the Causali on the Wark of the Joint Sealess (London, April 27th-Stay 141, 1942 pr.) (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184).	4/6	1,00
II A. 19 (57 pp.) Fred Raining and Supply, 1943/44. (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1944. II.A.3) (162 pp.) Recountin and Francial Consultate. Report to the Cansult and Recounting and Francial Consultates. Report to the Cansultan 143, 1941. Fivinction. N. J., August J. 19-30. (1941). (S. 1944. May 1.941. L. 1962. (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1941. L.A.) (2 pp.) Recountin and Francial Consultates. Report to the Cansultan on the Work of the 1943 Julia State (1971). (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1944. [1644. [L.A.] (8 pp.) [1644. [L.A.] (8 pp.)	4/6	0,25
II A. 1/87 pp.) The M Raining and Supply, 1942/44. (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1044. II.A.) (102 pp.). Remonite and Financial Committees. Report to the Causali on the Wark of the Joint Sealess (London, April 27th-Stay 141, 1942 pr.) (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184). (1941-184).	4/6	0,25

(5 pp.)

Commercial Policy in the Inter-war Period International Proposals and National Policies. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942. II.A.6) (164 pp.)

Commercial Policy in the Post-war World. Report by the Economic and Financial Committees (Princeton, July 21st, 1945). (C.31.M.31.1945.II.A) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945. II.A.7) (124 pp.).

Economic Fluctuations in the United States and the United Kingdom, 1918-1922. (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1942. H.A.?) (93 DD.)

-- 159 --

Relief Deliveries and Relief Lor	ans. 1919-1923. (Ser. L.o.N.	011	
P. 1943.II.A.1) (62 pp.)		3/6	1.0
Prosperity and Depression (Thir III), (Ser. L.o.N. P. 19	43.II,A.2) (XXIV+532 pp.)		
	Cloth-bound only	12/6	2.5
The Transition from War to Per Delegation on Economic D 1943,II,A) (Ser. L.o.N. P.	epressions, Part I, (C,6,M,6,	4/6	1.0
	Cloth-bound	6/-	1.5
Report of the Delegation Part II, (C.1.M.1.1945.II.A)	nsition from War to Peace, on Economic Depressions, (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.II.A.2)		
	Paper covers	10/-	2.5
	Cloth-bound	12/6	3.0
Trade Relations between Free-ma			
(Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.II.A.4)) (92 pp.)	4/6	1,0
Quantitative Trade Controls : Ti	heir Causes and Nature, (Ser.		
	pp.)	2/6	0.5
Europe's Oversens Needs, 1919-19 (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.II.A.		2/6	0.5
Agricultural Production in Contin			
	truction Period. (Ser. L.o.N.		
P. 1943.II.A.7) (122 pp.)	Paper covers	7/6	1.7
		10/-	2.2
International Currency Experien war Period. (Ser. L.o. N. P.			
	Paper covers	12/6	2.7
	Cloth-bound	15/-	3.2
and Fiscal Evasion. Second Mexico, D. F., July	International Double Taxation Regional Tax Conference, 1943. (C. 2. M. 2.1945. II.A)		
() (85 pp.)	3/6	1.0
	45.II.A-F 1696 (1)) (Ser.		
L.o.N. P. 1945.II.A.8) (17	2 pp.)	5/-	1.2
The Future Population of Eur Population Projections 1940,19	rope and the Soviet Union. 970.(Ser.L.o.N.P.1944.II.A.2)		
(315 pp.)	Paper covers	12/6	2.7
G-J FFV	Cloth-bound	15/-	3-5

- 160 -		
	St.	
† Economic Demography of Eastern and Southern Europe, by Wilbert E. Moore, of the Office of Population Research, Princeton University, (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945-III.A.9) Paper covers	10/-	2.50
Cloth-bound	12/6	3,
† Population of the Soviet Union, by Dr. Frank Lorimer, of the Office of Population Research, Princeton Uni- versity. Cloth-bound	10/-	2.50
Europe's Population in the Inter-war Period.		
† Industrialisation and Foreign Trade. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.		
H.A.10) Paper covers	10/-	2.50 3.—
European Conference on Rural Life.		
European Conference on Rural Life. National Monographs drawn up by Governments:		
United Kingdom. (C.111.M.66.1939) (Ser. L.O.N. P. European Conference on Rural Life 19) (81 pp.) . Yugoslavia. (C.150.M.90.1939) (Ser. L.O.N. P. European	1/6	0.40
Conference on Rural Life 23) (83 pp.) Hungary, (C.223, M.151, 1939) (Ser. L.o.N. P. European	1/6	0.40
Conference on Rural Life 27) (80 pp.)	1/6	0.40
Conference on Rural Life 28) (59 pp.) Poland. (C.359.M.272.1939) (Ser. L.o.N. P. European	1/6	0,40
Conference on Rural Life 29) (44 pp.)	1/6	0.40
Health (III).		
Health Organization, Annual Epidemiological Report. Correc- ted Statistics of Notifiable Diseases for the Year 1933. Published by the Health Section, (E.I.23) (Ser, L.o.N. P. 1941.III.1)* (U14 pp.)	5/-	
† Handbook of Infectious Diseases, with Notes on Prophylaxis, Serum Treatment and Vaccination, (C.H. 1454) (Ser.	5/-	1.25
L.o.N. P. 1945.III.1)	5/-	1.25
Social Questions (IV).		
Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1938/39, prepared by the Secretariat, Traffic in Women and Children. (C.28.M.25.1940.IV) (Ser. L.o.N.		
P. 1940.IV.3) (39 pp.)	1/6	0.40
T in preparation.		

- 161		
Advisory Committee on Social Questions, Summary of Annual Reports for 1939/40, prepared by the Secretariat, Traffic in Women and Children. (C.35.M.32.1941.IV) (Ser. L.o.N.	St.	1
P. 1941.IV.1) (23 pp.) Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1939/46, prepared by the Secretariat. Traffic in Women and Children. Addendum. (C.35.M.32.1941.IV. Addendum) (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1941.IV.4) (23 pp.)	1/-	0.25
Advisory Committee on Social Questions, Summary of Annual Reports for 1940/41, prepared by the Secretariat, Traffle in Women and Children. (C.75.M.75.1942.IV) (Ser. L.o.N.	1/6	0.25
P. 1942.IV.2) (23 Pp.) Advisory Committee on Social Questions, Summary of Annual Reports for 1941/42, prepared by the Secretariat. Traffic in Women and Children. (C.33.M.33.1943.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.IV.3) (10 Pp.)	gal.	0.40
Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1942/43, prepared by the Secretariat. Traffic in Women and Calibren. (C.05, M.03, 1944, IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1044, IV, 1) (18 pp.)	gal.	0.20
† Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1943/44, prepared by the Secretariat. Traffic in Women and Children. (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.1V.s.) Advisory Committee on Social Questions, Summary of Annual	gd.	0,20
Reports for 1938/39, drawn up by the Secretariat. Obscene Publications. (C.27.M.24.1940.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1940.IV.2) (8 pp.)	6d.	0.15
Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1939/40, prepared by the Secretariat. Observe Publications. (C.73,M.70.1941.IV) (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1941.IV.2) (14 pp.) Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual	6d.	0,15
Reports for 1940/41, prepared by the Secretariat. Circulation of and Traffic in Obserne Publications. (C.69, M.69,1942.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.IV.3) (7 pp.). Advisory Committee on Social Ouestions, Summary of Annual	6d.	0,15
Reports for 1941/42, prepared by the Secretariat, Gir- culation of and Traffic in Obserne Publications. (C,32,M,32, 1943.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.IV.4) (4 pp.).	6d.	0.15
Advisory Committee on Social Guestions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1942/43, prepared by the Secretariat. Circulation of and Traffic in Obseene Publications. (C.04,M.61, 1944.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944.IV.2) (5 pp.)	64.	0.15

† In preparation.

1.00

2/6 0.60

1/6 0.40

† Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Summary of Annual Reports for 1943/44, prepared by the Secretariat. Circulation of and Traffic in Obscene Publications. (Ser. L.o. N. P. 1945, 17.43)	St.
Advisory Committee on Social Questions. Prevention of Prositution. A Study of Measures adopted or under consideration particularly with regard to Minors. (C.26, M.26, 1943, IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943, IV.2) (182 pp.)	6/-
Child Welfare Information Centrs. Annual Report on Child Welfare for the Fourth Session of the Advisory Committee on Social Questions (June 24th, 1940). (C.41.M.37.1940.IV) (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1940.IV.4) (186 pp.)	4/
Child Welfare Information Centre, Annual Report on Child Welfare (summarising Information received from Governments between May 1040 and December 1941), (C.15.M.15.1942.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.IV.1) (122 pp.)	4/-
Child Welfare Information Centre. Annual Report on Child Welfare (summarising Information received from Governments in 1942). (C.12.M.12.1943.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.IV.1) (119 pp.)	4/
Child Welfare Information Centre. Annual Report on Child Welfare (summarising Information received from Governments in 1943 and 1944). (C.8.M.8.1945.IV)	

(Ser. L.O.N. P. 1045.IV.1) (76 pp.)
Child Welfare Information Centers, Summary of the Legislative and Administrative Series of Documents of the Child Welfare Information Centre published in 1939. (C17.M.10.1090.IV)
(Sert. L.O.N. P. 1940.IV.1) (77 pp.)
Child Welfare Information Centre, Summary of the Legislative and Administrative Series of Documents of the Child

Welfare Information Centre published in 1940. (C.89,M.86. 1941.IV) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1941.IV.3) (52 pp.)

Legal Questions (V).

Annex to the Report on the Work of the League for the Vear (1944-193). Work of the League of Nations in the Matter of International Conventions. Signatures, Ratification and Accomion in respect of Agreement Conventions concluded under the Auspices of the League of Nations. Twenty-first List. (1928, M. 28, 1943, V. Annex) (Ser. Lo. N. P. 1944, V.2) (197 pp.). (Published also as Special Supplement No 193 to the Official Journal).

Powers and Duties attributed to the League of Nations by	D.	,
International Treaties. (C.3.M.3.1944.V) (Ser. L.o.N. P.	2/6	
List of Conventions with Indication of the Relevant Articles	2,0	0.50
conferring Powers on the Organs of the League of Nations. (C.100.M.100.1945.V) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945V.1) (160 pp.)	5/	1.25
† The Committees of the League of Nations: Classified List and Essential Facts. (C.99.M.99.1945.V) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.V.2) (73 pp.)	2/-	0.50
	2/	0.30
$Mandates\ (VI.A)$.		
Permanent Mandates Commission. Minutes of the 37th Session held at Geneva from December 12th to 21st, 1930, including the Report of the Commission to the Council. (C.7,M.5,1940, VI) (Ser. L.o. N. P. 1940, VI.A.1) (133 pp.)	6/-	
The Mandates System : Origin — Principles — Application.	0/-	1,50
(Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.VI.A.1) (120 pp.)	4/-	1.00
Political Questions (VII).		
Report of M. Carl Burckhardt, High Commissioner of the League of Nations at Danzig. (C.42.M.38.1940.VII) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1940.VII.1) (16 pp.)	9d.	0.20
Communications and Transit (VIII).		
List of Multilateral Conventions, Agreements, etc., relating to Communications Questions. (C.53.M.53.1945.VIII) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.VIII.1) (38 pp.)	2/-	0.50
Transport Problems which arose from the War of 1914-1918 and the Work of Restoration undertaken in This Field by the League of Nations. (C.29(1).M.29(1).1944.VIII) (Ser.		
L.o.N. P. 1945.VIII.2) (52 pp.)	2/-	0.50
Reduction of Armaments (IX) .		
Armaments Year-Book, 1939/40. General and Statistical Information. (C.228.M.155.1939.IX) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1940.IX.I) (396 pp.)	15/-	3-75
Financial Administration of the League of Nation	s (X)	
Audited Accounts for the Twenty-first Financial Period (1939) and Report thereon by M. U. A. J. Brunskog, Auditor.		

- 104 -		
Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs (XI).	
Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Danger- ous Drugs. Report to the Council on the Work of the Twenty-fifth Session, held at Geneva from May 13th to 17th, 1940. (C.125_M.114.1940.XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P.		•
1940.XI.3) (29 pp.) Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs. Minutes of the Twenty-fifth Session, held at Geneva from May 13th to 17th, 1940. (C.162.M.147.	1/6	0.40
1940. XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1941. XI.1) (So pp.) Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Danger- ous Drugs. Revised List, drawn up by the Sub- Committee of Experts, of Drugs, Preparations and Propristary Medicines coming under the Hague (1972) and Geneva (1922) Opium Conventions and the Limita- tion Convention (Geneva, 1941). (C.348.M.50.1030.)	2/6	0.60
XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1940.XI.1)* (149 pp.) Advisory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs; Annual Reports of Governments on the Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs for the Year 1938; I. Analytical Study; II. Synoptic Statistical Tables. (C.124.M.13.1940.XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P.	5/-	1.25
1440-XI.2) (65 pp.) Advisory Committee on Traffic in Optum and Other Dangerous Drugs. Annual Reports of Governments on the Traffic in Optum and Other Dangerous Drugs for the Year 1939 i. I. Analytical Study; II. Synoptic Statistical Tables (, C, 6, M, 7, 1044, XI) (Ser. Lo.N, P. 1044.	2/6	0,60
XL.1) (63 pp.) † Advirory Committee on Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs, Analytical Study of Annual Reports by Governments on the Traffic in Opium and Other Dangerous Drugs for the Year 1946. (C.117.M.117.1945.XI) (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1945.XI.2)	3/6	0.75
Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs, Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in 1940. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under Article 5. (C.379.May2.1939,XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1939. XI.0) (579 pp. and Annex).	2/6	0,60
Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs, Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in 1941. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under Article 5. (C.153.M.141.1940.XI) (Ser. L.O.N. P. 1940.		
XI.4) (55 pp.)	2/6	0,60

Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs.	S1.	٠
Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in		
1942. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under		
Article 5. (C.61.M.58.1941.XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1941.		
XI.2) (38 pp.)	1/6	0.40
Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs.		
Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in		
1943. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under		
Article 5. (C.82,M.82,1942,XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.		
XI.2) (45 pp.)	1/6	0.40
Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture		
and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs.		
Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in		
1944. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under		
Article 5. (C.29.M.29.1943.XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943.		
XI,1) (46 pp.)	1/6	0.40
Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs.		
Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in		
1945. Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under		
Article 5. (C.33.M.33.1944.XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944.		
XI.3) (46 pp.)	1/6	0.40
† Convention of July 13th, 1931, for limiting the Manufac-	.,	
ture and regulating the Distribution of Narcotic Drugs.		
Estimated World Requirements of Dangerous Drugs in 1946.		
Statement issued by the Supervisory Body under		
Article 5.		
Permanent Central Opium Board. Report to the Council on		
the Statistics of Narcotics for the Year 1939 and the Work of the Board during 1940. Issued in compliance		
with the terms of the Geneva Opium Convention, signed		
on February 19th, 1925, and the Convention for		
limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribu-		
tion of Narcotic Drugs, signed at Geneva on July 13th.		
1931, (C.157,M.143,1940,XI) (Ser. L.o.N, P. 1940,XI,5)		
(51 pp.)	2/-	0.50
Permanent Central Opium Board. Report to the Council on		
the Statistics of Narcotics for the Year 1940 and the		
Work of the Board during 1941. Issued in compliance		
with the terms of the Geneva Opium Convention, signed		
on February 19th, 1925, and the Convention for limiting the Manufacture and regulating the Distribu-		
tion of Narcotic Drugs, signed at Geneva on July 13th,		
1931. (C.62,M.59,1941,XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1941,XI.3)		
(47 pp.)	2/	0.50
† In recognition		

Permanent Central Opium Board. Pre-war Production and

(C - M - - - - XT) (C - T - N D - - - XT -) (- - - -)

84.

od 0.20

64.

(C.24.M.24.1944, XI) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1944, XI.1) (32 pp.)	2/-	0.50
Permanent Gentral Option Beard, Report to the Cassell and Measures to Re-relabilish the Castered of Dangeon Drugs in Liberated and Occupied Countries. Issued in compliance with the terms of the Geneva Option Convention, signed one l'éventral yells, 1925, and the Convention, signed one l'éventral yells, 1925, and the Convention of Naroetic Drugs, signed at Geneva on July 13th, 1931. (C.1.4M.1.1.1944.XI) (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1944.XI.) (2 pp.)	6d.	0.10
Permanent Central Opinso Board. Report to the Consoil on the Was A the Based issued in compliance with the terms of the Geneva Opinm Convention, signed on Fe- teralay eigh. 1935, and the Convention for limiting Narcotic Drugs, signed at Geneva on July 13th, 1931. (C.84,M.84,1195.51) (Set. Lo.N. P. 1943.N.11) [931. International Assistance to Relugees (XII.B.	out.	0.15
International Assistance to Refugees. Report submitted by Sir Herbert Emerson, G.C.I.E., K.C.S.I., C.B.E., High Commissioner for Refugees. (C.7M.7.1941-XII) (Ser. Lo.N. P. 1941.XIII.31) (11 pp.).	9al.	0.20
International Assistance to Refugees. Report submitted by Sir Herbert Emerson, G.C.I.E., K.C.S.I., C.B.E., High Commissioner for Refugees. (C.25.M.25.1942.XII) [Ser. L.O.N. P. 1942.XII.B.1] (22 pp.).	1/-	0.25
International Assistance to Refugees. Report submitted by Sir Herbert Emerson, G.C.I.E., K.C.S.I., C.B.E., High Commissioner for Refugees, (C.19.M.19.1943, XII) [Ser. L.o.N. P. 1943, XII.B.I] [11 pp.].	9ď.	0,20
International Assistance to Refugees. Report submitted by Sir Herbert Emerson, G.C.I.E., K.C.S.I., C.B.E., High Commissioner for Refugees. (C.23,M.23,1944,XII) (Ser.		

L.o.N. P. 1944.XII.B.1) (11 pp.)

International Assistance to Refugees, Report submitted by Sir Herbert Emerson, G.C.I.E., K.C.S.I., C.B.E., High Commissioner for Refugees. (C.79.M.79.1945.XII) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.XII.B.1) (8 pp.)

1/- 0.25

0.50

0.50

0.50

5.00

General Ouestions.

Brief Statement on the Activities of the League of Nations and its Organs in 1940 and 1941, submitted by the Acting Secretary-General, (C.41.M.38.1941) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1941.1) [32 pp.).

submitted by the Acting Secretary-General. (C.35.M.35. 1942) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1942.1) (94 pp.).

Report on the Work of the League of Nations, 1942-1943, submitted by the Acting Secretary General. (C. or. M. or. 1942).

Report on the Work of the League during the War, submitted to the Assembly by the Acting Secretary-General. (A.6.1946) (Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.2) (167 pp.) 2/- 0.5

SUBSCRIPTIONS

The only periodical publications at present supplied on subscription terms are :

Monthly Bulletin of Statistics.

Monthly Bulletin of Statistics.

Annual subscription, 12 numbers (bilingual edition)

post free 201-

Weekly Epidemiological Record.

Annual subscription, 52 numbers (bilingual edition)

Annual subscription, 52 numbers (bilingual edition)
post free 25/- 6.

Monthly List of Selected Articles.

sthly List of Selected Articles.

Annual subscription (bilingual edition) . post free 20/- 5.00

RIODICAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS

TREATY SERIES

Treatles and International Representation registered with the Secretaries of the Lebrue at Nations.

the terms of Article 18 of the vicement of the Leanue of Nations:

27 the 460.564

"every make or international engagement entered into hereafter by any Member of the League shall be forthwith registered with the Sorretariat and shall as soon as possible he published by it. No such treaty or interactional engagement shall be budger putil so registered." The publication of the Trenty Series fulfils this provision of the Coverent. 15/-48.75 Single volumes. Sportal prior for any series of 12 conservitys, columns

alread; published. MONTHLY BULLETIN OF STATISTICS

a synonsis giving the most recent information concerning the economic position of more than lifty countries.

This information is received each month direct, in many ones by cabbs, from all paris of the world. Annual subscription (post-free) \$1 \$5.00 179 50.46 Single number

RULLETIN OF THE HEALTH ORGANISATION

This publication was becausin 1900 to enable medical men, public officials, health workers and luboratory workers to prosture readily the material brought together by the Health Organisation of the League, material till then systemed is a large number of publications not easily accomible to the public.

The price of single numbers varies from 236 to 60 a + \$0.65 to 41.50

WEEKLY EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RECORD

Intended manufactor national and port health authorities, whom it informs of the outbreak and progress of epidemies of plague, cholera, smallpox, etc., so that they can take the processics and contine measures.

Annual subscription (post-free: 21 fa. 64 Single number. 149.15

MONTHLY LIST OF SELECTED ARTICLES

A current bibliography of recent articles of interest to research workers in fields of economies, singues and communications and to all who are concerned b the political, legal and social questions of the day Indexed from about 1,000 of the most important perfedicule published in parts of the world

k1 25,00

TEIST OF MULTILATERAL COMMUNICATIONS AGREEMENTS, ETC.,

RELATING TO COMMUNICATIONS OUESTIONS

Ser. Lo. N. P. 1946-1911 IS

an prigra.	 \$11,111

The purpose of the pyromit discount is to give a comprehensive survey of multilateral international obligations in the field of communications. It emptitutes, as it were, an inventory of these very numerous obligations. A considerable number of the instruments dealt with were concluded under the suspects of the

Learne of Nations itself. The various instruments listed are classified according to the pain topics with which they deal. In the case of each instrument, the list indicates its title, place and date of conclusion, date of outry into force, the contracting States,

and, lastly, one or two publications in which its text is to be found. To make the document more complete retrosportively, an Annex is appeared. commercing all clauses relating to communications in the Treaties of Processing paradialed at the end of the first world was

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL COMMITTEES Report to the Council on the Work of the Joint Session (Louvier,

April 27th-May 1st,	1942; I	rinceton,	N. J	٠,	Angusi	7th 86
Ser. Lo.N. 1. 1942-11 A.4	23 proper				. 1/-	\$0.0

			N. Y. A						().0	30iiii	Dr sero
Report	to	the	Council	611	the	Work	n.i	tio	1943	Jains	Seculo

D	- 0	 Council	 d.	Wast	 dia	10/5	Inint	Manufact.
		1944.FLA					4/9	(90,34)

(Princeton, N. J., April					
(Ser. L.o.N. P. 1945.II.A.6) 5	pages			sa,	\$0,15

Comn	ercial	Poli	ey i	n the	Post-war	Work	ı.	Re	por	t b	yι	he Eco	omic
a	nd Fi	nanc	ial (Comm	ittees (P	rincete	on	N	J	, 3	ply	1945)	
684	c. Lo.	N.P.	1915	JLA.7	124 pages							ãi.	\$1.25

LEAGUE OF NATIONS PURLICATIONS DEPARTMENT CEXEVA

